
 

1 
 

Meeting: Transportation Policy Alternatives Committee (TPAC) 
Date: Friday, July 7, 2023 
Time: 9:00 a.m. to 12:00 p.m. 
Place: Virtual meeting held via Zoom 
   Connect with Zoom  

Passcode:  665293 
  Phone: 877-853-5257 (Toll Free) 
9:00 a.m. Call meeting to order, declaration of quorum and introductions  Chair Kloster  
   
9:10 a.m. Comments from the Chair and Committee Members 

• Updates from committee members around the Region (all) 
• Monthly MTIP Amendments Update (Ken Lobeck)  
• Fatal crashes update (Chair Kloster) 
• 2023 RTP: Public Review Draft RTP (Kim Ellis) 

 
9:20 a.m. Public communications on agenda items   
 
9:25 a.m. Consideration of TPAC minutes, June 2, 2023 (action item) delayed Chair Kloster 
 Minutes from June 2, 2023 TPAC meeting will be provided at August 4 meeting 
 
9:30 a.m. 2024-2027 Metropolitan Transportation Improvement Program Grace Cho, Metro 
 (MTIP) Adoption Draft (action item, Recommendation to JPACT)     
 Purpose: To request TPAC recommend to JPACT adoption of the 2024-2027  
 Metropolitan Transportation Improvement Program (MTIP). 
 
10:00 a.m. 2027-30 Statewide Transportation Improvement Program (STIP) Chris Ford, ODOT 
 Revenues and Investment Priorities Discussion     
 Purpose: To provide TPAC an overview of the development process for the  
 2027-2030 Statewide Transportation Improvement Program (STIP) and  
 begin to engage in discussion on transportation priorities to inform the  
 allocation of forecasted revenues for fiscal years 2028 through 2030 to  
 ODOT funding programs. 
  
10:45 a.m. 2023 Regional Transportation Plan (RTP): Overview of Fall adoption  Kim Ellis, Metro 
 Package and discussion of draft Chapter 8     John Mermin, Metro  
 Purpose: Begin discussion of Chapter 8 and identify topics for further 
 TPAC discussion at upcoming meetings.   
   
11:45 a.m. Committee comments on creating a safe space at TPAC   Chair Kloster 
         
11:50 a.m. Adjournment        Chair Kloster  
      

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88114336477?pwd=NUEvbmI5OXp3b25VOVFMUEMwVy90QT09




1  

2023 TPAC Work Program 
As of 6/30/2023 

NOTE: Items in italics are tentative; bold denotes required items 
All meetings are scheduled from 9am - noon 

 
TPAC meeting, July 7, 2023 
Comments from the Chair: 

• Committee member updates around the Region 
(Chair Kloster & all) 

• Monthly MTIP Amendments Update (Ken 
Lobeck) 

• Fatal crashes update (Chair Kloster) 
• 2023 RTP: Public Review Draft RTP (Kim Ellis) 

 
Agenda Items: 

• 2024-2027 MTIP – Adoption Draft 
Recommendation to JPACT (Grace Cho, Metro, 30 
min) 

• 2027-30 Statewide Transportation Improvement 
Program (STIP) Revenues and Investment Priorities 
Discussion (Chris Ford, ODOT, 45 min) 

• 2023 RTP: Overview of Fall adoption package 
and discussion of draft Chapter 8 
(Implementation) (Kim Ellis and John Mermin, 
Metro, 60 min) 

• Committee Wufoo reports on Creating a Safe 
Space at TPAC (Chair Kloster; 5 min) 

TPAC workshop, July 12, 2023  
  
   Comments from the Chair: 

• ODOT Great Streets, Statewide Carbon Reduction 
Program, and Innovative Mobility Pilot funding 
allocation programs (Chris Ford) 
 

Agenda Items: 
• 2023 RTP: Regional Mobility Policy 

TDM/TSMO System Completeness Measures 
and Implementation (Kim Ellis and Grace 
Stainback, Metro, and Kate Bridges, Steer, 90 
minutes)  

• Draft Transportation System Management & 
Operations (TSMO) System Completeness and 
Key Corridors (Caleb Winter, 60 minutes) 
 

TPAC meeting, August 4, 2023 
Comments from the Chair: 

• Committee member updates around the Region 
(Chair Kloster & all) 

• Monthly MTIP Amendments Update (Ken 
Lobeck) 

• Fatal crashes update (Lake McTighe) 
 

Agenda Items: 
• 2023 RTP: Regional Mobility Policy Measures (Kim 

Ellis, Metro, 45 min) 
• 2023 RTP: Update on Regional Mobility Policy 

Throughway Reliability Measure (Kim Ellis and 
Metro Research Center staff, Metro, 45 minutes)  

• 2023 RTP: Chapter 8 (Implementation) (Kim Ellis, 
Metro, 45 min) 

• Committee Wufoo reports on Creating a Safe 
Space at TPAC (Chair Kloster; 5 min) 

MTAC/TPAC joint workshop, 
August 16, 2023  
 
Agenda Items: 

• Construction Career Pathways Overview and 
Update (Sebrina Owens-Wilson & Andre 
Bealer, Metro, 45 min.) 

• 2023 RTP: Begin discussion of public 
comments on Public Review Draft RTP, Project 
List and Appendices (Kim Ellis, 60 min) 

• 2023 RTP: TBD topic, if needed (Kim Ellis, 45 
min) 

 
 



2  

TPAC meeting, September 1, 2023 
Comments from the Chair: 

• Committee member updates around the Region 
(Chair Kloster & all) 

• Monthly MTIP Amendments Update (Ken 
Lobeck) 

• Fatal crashes update (Lake McTighe) 
 

Agenda Items: 
• MTIP Formal Amendment 23-XXXX 

                  Recommendation to JPACT (Lobeck, 10 min) 
• 2023 RTP: Draft Legislation and Overview of Public 

Comments Received and Draft Recommended 
Actions in Response to Public Comment (Kim Ellis, 
Metro; 30 min) 

• Better Bus Call for Projects (Alex Oreschak, Metro/ 
Cara Belcher, TriMet; 30 min) 

• TV Highway Transit and Development Project 
Update (Jessica Zdeb, 45 min) 

• Freight Commodity Study: Draft Findings (Tim 
Collins, Metro, 30 min) 

• Great Streets Program updates: Final project list 
(Chris Ford, ODOT; 30 min) 

• Committee Wufoo reports on Creating a Safe 
Space at TPAC (Chair Kloster; 5 min) 

TPAC workshop, September 13, 2023  
 

Agenda Items: 
• 2023 RTP: Draft Public Comment Report and 

Recommended Actions in Response to Public 
Comment (Kim Ellis, 90 min) 
 

TPAC meeting, October 6, 2023 
Comments from the Chair: 

• Committee member updates around the Region 
(Chair Kloster & all) 

• Monthly MTIP Amendments Update (Ken 
Lobeck) 

• Fatal crashes update (Lake McTighe) 
 

Agenda Items: 
• MTIP Formal Amendment 23-XXXX 

                  Recommendation to JPACT (Lobeck, 10 min) 
• Ordinance 23-1496 2023 RTP: Draft Public 

Comment Report and Recommended Actions in 
Response to Public Comment (Kim Ellis, Metro, 90 
min) 

• 2023 High Capacity Transit Strategy (Resolution 
No. 23-5348) Discussion (Ally Holmqvist, Metro; 
45 min) 

• 82nd Avenue Transit Project Update (Elizabeth 
Mros-O’Hara/ TriMet TBD; 45 min) 

• Committee Wufoo reports on Creating a Safe 
Space at TPAC (Chair Kloster; 5 min) 

 

 



3  

TPAC meeting, November 3, 2023 
Comments from the Chair: 

• Committee member updates around the Region 
(Chair Kloster & all) 

• Monthly MTIP Amendments Update (Ken 
Lobeck) 

• Fatal crashes update (Lake McTighe) 
 

Agenda Items: 
• MTIP Formal Amendment 23-XXXX 

                  Recommendation to JPACT (Lobeck, 10 min) 
• Ordinance 23-1496 on 2023 RTP, Projects and 

Appendices Recommendation to JPACT (Kim Ellis, 
Metro, 90 min) 

• 2023 High Capacity Transit Strategy 
(Resolution No. 23-5348) Recommendation to 
JPACT (Ally Holmqvist, Metro; 45 min) 

• Committee Wufoo reports on Creating a Safe 
Space at TPAC (Chair Kloster; 5 min) 

TPAC workshop, November 8, 2023  
 

Agenda Items: 
• Regional Transportation Safety Performance 

Report (Lake McTighe, 30 min) 
• 2027-30 STIP – options being discussed at OTC 

(Chris Ford, ODOT; 30 min) 
• Freight Delay Study Report Update (Tim 

Collins; 45 min) 
 

TPAC meeting, December 1, 2023 
Comments from the Chair: 

• Committee member updates around the Region 
(Chair Kloster & all) 

• Monthly MTIP Amendments Update (Ken 
Lobeck) 

• Fatal crashes update (Lake McTighe) 
 

Agenda Items: 
• MTIP Formal Amendment 23-XXXX 

                  Recommendation to JPACT (Lobeck, 10 min) 
• Westside Multimodal Improvements Study (Kate 

Hawkins, Metro/ Stephanie Millar, ODOT; 45 min) 
• Committee Wufoo reports on Creating a Safe 

Space at TPAC (Chair Kloster; 5 min) 

 

 
Parking Lot: Future Topics/Periodic Updates 

 
• Columbia Connects Project 
• 82nd Avenue Transit Project update (Elizabeth 

Mros-O’Hara & TBD, City of Portland) 
• Best Practices and Data to Support 

Natural Resources Protection 
• TV Highway Corridor plan updates 
• High Speed Rails updates (Ally Holmqvist) 

 

• MTIP Formal Amendment I-5 Rose Quarter 
discussion (Ken Lobeck) 

• I-5 Rose Quarter Project Briefing (Megan 
Channell, ODOT) 

• I-5 Interstate Bridge Replacement program 
update 

• Ride Connection Program Report (Julie Wilcke) 
• Get There Oregon Program Update (Marne Duke) 
• RTO Updates (Dan Kaempff) 

 
 

Agenda and schedule information E-mail: marie.miller@oregonmetro.gov or call 503-797-1766. 
To check on closure or cancellations during inclement weather please call 503-797-1700. 

mailto:marie.miller@oregonmetro.gov


 
  

1 

Date: June 29, 2023 

To: TPAC and Interested Parties 

From: Ken Lobeck, Funding Programs Lead 

Subject: TPAC Metropolitan Transportation Improvement Program (MTIP) Monthly Submitted 
Amendments (Late May 2023 through late June 2023)  

BACKGROUND 
 
Formal Amendments Approval Process: 
Formal/Full MTIP Amendments require approvals from Metro JPACT& Council, ODOT-Salem, and 
final approval from FHWA/FTA before they can be added to the MTIP and STIP.  After Metro 
Council approves the amendment bundle, final approval from FHWA and/or FTA can take 30 days 
or more from the Council approval date. This is due to the required review steps ODOT and 
FHWA/FTA must complete prior to the final approval for the amendment.  
 
Administrative Modifications Approval Process: 
Projects requiring only small administrative changes as approved by FHWA and FTA are completed 
via Administrative Modification bundles. Metro normally accomplishes one “Admin Mod” bundle 
per month. The approval process is far less complicated for Admin Mods. The list of allowable 
administrative changes is already approved by FHWA/FTA and are cited in the Approved 
Amendment Matrix.   As long as the administrative changes fall within the approved categories and 
parameters, Metro has approval authority to make the change and provide the updated project in 
the MTIP immediately. Approval for inclusion into the STIP requires approval from the ODOT. Final 
approval into the STIP usually takes between 2-3 weeks to occur depending on the number of 
submitted admin mods in the approval queue.     
 
 
 
 
 
 



      MONTHLY SUBMITTED AMENDMENTS                         FROM: KEN LOBECK     JUNE 29, 2023 
 

2 

MTIP Formal Amendments 
 

June FFY 2023 Formal Transition Amendment Bundle Contents 
Amendment Type: Formal/Full 

Amendment #: JN23-10-JUN 
Total Number of Projects: 4 

Key 
Number & 

MTIP ID 

Lead 
Agency Project Name Project Description Amendment Action 

(#1) 
ODOT 
Key # 
23462 

MTIP ID 
TBD 

(New 
Project) 

Beaverton 
School 
District 

Beaverton School 
District EV 
Chargers 

Purchase and install electric 
wall mount chargers. 

ADD NEW PROJECT: 
Add new Oregon 
Department of 
Environmental Quality 
(DEQ) CMAQ awarded 
project to install up to 
22 new EV charging 
stations 

(#2) 
ODOT 
Key # 
23463 

MTIP ID 
TBD 

(New 
Project) 

TriMet 
TriMet Transit 
Center EV 
Chargers 

Purchase and install electric 
chargers at Powell bus 
garage and Beaverton 
Transit Center. 

ADD NEW PROJECT: 
Purchase and install up 
to 12 - DC level 3 
charging equipment at 
TriMet’s Powell Bus 
Garage, and 2 
opportunity fast 
chargers in the layover 
area of Beaverton 
Transit Center 

(#3) 
ODOT 
Key # 
23456 

MTIP ID 
TBD 

(New 
Project) 

ODOT 
(and 

WSDOT) 

IBR Hayden 
Island Ground 
Improvement 
Study 

Implement study to help 
mitigate seismic risks by 
assessing soil stabilization 
techniques including solid 
mixing, compaction 
grouting, jet grouting and 
the use of stone columns to 
minimize soil liquefaction 
during the preliminary 
engineering stage of the 
project 

ADD NEW PROJECT: 
Add new USDOT Bridge 
Improvement Program 
(BIP) discretionary 
awarded study to ODOT 
in support of the I-5 
Interstate Bridge 
Replacement project 

(#4) 
ODOT 
Key # 
21621 

MTIP ID 
71175 

Clackamas 
County 

S Redland Rd: 
OR213 - 
Springwater Rd 
(Clackamas 
County) 

Install high friction surface 
treatment (HFST), signs and 
edge line/fog line markings 
on curves to improve driver 
control in this area. 

CANCEL PROJECT: 
Cancel and remove 
project from the 2021-
24 MTIP 

Notes:  
Approval Status for the May FFY 2023 Formal MTIP Amendment, MY23-09-MAY: 

- TPAC approval date: June 2, 2023 
- JPACT approval date:  June 15, 2023 
- Metro Council approval request: Scheduled for Thursday, July 13, 2023. 

 



      MONTHLY SUBMITTED AMENDMENTS                         FROM: KEN LOBECK     JUNE 29, 2023 
 

3 

Administrative Modifications 
AM23-17-MAY4 

(May 2023 Admin Mod #4) 

Key Lead 
Agency 

Name Change 

21597 ODOT 
US26: Glencoe Rd - 
Cornelius Pass Rd 

MINOR SCOPE CHANGE: 
Expand scope to include culvert repairs as part of the 
project. Cost is minor at $111k and is considered overall 
as a minor scope change to the project. 

20813 Portland 
NE Halsey Street 
Bike/Ped/Transit 
Improvements 

COST INCREASE: 
Add new FFY 2023 CDS project award of $1 million plus 
10.27% match to the construction phase and update 
prior obligated phases. Cost change results in a 14.46% 
increase to the project 

 
AM23-18-JUN1 

(June 2023 Amin Mod #1) 

Key Lead 
Agency 

Name Change 

22674 Lane COG 

Electronic 
Transportation 
Improvement 
Program Service 
FY22 

SPLIT PROJECT/CREATE CHILD PROJECT: 
Split annual eTIP from Lane COG 22674 to include 
Metro contribution and keep under same Key code 

21178 ODOT 
US26 (Powell Blvd): 
SE 99th - East City 
Limits 

FUND SWAP: 
Change STBG-U to be State STBG. Update phase 
obligations 

22609 ODOT 

OR8: East Lane 
(Cornelius) 
OR8@ East Lane 
(Cornelius) 

FUND SWAP 
Change AC to CDS earmark to be under Y928. 
 

21255 ODOT 
US26/OR213 Curb 
Ramps 
US26 Curb Ramps 

COST INCREASE 
Add funds to PE, ROW, and Other phases. Adjust 
locations in PGB. Slip Other to 24 
 

 
AM23-19-JUN2 

(June 2023 Admin Mod #2) 

Key 
Lead 

Agency 
Name Change 

20522 ODOT 
US30BY at Bridge 
Ave East ramp 

FUND SHIFT: 
Shift Cons funds to PE to address PE shortfall 

22181 TriMet 
TriMet Bus and Rail 
Preventive 
Maintenance (2023) 

ADD FUNDS: 
Update 5337 funding based on revised UZA 
apportionment 
 

21177 ODOT 
OR213 (82nd Ave): 
SE Foster Rd - SE 
Thompson Rd 

COST INCREASE: 
Increase construction phase funding due to updated 
phase cost impacted by inflation/market conditions 

21601 ODOT 

Portland Metro and 
Surrounding Areas 
Variable Message 
Signs 

ADVANCE PHASE: 
Advance PE phase to FFY 2023 enabling the phase to 
obligate before the end of FFY 2023 

 



oregonmetro.gov/rtp

July 2023

How people get around shapes 
their communities and everyday 
lives. The economic prosperity 
and quality of life in greater 
Portland depend on a 
transportation system that 
provides every person and 
business with access to safe, 
reliable and affordable ways to 
get around. 

Your voice is important
The Metro Council and other 
decision-makers want to hear 
from you. From July 10 through 
Aug. 25, 2023, provide your 
feedback on the 2023 Regional 
Transportation Plan and High 
Capacity Transit Strategy. 

2023 Regional Transportation Plan

The Regional Transportation 
Plan is a blueprint that guides 
investments in for all forms of 
travel – driving, transit, biking 
and walking – and the 
movement of goods and services 
throughout the greater Portland 
region. This update to the plan 

defines how the region will 
create a safe, reliable and 
affordable transportation 
system today through 2045.

During this comment period, the 
Metro Council will ask for public 
review and comment on the 
draft policies in the 2023 
Regional Transportation Plan, 
draft strategy for high capacity 
transit and the projects 
recommended by transportation 
agencies to address the region’s 
significant and growing 
transportation needs.

High Capacity Transit Strategy 

High capacity transit is public 
transportation that moves a lot 
of people quickly and often, such 
as light rail or bus rapid transit. 

The purpose of the High 
Capacity Transit Strategy is to 
provide a coordinated vision and 
a set of policies to make transit 
service faster and more reliable 
for more people in the greater 
Portland region. 

Public comment opportunity - July 10 to Aug. 25, 2023 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan 
Your input will help guide decision-makers as they work together to finalize the policies,  
strategies and projects that will shape Greater Portland’s transportation system through 2045.  

 
Share your thoughts
There are a variety of ways to comment.

Take the online survey or use the 
online comment form  
oregonmetro.gov/rtp

Write a letter  
Metro Planning  
600 NE Grand Ave Portland,  97232

Email  
transportation@ oregonmetro.gov

Call 
503-797-1750

503-797-1804 TDD

Comment at a Metro Council 
public hearing

10:30 a.m. on July 27 or Sept. 28, 2023

Metro Council meets in person at 
Metro Regional Center, 600 NE 
Grand Ave., Portland, 97232 and 
online via Zoom. 

Visit www.oregonmetro.gov/council.

To request language or other 
accomodations contact: 
transportation@ oregonmetro.gov 
503-797-1750

https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/2023-regional-transportation-plan
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/2023-regional-transportation-plan
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/2023-regional-transportation-plan/transit
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/2023-regional-transportation-plan/transit
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/2023-regional-transportation-plan
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/regional-leadership/metro-council


 

Date: Friday, June 30, 2023 
To: Transportation Policy Alternatives Committee and Interested Parties 
From: Grace Cho, Senior Transportation Planner 
Subject: 2024-2027 MTIP Adoption Draft 
 
Purpose & Request 
Request TPAC recommend to JPACT to approve and submit the 2024-2027 MTIP adoption draft to 
Metro Council for adoption. 
 
Background 
As part of Metro’s responsibilities as the metropolitan planning organization for the Portland 
region, the agency must develop a schedule of regionally significant transportation expenditures for 
the upcoming federal fiscal years, known as the metropolitan transportation improvement program 
(MTIP). In the development of the MTIP, the document must demonstrate how the MTIP as a 
package of investments complies with federal requirements, implements the Regional 
Transportation Plan (RTP), and outline the procedures for administering the MTIP once adopted.  
 
2024-2027 MTIP – Adoption Draft 
The 2024-2027 MTIP adoption draft is the short-term investment strategy to implement the 
region’s vision for the transportation system and demonstrates compliance with federal 
regulations. The 2024-2027 MTIP includes several disparate funding allocation processes led by 
Metro, ODOT, SMART, and TriMet as the four entities in the region with allocation authority for 
federal transportation funding. These funding allocation processes were brought to TPAC and 
JPACT at different stages in their process. The 2024-2027 MTIP adoption draft reflects the 
collective outcomes of those allocation and decision processes and the balancing of regional, state, 
local, and agency priorities and objectives. 
 
The 2024-2027 MTIP includes a little over $1.3 billion dollars of investment over 130 projects. Just 
under half (47%) of the investment profile are maintenance and preservation projects. Capital 
investments (40%), planning (4%), and system management and operations (8%) make up the 
remainder. Around 78% of the 2024-2027 MTIP is made up of federal dollars where the remaining 
22% is local match.  
 
The 2024-2027 MTIP is scheduled to become operational on October 1, 2023, the beginning of 
federal fiscal year 2024. To do so, the 2024-2027 MTIP must be adopted and submitted to the 
Governor for inclusion in the 2024-2027 State Transportation Improvement Program (STIP) by 
summer 2023. The 2024-2027 STIP will be submitted to federal agencies requesting approval prior 
to the start of the federal fiscal year.  
 
Attached to this memorandum is Resolution 23-5335 whose exhibits include the 2024-2027 MTIP 
and appendices, and the draft staff report. For easier access, the 2024-2027 MTIP adoption draft 
can be found at: https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/2024-27-metropolitan-
transportation-improvement-program 
 
TPAC and JPACT Feedback on the 2024-2027 MTIP Adoption Draft 
In June 2023, Metro staff provided an overview of the 2024-2027 MTIP adoption draft at TPAC and 
JPACT meetings. The overview outlined a summary of the 2024-2027 MTIP investment profile, 
highlighted several notable projects, and discussed the outcome of the public comment period. At 
the TPAC meeting, members of TPAC felt comfortable with the 2024-2027 MTIP adoption draft and 

https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/2024-27-metropolitan-transportation-improvement-program
https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/2024-27-metropolitan-transportation-improvement-program


2 
 

some members sought to recommend approval to JPACT at the June meeting. However, once TPAC 
members learned that advancing the recommendation to JPACT would not advance the adoption 
schedule, no further motion was made. At the JPACT meeting, members were comfortable with the 
2024-2027 MTIP, but had further follow up questions related to the MTIP public comment process. 
There were some other specific comments on wanting to see more investments in certain types of 
projects in future MTIPs. (Example, further investment into electrification.) 
 
No further modifications have been included based on these June committee discussions. Input and 
feedback received will help inform the development of the 2027-2030 MTIP, which will begin after 
adoption of the 2024-2027 MTIP.  
 
Next Steps 
The following timeline outlines the next steps for the 2024-2027 MTIP. 
 
Timeline 

Activity Timeline 
Request TPAC recommendation to JPACT July 7, 2023 
Request JPACT approval and recommendation for Metro Council adoption July 20, 2023 
Metro Council adoption July 20, 2023 
Submit 2024-2027 MTIP to Governor for inclusion in the 2024-2027 STIP Late Summer 2023 
Federal approval  Anticipated Fall 

2020 
 



   

Resolution No. 20-5110  1 
 

BEFORE THE METRO COUNCIL 
 
 

FOR THE PURPOSE OF ADOPTING THE 2024-
2027 METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION 
IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM FOR THE 
PORTLAND METROPOLITAN AREA 

) 
) 
) 
) 
 

 RESOLUTION NO. 23-5335 
 
Introduced by Chief Operating Officer 
Marissa Madrigal in concurrence with 
Council President Lynn Peterson 

  
 

 WHEREAS, the Portland metropolitan area Metropolitan Transportation Improvement Program 
(MTIP), which reports on the programming of all federal transportation funds to be spent in the region, 
must be periodically updated in compliance with federal regulations; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Metro Council and Joint Policy Advisory Committee on Transportation 
(JPACT) have proposed programming for federal fiscal years 2025-2027 through the regional flexible 
funds allocation process for a portion of the federal allocation of transportation funds to this region, as 
adopted by Metro Resolution 22-5284 and 21-5194; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Oregon Department of Transportation has proposed programming for federal 
fiscal years 2024-2027 of federal transportation funds for projects in the Portland metropolitan area 
through funding allocation processes they administer; and 
 

WHEREAS, the transit service providers TriMet and South Metropolitan Area Rapid Transit 
(SMART) have proposed programming of federal transit funds for federal fiscal years 2024-2027; and 
 

WHEREAS, the draft 2024-2027 MTIP for the Portland, Oregon metropolitan area, attached as 
Exhibit A, demonstrates compliance with all relevant federal regulations; and 
 

WHEREAS, the 2021-2024 Metropolitan Transportation Improvement Program is the second 
cycle to be undertaken under new federal performance-based programming requirements and 
demonstrates compliance and further progress towards achieving the federal performance targets; and  

 
WHEREAS, the proposed 2024-2027 MTIP is consistent with the 2018 Regional Transportation 

Plan, adopted by Metro Ordinance No. 18-1421; and  
 
WHEREAS, a public process has provided an opportunity to comment on the performance 

evaluation and programming of federal funds to specific projects in specific fiscal years and whether the 
programming meets all relevant laws and regulations; and 

 
WHEREAS, extensive public processes were used to select projects to receive federal 

transportation funds; and 
 
WHEREAS, on June __, 2023 TPAC recommended approval of this resolution and the 2024-

2027 Metropolitan Transportation Improvement Program; 
 

WHEREAS, on June __, 2023 JPACT recommended approval of this resolution and the 2024-
2027 Metropolitan Transportation Improvement Program; now therefore 

 
 BE IT RESOLVED that the Metro Council adopt the 2024-2027 Metropolitan Transportation 
Improvement Program for the Portland metropolitan area as shown in Exhibit A; and  



   

Resolution No. 20-5110  2 
 

 
 BE IT RESOLVED that projects in the existing 2021-2024 MTIP that do not complete obligation 
of funding prior to September 30, 2023 will be programmed into the 2024-2027 MTIP. 

 
 
ADOPTED by the Metro Council this___day of July 2023. 
 
 
 

 
Lynn Peterson, Council President 

 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 
       
Carrie MacLaren, Metro Attorney 



June 2023

oregonmetro.gov

Metropolitan Transportation 
Improvement Program

2024-2027 ADOPTION DRAFT

Exhibit A to Resolution 23-5335

https://www.oregonmetro.gov/sites/default/files/2023/06/26/MTIP-Adoption-Draft-2024-2027-rev0.pdf


2024-27 Metropolitan 
Transportation Improvement 
Program (MTIP)
June 2023

Appendices

oregonmetro.gov/mtip

Exhibit B to Resolution 23-5335

https://www.oregonmetro.gov/sites/default/files/2023/06/29/2024-27-MTIP-Appendices-I-VI-Adoption-draft-062923.pdf


1 
 

 
IN CONSIDERATION OF RESOLUTION NO. 23-5335, FOR THE PURPOSE OF 
ADOPTING THE 2024-2027 METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT 
PROGRAM FOR THE PORTLAND METROPOLITAN AREA 

              
 
Date: June 29, 2023 
Department: Planning, Development, and 
Research 
Meeting Date: July 15, 2023  
 
 

Prepared by: Grace Cho, 
grace.cho@oregonmetro.gov, 267-909-
3490 
Presenter: Grace Cho, she/her, Senior 
Transportation Planner 
Length: TBD 
 

              
 
ACTION REQUESTED 
Approval of the 2024-2027 Metropolitan Transportation Improvement Program (MTIP).  
 
IDENTIFIED POLICY OUTCOMES 
Advancement of the 2018 Regional Transportation Plan investment priorities of safety, 
climate emission reduction, social equity, and mobility. 
 
POLICY QUESTION(S) 
The 2024-2027 MTIP is a program implementation tool, not a policy document. It includes 
an investment profile and performance analysis of the progress expected toward the 2018 
Regional Transportation Plan’s priority policy outcomes of safety, climate, equity and 
mobility by the next four years of regionally significant transportation investments. The 
data contained in the MTIP may serve to inform JPACT and the Metro Council as they 
consider updating regional transportation policy through the 2023 Regional 
Transportation Plan process. It may also inform future MTIP program direction and input 
to future funding allocation decisions by transportation agencies in the region. 
 
POLICY OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL TO CONSIDER 
Approval of JPACT’s recommendation for Metro Council to adopt Resolution 23-5335, 
affirms the 2024-2027 MTIP meets federal transportation programming regulations and 
the package of transportation investments contained in the MTIP is consistent with the 
Regional Transportation Plan. 
 
If JPACT and the Metro Council elect to not act, transportation projects and programs 
scheduled to receive federal transportation funding or in need of a federal approval, will 
not be able to move forward starting in federal fiscal year 2024. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS 
Approve and recommend Metro Council adoption of Resolution 23-5335. 
 

mailto:grace.cho@oregonmetro.gov


2 
 

STRATEGIC CONTEXT & FRAMING COUNCIL DISCUSSION 
Approval of the 2024-2027 MTIP allow prior funding allocation decisions to move forward 
by affirming certain federal transportation fund programming regulations have been met 
and that the package of investments contained in the MTIP are consistent with the 2018 
Regional Transportation Plan. The prior funding allocation decisions include funding to 
projects and programs from the Metro led Regional Flexible Fund Allocation Process as 
well as allocation decisions made by the Oregon Department of Transportation and by the 
public transportation agencies TriMet and SMART through their annual budget processes. 
 
The investment profile and transportation system performance analysis of the 2024-2027 
MTIP indicate slight progress toward the transportation priorities of marginalized 
communities but much more work is needed to meet long-term goals for an equitable 
transportation system. Implementation of the projects and programs included in the 2024-
2027 MTIP will advance system safety and more complete active transportation facilities in 
equity focus areas where higher than regional average marginalized communities live.   
 
Due to the large percentage of investments in the 2024-2027 MTIP being directed to 
maintenance and preservation activities and the lack of any major-scale transportation 
projects, the current project investments contributions to reducing climate change related 
emissions is limited to smaller scale investments to build out the active transportation 
network. These are important elements to supporting access and trips by walking, rolling 
and public transit, but are not at a scale to be measured in a meaningful way by regional 
emission models. 
 
Input and feedback provided during the public comment opportunities were not as 
extensive as prior MTIP cycles, likely due to the lack of any major project in this cycle. 
Comments received did provide a consistent message indicating concern about the lack of 
progress and enough investment to reduce emissions contributing to climate change. 
 
Approval of the 2024-2027 MTIP will allow the funding allocation to transportation 
projects and programs that will advance Metro’s racial equity goals and reduce carbon 
emissions to proceed. This includes funding allocations needed to implement Metro-led 
transportation programs such as the Transit Oriented Development program, the Regional 
Travel Options program, and the Transportation Systems Management & Operations 
program through fiscal year 2028, a portion of which are included in the recently adopted 
FY 2024 Metro Budget. It will also allow funding to proceed for the Metro Transportation 
planning activities and new tools to better understand and advance Metro’s racial equity 
and climate policies. 
 
Legal Antecedents  
• ORDINANCE NO. 18-1421: FOR THE PURPOSE OF AMENDING THE 2014 REGIONAL 
TRANSPORTATION PLAN TO COMPLY WITH FEDERAL AND STATE LAW AND AMENDING 
THE REGIONAL FRAMEWORK PLAN 
• RESOLUTION NO. 22-5284 FOR THE PURPOSE OF ALLOCATING $152.8 MILLION OF 
REGIONAL FLEXIBLE FUNDING FOR THE YEARS 2025-2027, PENDING ADOPTION OF THE 
2024-2027 MTIP 



3 
 

 
• RESOLUTION NO. 21-5194 FOR THE PURPOSE OF ADOPTING THE 2025-2027 REGIONAL 
FLEXIBLE FUNDS PROGRAM DIRECTION FOR THE PORTLAND METROPOLITAN AREA 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
Metro, as the metropolitan planning organization (MPO) for the Portland metropolitan 
region, is responsible for development and administration of the Metropolitan 
Transportation Improvement Program (MTIP) as part of its federal responsibilities. The 
MTIP is an implementation vehicle for the Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) by tracking 
federal transportation funding expenditures and ensures federal eligibility rules and 
regulations are met. As part of the demonstrating compliance with federal transportation 
funding rules, an evaluation takes place to assess how planned transportation investment 
advance the Portland metropolitan region’s shared goals for the transportation system. 

A public review draft of the 2024-2027 MTIP was developed between January through 
March 2023. The public review draft includes the schedule of expenditures for regionally 
significant transportation projects for federal fiscal years 2024 through 2027. The public 
review draft also includes information on how the draft near-term investment package 
meets federal requirements such as fiscal constraint and the investment package 
performance to RTP goals. An executive summary provides a summary of the 2024-2027 
MTIP and its implementation of the Regional Transportation Plan. 
 
The 2024-2027 MTIP represents an estimate of approximately $1.3 billion dollars of 
investment over approximately 130 projects. 
 
In terms of performance, overall, the 2024-2027 MTIP makes minimal progress towards 
the 2018 RTP priorities of equity, safety, climate, and mobility. In some individual areas, 
the 2024-2027 MTIP investment package performs slightly better, but generally, the 
emphasis on preservation and maintenance as well as the limited number of capital 
investments primarily focused on community-oriented projects constrains the ability to 
have measurable regional-scale impacts across the transportation system. Further detail on 
the investment performance can be found in Chapter 3 of the 2024-2027 MTIP public 
review draft. 
 
None of the ODOT-led major projects (e.g. Interstate Bridge Replacement, I-5 Rose Quarter, 
Regional Mobility Pricing Project, I-205 expansion) under development are included in the 
2024-2027 MTIP at this time. For these projects to move forward to their next phase, a 
request to amend for inclusion in the 2024-2027 MTIP will need to be made and approved.  
 
In addition, for the first time since the mid-to-late 1990’s, the 2024-2027 MTIP does not 
include a high-capacity transit project. Similar to the other major projects, the two high-
capacity transit projects currently in project development – the Tualatin Valley Highway 
high-capacity transit project and the 82nd Avenue high-capacity transit projects – will need 
to request a formal amendment for inclusion in the 2024-2027 MTIP in the future.  



4 
 

 
All projects proposed for inclusion in the 2024-2027 MTIP are included in and consistent 
with the 2018 Regional Transportation Plan’s financially constrained project list or were 
determined to not be required. The performance analysis provided indicates the package of 
investments may be considered consistent with the Regional Transportation Plan policy of 
the priority investment outcomes regarding safety, climate, equity, and mobility. All 
additional federal programming requirements such as fiscal constraint and funding 
eligibility have also been checked by Metro MTIP staff and found to be met. 
 
A 30-day public comment for the 2024-2027 MTIP was held between Wednesday April 5th 
and Friday May 5th. A public hearing opportunity was held at the mid-point of the public 
comment period. Lastly, the public review draft of the 2024-2027 MTIP and the public 
comment survey were made available online.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 

1 
 

Date: Friday, June 30, 2023 
To: Transportation Policy Alternatives Committee and Interested Parties 
From: Grace Cho, Senior Transportation Planner  
  
Subject: 2027-2030 Metropolitan Transportation Improvement Program (MTIP) Development – 

ODOT 2027-2030 State Transportation Improvement Program (STIP) Revenue 
Discussion 

 
Purpose 
To provide TPAC members an overview of ODOT’s 2027-2030 State Transportation Improvement 
Program (STIP) development process, including the first step to allocate forecasted revenues to 
ODOT program categories. 
 
Introduction and Background 
As part of Metro’s responsibilities as the metropolitan planning organization (MPO) for the 
Portland region, the agency is responsible for the development and administration of the 
Metropolitan Transportation Improvement Program (MTIP). The MTIP is the four-year, near-term 
capital improvement plan-strategy for the metropolitan region. At the time of adoption, the MTIP 
outlines the schedule of regionally significant transportation expenditures in the upcoming four 
federal fiscal years.1 The near-term capital improvement plan also reflects and demonstrates how 
the region is working together to achieve the common goal of implementing the Regional 
Transportation Plan (RTP) and complying with applicable federal regulations to remain eligible for 
funding. 
 
The development of the MTIP is cooperative effort between the MPO, state department of 
transportation, and transit agencies since the adoption draft of the 2027-2030 MTIP will reflect the 
outcomes of multiple funding allocation processes conducted by the agencies. In efforts to keep 
regional partners informed throughout the process, MTIP partners – ODOT, SMART, and TriMet – 
will present at TPAC and JPACT throughout the MTIP development process to gather input and 
keep the region informed of their allocation processes. This is an established practice with TPAC 
through the presentations of the transit agency budget and programming of projects, as well as 
updates on specific ODOT funding programs of interest to the region. TPAC and JPACT already serve 
central roles in the Regional Flexible Fund Allocation (RFFA) process, which reflects the federal 
transportation funding allocated by Metro as the MPO. These various funding allocation processes 
occur on different schedules and usually modified with each MTIP cycle. 
 
2027-2030 Metropolitan Transportation Improvement Program (MTIP) – Financial Forecast 
To provide overarching context for the various funding allocations conducted by MTIP partners, 
Metro will establish a MTIP financial forecast for federal fiscal years 2027 through 2030. The 
financial forecast is a snapshot of the near-term financial outlook of federal and relevant state-local 
funds being administered by Metro, ODOT, TriMet and SMART for the Portland region. The MTIP 
financial forecast is not comprehensive and will be an estimate based on information known to that 

 
1 The MTIP includes some maintenance-related investments, such as federal transportation monies restricted 
for the use pavement maintenance activities on the interstate system and transit bus replacement. 



2 
 

date related to federal and certain state and local revenue streams. The revenue outlook serves 
multiple purposes, including:  

1) Provide context regarding the anticipated level of investment in the region’s transportation 
system over the next four federal fiscal years. 

2) Frame consideration of the priorities and tradeoffs in the allocation of funds by different 
fund administrators, including MPOs and State DOTs. 

3) Help demonstrate fiscal constraint over the course of the next four fiscal years.  
4) Help to monitor project delivery and implementing the MTIP.  

Metro anticipates bringing forward the 2027-2030 MTIP financial forecast in spring 2024. 
 
2027-2030 State Transportation Improvement Program (STIP) – Revenue Forecast and 
Priorities 
ODOT staff will provide an overview presentation on the 2027-2030 State Transportation 
Improvement Program (STIP) development process, outline the statewide picture for estimated 
revenues for the STIP, and discuss ODOT’s existing funding allocation categories framework. 
Following the presentation ODOT staff will be taking input regarding priorities areas for the 2027-
2030 STIP to emphasize and focus investments. This engagement is taking place across the State of 
Oregon to help inform discussions taking place with the Oregon Transportation Commission (OTC). 
The OTC is anticipated to take action to allocate revenues to the ODOT funding categories in 
November 2023, which will guide the next steps in the development of the 2027-2030 STIP and the 
forthcoming ODOT funding allocations.  
 
The outcome of the OTC has implications for the 2027-2030 MTIP financial forecast and ODOT 
funding allocation processes which will come to TPAC and JPACT throughout the 2027-2030 MTIP 
development. As noted, the outcomes of the funding allocation processes get reflected in the 2027-
2030 MTIP, which will seek a recommendation from TPAC, approval from JPACT, and adoption by 
Metro Council prior to submission to federal partners for approval.  
 
Requested Feedback 
ODOT staff requests the following input and feedback: 

• Given the policy direction in the Oregon Transportation Plan, the needs across the state’s 
transportation system, and funding limitations, what are the priorities for investment in the 
STIP? 



2027-2030 STIP Development

July 2023

1



Requested Feedback

2

Given the policy direction in the Oregon Transportation Plan, the 
needs across the state’s transportation system, and funding 
limitations, what are the priorities for investment in the STIP?



3

What is the STIP?

Capital Program Funds
Federal (FHWA & FTA) & State Funds

Construction Projects On State & Local Roads
Public & Active Transportation Programs & Projects

What is NOT in the STIP
State-Funded
Multimodal 

Grant 
Programs: 
STIF/CO

Maintaining & 
Operating State 

Highways

State Highway 
Fund to Cities & 

Counties

Revenue & 
Administrative 

Functions



2024 –
2027 STIP 
Program 
Funding 

Categories

4

FIX-IT
Projects that preserve or fix the state highway system– bridges, 

pavement, culverts, etc.
SAFETY

Projects focused on reducing fatal and serious injury crashes on 
Oregon’s roads

ENHANCE HIGHWAY
Highway projects that expand or enhance the state highway system

PUBLIC AND ACTIVE TRANSPORTATION
Bicycle, pedestrian, public transportation and transportation 

options projects & programs
LOCAL GOVERNMENT PROGRAMS

Funding to cities, counties, and others for priority projects
ADA CURB RAMPS

Construction of curb ramps to make sidewalks accessible for people 
experiencing a disability

OTHER FUNCTIONS
Workforce development, planning, data collection and other 

programs using federal money



‘27-’30 STIP 
Timeline

• OTC discussions and public outreach in May through 
November

• OTC approves funding allocation in November
• Project scoping and selection in 2024-2025
• Public comment/OTC approval in 2026

5



2027-2030 
STIP Outreach
•

•

•
•



Oregon Transportation Plan
Funding Scenarios



Funding Priority
Policy Direction:

Utilize the following 
considerations when 
setting priorities and 
making decisions to 
balance how needs are 
addressed across all 
tiers, emphasizing the 
top needs on down

 



OTP Funding Scenarios – focus areas

Maintenance

Critical assets, 
key corridors, and 
lifeline routes

Safety

Fatalities and 
serious injuries

Multimodal

Critical 
connections in 
high-need 
locations

Timely Investments

Transportation 
electrification



Cost and Funding Challenges



The ‘27-’30 STIP Will Be Limited 
in Purchasing Power

• Rising costs
• HB 2017 named projects will be 

nearing completion
• Federal infrastructure bill expires in 

2026
• State Highway Fund revenues are flat
• Funds shifted from the STIP to cover 

ODOT’s operations and maintenance 
shortfall

• ADA commitment
11



FHWA National Highway Construction Cost Index

1

1.2

1.4

1.6

1.8

2

2.2

2.4

2.6

2.8



Oregon Federal Highway Formula Funding

 $-

 $100,000,000

 $200,000,000

 $300,000,000

 $400,000,000

 $500,000,000

 $600,000,000

 $700,000,000

 $800,000,000

 $900,000,000

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030

Highway Formula Special Formula
13

IIJA ‘27-’30 STIP



Oregon Motor Fuels Tax Forecast Comparison
In millions of nominal dollars

14



Total Gross State Highway Fund Forecast
In millions of nominal and inflation adjusted dollars; April 2023 forecast

15



State Highway Fund Cash Balance



ADA Curb Ramp Program

• ODOT has a 
responsibility to make 
the system accessible 
to people experiencing 
disabilities

• Peak of program costs 
will be in 2027-2030 
STIP

17



Required Funding by Category in the ‘24-’27 
Draft STIP and ‘27-’30 Base STIP

18

 $-

 $200,000,000

 $400,000,000

 $600,000,000

 $800,000,000

 $1,000,000,000

Fix-It PAT ADA Enhance Safety Local Other Unallocated

24-27 Draft 27-30 Base



Requested Feedback

19

Given the policy direction in the Oregon Transportation Plan, the 
needs across the state’s transportation system, and funding 
limitations, what are the priorities for investment in the STIP?



 

 

 
 
Date: July 7, 2023 

To: Transportation Policy Alternatives Committee (TPAC) and interested parties 

From: Kim Ellis, RTP Project Manager 

Subject: 2023 Regional Transportation Plan – Schedule and Adoption Package 

PURPOSE 

Provide an overview of how the 2023 Regional Transportation Plan and 2023 High Capacity Transit 
Strategy will be adopted.  

BACKGROUND 
The greater Portland region’s economic prosperity and quality of life depend on a transportation 
system that provides every person and business in the region with equitable access to safe, reliable, 
healthy and affordable travel options. Through the 2023 RTP update, the Metro Council is working 
with leaders and communities throughout the region to plan the transportation system of the 
future by updating the region's shared transportation vision and investment strategy for the next 
22 years.  

Shown in Figure 1, the region is entering the final adoption phase for the 2023 Regional 
Transportation Plan (RTP) and 2023 High Capacity Transit (HCT) Strategy.  

 

A final 45-day public comment opportunity will begin on Monday, July 10 and end on Friday, 
August 25, 2023 at 5 PM. The Metro Council will hold a public hearing on July 27 as part of the 
comment period. Metro staff will formally consult with federally-recognized tribes and federal, 
state, regional and resource agencies. Comments may be also be submitted through an online 
survey, using an online comment form, and by email, letters, and phone. Following the comment 
period, Metro staff will prepare a Final Public Comment Report that includes survey results, online 
feedback and copies of all emails, letters, and transcriptions of voicemails received during the 
formal comment period as well as consultation meeting summaries and transcriptions of verbal 
testimony provided during the public hearing. 



2023 REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION PLAN – SCHEDULE AND ADOPTION PACKAGE 7/7/23 

 2 

Metro staff will propose recommended actions to respond to substantive public comments1 
received by August 4 for discussion by the Metro Technical Advisory Committee (MTAC) and the 
Transportation Policy Alternatives Committee (TPAC) at the joint workshop on August 16. The 
recommended actions will include amendments to the public review draft RTP and HCT Strategy, 
recommendations for no change with an explanation as to why no change is recommended, and 
recommendations for future work.  

Metro staff will propose additional recommended actions to respond to comments received 
between August 5 and 25 for consideration by MTAC and TPAC during regular committee meetings 
and workshops in September and October.  At their September meetings, MTAC and TPAC will be 
requested to identify topics for discussion by the Metro Policy Advisory Committee (MPAC) and the 
Joint Policy Advisory Committee on Transportation (JPACT) in September and October.  In addition, 
the Metro Council is scheduled to hold a legislative hearing on September 28 as part of the first read 
of the ordinance adopting the 2023 RTP. 

On October 25, MPAC will be asked to make a recommendation to the Metro Council on adoption of 
the 2023 RTP and 2023 HCT Strategy, including the recommended actions. On November 3, TPAC 
will be asked to make a recommendation to JPACT. On November 16, JPACT will be asked to 
consider TPAC’s recommendation and make a recommendation to the Metro Council on adoption of 
the 2023 RTP and 2023 HCT Strategy, including the recommended actions. On November 30, the 
Metro Council is scheduled to hold a final legislative hearing and consider final action on the 
recommendations from MPAC and JPACT. The 2023 RTP becomes effective immediately upon 
adoption by the Metro Council. In early 2024, the adopted plan and findings will be submitted to the 
Land Conservation and Development Commission (LCDC) and Department of Land Conservation 
and Development (DLCD) for review and acknowledgement of consistency with statewide planning 
goals and administrative rules.  

Adoption of the 2023 Regional Transportation Plan 

The RTP is a component of the Regional Framework Plan, which is a governing document for the 
greater Portland region that carries the force and effect of law. First adopted in 1997, the RFP 
identifies regional policies to implement the 2040 Growth Concept, including regional 
transportation.2 

 When the Metro Council adopts amendments to the RTP or other components of the Regional 
Framework Plan, it is adopting legislation that must be adopted by ordinance in order to create 
legally binding requirements on local governments in the region. The RTP will also be adopted as 
the federally-recognized metropolitan transportation plan for the region under federal law and the 
regional transportation system plan for the region under state law.  

The ordinance number, draft title and a list of proposed exhibits is provided for reference: 

Ordinance No. 23-1496 For the Purpose of Amending the 2023 Regional Transportation 
Plan to Comply With Federal and State Law (draft title) 

• Exhibit A – Public Review Draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan and 
Appendices. This exhibit includes the draft 2023 Regional Transportation Plan and 
appendices, including the financially constrained project list.  Amendments to the 
RTP document and appendices are documented in Exhibit C, but will not be 
incorporated in Exhibit A until after adoption by JPACT and the Metro Council. 

 
1 Substantive comments are comments that proposed specific changes or raise specific issues or concerns. 

2 https://www.oregonmetro.gov/regional-framework-plan 
 
 

https://www.oregonmetro.gov/regional-framework-plan


2023 REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION PLAN – SCHEDULE AND ADOPTION PACKAGE 7/7/23 

 3 

• Exhibit B – Regional Framework Plan Amendments. This exhibit amends the 
existing Chapter 2 of the Regional Framework Plan with the new goals and 
objectives included in Chapter 2 of the 2023 Regional Transportation Plan.  

• Exhibit C – Summary of Comments Received and Recommended Actions. This 
exhibit documents substantive comments received and recommended actions, 
including amendments to Exhibit A. 

• Exhibit D – Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. This exhibit includes legal 
findings that demonstrate consistency of the RTP with federal, state and regional 
requirements. This exhibit will be developed by the Office of Metro Attorney. 

Adoption of the 2023 High Capacity Transit Strategy 

The RTP is supported by several modal and topical strategies, including the Regional High Capacity 
Transit Strategy, that are primarily guidance documents that provide a vision, policies and 
recommendations for the region that support implementation of the RTP. The HCT Strategy is 
proposed for adoption by resolution, like other strategies have been adopted, because much of each 
strategy consists of recommendations that do not impose binding obligations on local governments. 
However, key elements from each of the strategies that will create binding obligations on local 
governments are incorporated into the 2023 RTP, including: recommended transit network 
concepts, system maps that define functional classifications for transit, and policies for transit. 
Adoption of the HCT Strategy by resolution expresses the intent of the Metro Council to support and 
implement the strategy, and is appropriate for strategies that provide guidance and policy 
direction.  

The resolution number and draft title is provided for reference: 

Resolution No. 23-5348 For the Purpose of Adopting the 2023 Regional High Capacity 
Transit Strategy (draft title) 

• Exhibit A – Public Review Draft 2023 Regional High Capacity Transit Strategy. 
This exhibit includes the draft 2023 Regional High Capacity Transit Strategy.  
Amendments to the HCT are documented in Exhibit B, but will not be incorporated 
in Exhibit A until after adoption by JPACT and the Metro Council. 

• Exhibit B – Summary of Comments Received and Recommended Actions. This 
exhibit documents substantive comments and recommended actions, including 
amendments to Exhibit A. 

NEXT STEPS 
A schedule of remaining Council and regional advisory committee discussions and final actions is 
attached for reference. 

Beginning on July 10, public review drafts will be posted on the 2023 RTP at 
www.oregonmetro.gov/rtp. The public comment will close at 5 p.m. on August 25.  

Metro staff will propose amendments to respond to public comments received by August 13 for 
discussion by MTAC and TPAC at the joint workshop on August 29. The draft legislation and 
respective staff reports will be available for review in early September. 

 

/Attachment 

Attachment 1. 2023 RTP Update Schedule and Key Dates (6/29/23) 

Attachment 2. 2023 RTP Chapters and Appendices Overview 

http://www.oregonmetro.gov/rtp


oregonmetro.gov/rtp        6/29/23 

2023 REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION PLAN UPDATE 

Key Dates for Finalizing the 2023 Regional Transportation Plan and 
2023 High Capacity Transit Strategy for Adoption 

June to November 2023 
Dates are subject to change.  

 
 

 
Note: Under Federal law, the current Regional Transportation Plan expires on Dec. 6, 2023. 
 

June 6/2 TPAC • Action: Make recommendation to JPACT on release of 
draft 2023 RTP, project list and draft HCT Strategy for 
public review (Resolution No. 23-5343) 

6/13 Metro Council • Discuss TPAC recommendation to JPACT and next steps 

6/15 JPACT • Action: Make recommendation to Metro Council on 
release of draft 2023 RTP, project list and draft HCT 
Strategy for public review (Resolution No. 23-5343) 

6/15 CORE • Overview of Council and JPACT roles, what we learned 
through community engagement and the equity-based 
analysis, and receive feedback on ways for the RTP and 
process to further advance racial equity 

6/21 TPAC 
Workshop 

• Discuss RTP System Analysis – transit, tolling and 
climate analysis 

6/23 Notice  • Notice of public comment period 

6/28 MPAC • Public comment period announcement  (Metro Council 
update) 

6/29 Metro Council • Action on JPACT recommendation (Res. No. 23-5343) 

https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/2023-regional-transportation-plan


2023 RTP Update: Key Dates for Finalizing the 2023 RTP      6/29/23 
and 2023 HCT Strategy for Adoption - June to November 2023 
 

Items in italics are tentative 2 

July 7/7 TPAC • Public comment period announcement (comment from 
the chair) 

• Overview of Fall adoption package (Ordinance, 
Resolution & Exhibits) 

• Discuss draft RTP Ch. 8 and identify topics for JPACT 
discussion 

7/10  45-day public comment period begins: 

• online survey 

• online comment form 

• email, letters and phone 

• public hearing on 7/27/23 

• individual consultation meetings with Tribes 

• joint consultation meetings of 
federal/state/regional/resource agencies 

• county-level coordinating committee briefings 

• Metro Council and regional advisory committee 
discussions  

7/12 TPAC 
Workshop 

• Discuss RTP mobility policy measures: 

• Throughway reliability travel speed analysis findings 

• TDM/TSMO system completion 

• TSMO Key Corridors 

7/19 MTAC • Overview of draft RTP and public comment period 
announcement and Fall adoption package (Ordinance, 
Resolution & Exhibits) 

• Discuss draft RTP Ch. 8 and identify topics for MPAC 
discussion 

7/20 JPACT • Overview of draft RTP and public comment period 
announcement  (comments from the Chair) 

• Discuss freight delay and commodity movement study 
findings 

7/20 CORE • RTP public comment period announcement  (Metro 
Council updates) 

7/27 Metro Council • Public hearing on draft 2023 RTP, project list and draft 
HCT Strategy 

August 8/4 TPAC • Discuss freight delay and commodity movement study 
findings 

• 2023 RTP: Regional Mobility Policy Measures 
(VMT/capita and throughway reliability) 

• Discuss draft RTP Ch. 8 and/or RTP policies, if needed 

8/16 TPAC/MTAC 
Workshop 

• Discuss RTP mobility policy and VMT/capita analysis 

• Overview of public comments received to date 

8/23 DLCD • Submit Notice of Post Acknowledgement Plan 
Amendment (PAPA) – 35 days prior to first read 

8/25  • 45-day public comment period ends at 5 PM 

  



2023 RTP Update: Key Dates for Finalizing the 2023 RTP      6/29/23 
and 2023 HCT Strategy for Adoption - June to November 2023 
 

Items in italics are tentative 3 

September 9/1 TPAC • Draft adoption legislation and overview of public 
comments received and draft Metro staff 
recommended actions in response to public comments 

• Discuss draft RTP Ch. 8 and/or RTP policies, if needed 

• Discuss freight delay and commodity movement study 
draft findings 

9/12 Metro Council 
(requested) 

• Discuss draft RTP Ch.8 (Implementation) and RTP Ch. 3 
draft (pricing policies) 

9/13 TPAC 
Workshop 

• Discuss public comments received and draft Metro staff 
recommended actions in response to public comments 

• Identify policy topics for JPACT discussion 

9/20 MTAC • Draft adoption legislation 

• Discuss public comments received and draft Metro staff 
recommended actions in response to public comments 

• Identify topics for MPAC discussion 

9/21 JPACT • Overview of adoption package (Ordinance, Resolution & 
Exhibits) 

• Overview of public comments received and draft Metro 
staff recommended actions in response to public 
comments, and policy topics identified by TPAC for 
JPACT discussion 

• Discuss draft Ch.8 (Implementation) and Ch. 3 draft 
(pricing policies) 

9/21 CORE 
(requested) 

• Overview of public comments received and draft Metro 
staff recommended actions in response to public 
comments 

• Discuss draft Ch.8 (Implementation) equity-related 
future work 

9/27 MPAC • Overview of adoption package (Ordinance, Resolution & 
Exhibits) 

• Overview of public comments received and draft Metro 
staff recommended actions in response to public 
comments and policy topics identified by MTAC for 
MPAC discussion 

• Discuss draft Ch.8 (Implementation) and Ch. 3 draft 
(pricing policies) 

9/28 Metro Council • Public hearing (first evidentiary hearing/first read) on 
Ordinance 23-1496 

October 10/6 TPAC • Discuss draft Metro staff recommended actions in 
response to public comments and identify draft 
recommended actions for JPACT discussion 

10/18 MTAC • Make final recommendation to MPAC on adoption of 
2023 RTP (Ordinance 23-1496) and 2023 HCT Strategy 
(Resolution No. 23-5348), and recommended actions in 
response to public comments  

10/19 JPACT • Discuss draft TPAC recommended actions in response to 
public comments (focus on actions identified by TPAC 



2023 RTP Update: Key Dates for Finalizing the 2023 RTP      6/29/23 
and 2023 HCT Strategy for Adoption - June to November 2023 
 

Items in italics are tentative 4 

for JPACT discussion) 

10/25 MPAC • Make final recommendation to Metro Council on 
adoption of 2023 RTP (Ordinance 23-1496) and 2023 
HCT Strategy (Resolution No. 23-5348), and 
recommended actions in response to public comments 

November 11/3 TPAC • Make final recommendation to JPACT on adoption of 
2023 RTP (Ordinance 23-1496) and 2023 HCT Strategy 
(Resolution No. 23-5348), and recommended actions in 
response to public comments 

11/7 Metro Council • Discuss MPAC recommendation and TPAC 
recommendation to JPACT on adoption of 2023 RTP 
(Ordinance 23-1496) and 2023 HCT Strategy (Resolution 
No. 23-5348), and recommended actions in response to 
public comments 

11/16 JPACT • Make final recommendation to Metro Council on 
adoption of 2023 RTP (Ordinance 23-1496) and 2023 
HCT Strategy (Resolution No. 23-5348), and 
recommended actions in response to public comments 

11/30 Metro Council • Public hearing and consider final action on adoption of 
2023 RTP (Ordinance 23-1496) and 2023 HCT Strategy 
(Resolution No. 23-5348), and recommended actions in 
response to public comments 

 
 
 



6/29/23 

 1 

 

2023 REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION PLAN | TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

Executive Summary 
This section provides an overview of the plan, how it was developed, key trends and challenges it will 
address and the outcomes it will deliver. The executive summary will be produced as a standalone 
document for the public review draft plan. 

Chapter 1 | Toward a Connected Region 
This chapter introduces the greater Portland region and Metro’s role in transportation planning, how the 
plan addresses regional, state and federal requirements, its relationship to other adopted plans and 
strategies, and the public process that shaped development of the plan. 

Chapter 2 | Our Shared Vision and Goals for Transportation  
This chapter presents the plan’s aspirational vision for the region’s transportation system. The vision is 
further described through goals, objectives and performance targets that reflect the values and desired 
outcomes expressed by the public, policymakers and community and business leaders engaged in 
development of the plan. This outcomes-based policy framework guides future planning and investment 
decisions as well as monitoring plan implementation. 

Chapter 3 | Transportation System Policies to Achieve Our Vision 
This chapter defines overarching policies for safety, equity, climate, mobility and pricing as well as the 
vision and policies for the modal networks of the regional transportation system – motor vehicle, transit, 
freight, bike and pedestrian - and for transportation system management and operations (TSMO) and 
transportation demand management (TDM). The policies will help the region make progress toward the 
plan’s vision and goals and implementation of the 2040 Growth Concept and Climate Smart Strategy. 
Together the policies will guide the development and implementation of the regional transportation 
system, informing transportation planning and investment decisions made by the Joint Policy Advisory 
Committee on Transportation (JPACT) and the Metro Council. 

Chapter 4 | Our Growing and Changing Region 
This chapter provides a snapshot of current regional growth trends and existing conditions and outlines 
key transportation challenges the plan will address and opportunities for building a regional 
transportation system that reflects our values and vision for the future. 

Chapter 5 | Our Transportation Funding Outlook 
This chapter provides an overview of local, state and federal funding expected to be available to pay for 
needed investments. 

Chapter 6 | Regional Programs and Projects to Achieve Our Vision 
This chapter describes how the region plans to invest in the transportation system, with expected funding.   

Chapter 7 | Measuring Outcomes  
This chapter reports on the expected system performance of the region’s investment priorities and 
documents whether the region achieves regional performance targets in 2045. 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  
This chapter describes ongoing and future efforts to implement the RTP, consistent with federal, state and 
regional requirements. The chaper summarizes ongoing regional programs, regional and state planning 
efforts and major project development activities underway in the region, and data and research activities 
to support Metro’s performance-planning responsibilities and plan implementation.  

Glossary 

Common Acronyms 

 
  



6/29/23 

 2 

APPENDICES 
Appendix A Constrained Priorities  – Near-term Constrained Project List (2023 to 2030); Long-

term Constrained Project List (2031 to 2045) 
Appendix B Unconstrained Priorities – 2031 to 2045 Strategic Project List 
Appendix C Federal Air Quality Attainment Status Certification Letter (effective Oct. 2, 2017) 
Appendix D Public and Stakeholder Engagement and Consultation Summary 

Note: This appendix is under development and will be included in final RTP 
Appendices. 

Appendix E not assigned 
Appendix F   Environmental Assessment and Potential Mitigation Strategies 
Appendix G Coordinated Transportation Plan for Seniors and People with Disabilities (adopted 

in June 2020 by the TriMet Board) 
Appendix H  Financial Strategy Documentation 
Appendix I Performance Evaluation Documentation 
Appendix J Climate Smart Strategy Implementation and Monitoring 
Appendix K Performance Targets 
Appendix L  Federal Performance-Based Planning and Congestion Management Process 

Documentation 
Appendix M Regional Analysis Documentation 
Appendix N Southwest Corridor Project Locally Preferred Alternative (adopted Dec. 6, 2018) 
Appendix O Earthquake Ready Burnside Bridge Preferred Alternative (adopted March 16, 

2023) 
Appendix P East Metro Connections Plan (adopted in June 2013) 
Appendix Q Sunrise Project Locally Preferred Alternative (adopted in July 2009) 
Appendix R I-5/99W Connector Study Recommendations (adopted in Feb. 2009 by Project 

Steering Committee) 
Appendix S I-5/Columbia River Bridge Replacement Locally Preferred Alternative (adopted in 

July 2008)  
Appendix T  Clackamas to Columbia Corridor Plan (adopted in 2020) 
Appendix U Summary of Comments Received and Recommended Actions 

Note: This appendix will be developed following the final public comment period 
and included in final RTP Appendices. 

 
LIST OF TOPICAL AND MODAL STRATEGIES AND PLANS* 
           Adoption date 
Regional Transportation System Management and Operations Strategy    Jan. 6, 2022 
Regional Transportation Safety Strategy       Dec. 6, 2018 
Regional Emerging Technology Strategy       Dec. 6, 2018 
Regional Freight Strategy        Dec. 6, 2018 
Regional Transit Strategy        Dec. 6, 2018 
Regional Travel Options Strategy       May 24, 2018 
Climate Smart Strategy (incorporated in the RTP in Dec. 2018)    Dec. 18, 2014 
Regional Active Transportation Plan       July 17, 2014 
 
* All strategies and plans were adopted by the Metro Council and Joint Policy Advisory 
Committee on Transportation (JPACT). 



 
 
 
 
Date: June 30, 2023 
To: Transportation Policy Alternatives Committee (TPAC) and interested parties 
From: Kim Ellis, RTP Project Manager, and John Mermin, Senior Transportation Planner 
Subject: 2023 Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) – Chapter 8 – RTP Implementation 

 
PURPOSE 
The purpose of this memo is to describe a process for reviewing and updating Chapter 8 prior to 
adoption of the 2023 Regional Transportation Plan (RTP). 
 
BACKGROUND 
Chapter 8 “Moving Forward Together” outlines future studies and other work needed to advance 
implementation of the RTP or resolve issues that could not be fully addressed during the update. 
The chapter is organized into sections describing regional programs, region-wide planning efforts, 
corridor refinement planning, major project development and data/tools development.   
 
A section-by-section summary of key updates incorporated in Chapter 8 of the draft 2023 RTP 
follows.  
 
Draft 2023 RTP Implementation Chapter (Chapter 8) 
 
Section 1. Introduction 

• Minor text edits 
 

Section 2. Planning and Programs 
• Updated descriptions of planning and programs recommended in the near-term 

to advance implementation of the RTP and address unresolved issues identified 
through 2023 RTP update. 

• Completed efforts have been removed and several new efforts have been added, 
including: 

Regional Programs 
o Regional Transit Program 
o Better Bus Program 
o Regional Congestion Pricing Program 

 
Regionwide Planning 
o Connecting First and Last Mile: Accessing Mobility through Transit 

Study 
o Cascadia Corridor Ultra-High-Speed Ground Transportation Project 

Planning 
o Equitable Development Strategies 
o Workforce Diversification in Regional Transportation Infrastructure 

Projects 
o Columbia Connects 

 



Memo to TPAC and interested parties  6/30/23 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) – Chapter 8 – RTP Implementation  

 2 

Section 3. Projects 
• Updated descriptions of major project development efforts.  
• Several new major project development efforts have been added, including: 

o I-205 Toll Project (includes widening and seismic improvements) 
o I-5 & I-205 Regional Mobility Pricing Project 
o I-5 Boone Bridge Replacement 
o Earthquake Ready Burnside Bridge 
o Tualatin Valley Highway Transit and Development Project 
o 82nd Avenue Transit Project 

 
Section 4. Data and Tools 

• Updated descriptions of data and tool development.  
• Two new data analysis tools have been added:  

o Social Vulnerability Explorer 
o VisionEval (VE-RSPM) Climate Monitoring Tool 

 
Process to update Chapter 8 
Resolution No. 23-5343 supports releasing the Draft RTP for public review and directs staff to 
revise Chapter 8 in response to public comments and policy discussion. Additionally, staff has 
provided a placeholder for the narratives in the Corridor Refinement Planning section (8.2.4) of the 
public review draft stating that the section will be “updated this Summer and informed by analysis of 
the RTP project list using the newly updated regional mobility policy.” 
 
TPAC will have an opportunity to discuss Chapter 8 at its July 7, Aug. 4, and Sept. 1 meetings. The 
Sept. 13 TPAC workshop is another opportunity to discuss recommended actions in response to 
public comments received on the RTP, including Ch. 8, and to identify topics for discussion by the 
Joint Policy Advisory Committee on Transportation (JPACT). MTAC will have an opportunity at the 
July 19 and Sept. 20 meetings to discuss Chapter 8 and identify topics for discussion by the Metro 
Policy Advisory Committee (MPAC).  
 
Thus far, the need to clarify future pricing-related implementation work has been flagged for 
discussion by the Metro Council, JPACT and MPAC in September. Note – the current discussion of 
pricing within Chapter 8 is located within the narratives for the Regional Congestion Pricing 
Program (section 8.2.2.13) and the I-5 & I-205 Regional Mobility Pricing Project (8.3.1.7). 
 
Additionally, all jurisdictions, members of the public and community-based organizations are 
encouraged to send Metro formal comments describing any recommended changes to Chapter 8 
during the public comment period (July 10-August 25, 2023). Metro staff will respond to all 
substantive comments provided during the public comment period and share these responses with 
TPAC in September for discussion and to identify topics for JPACT discussion.  
 
Next Steps 

• July 7 TPAC - Discussion of Chapter 8 
• July 19 MTAC - Discussion of Chapter 8 
• August 4 TPAC - Discussion of Chapter 8 (if needed) 
• September 1 TPAC - Discussion of Chapter 8 (if needed) 
• September 12 (tentative date) Metro Council - Discussion of Chapter 8 



Memo to TPAC and interested parties  6/30/23 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) – Chapter 8 – RTP Implementation  

 3 

• September 13 TPAC workshop – Discussion of Metro staff recommended actions in 
response to public comments, including requesting changes to Chapter 8; identify topics for 
JPACT discussion 

• September 20 MTAC – Discussion of Metro staff recommended actions in response to public 
comments, including requesting changes to Chapter 8; identify topics for MPAC discussion 

• September 21 JPACT - Discussion of Chapter 8 and public comments on draft RTP and draft 
HCT Strategy 

• September 27 MPAC – Discussion of Chapter 8 and public comments on draft RTP and draft 
HCT Strategy 
 

Please contact kim.ellis@oregonmetro.gov  and John.Mermin@oregonmetro.gov with any questions 
or concerns. 
 
/attachment  
 
Attachment 1. Draft Chapter 8 - June 30, 2023  

mailto:kim.ellis@oregonmetro.gov
mailto:John.Mermin@oregonmetro.gov


DRAFT – 6/30/23 

 

Chapter 8  
Moving Forward Together 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan 



  

This page intentionally left blank. 

  



  

Table of Contents 

Chapter 8 .............................................................................................................................. 1 

8.0 Purpose ........................................................................................................................... 1 

Chapter organization ................................................................................................................... 1 

8.1 INTRODUCTION ........................................................................................................... 3 

Connecting Our Shared Values and Vision for the Future: Setting a Course for 
Transportation ............................................................................................................................. 3 

8.2.1 Local Implementation ..................................................................................................... 7 

8.2.2 Metro’s Regional Programs............................................................................................. 7 

8.2.2.1  Civil Rights and Environmental Justice program .................................................. 8 

8.2.2.2  Regional Safe Streets for All Program .................................................................. 9 

8.2.2.3  Regional Active Transportation Program ........................................................... 10 

8.2.2.4  Regional Freight Program ................................................................................... 10 

8.2.2.5        Regional Transit Program ................................................................................... 10 

8.2.2.6  Transportation System Management and Operations (TSMO) Program .......... 11 

8.2.2.7  Regional Travel Options (RTO) and Safe Routes to School Programs ................ 12 

8.2.2.8 Air Quality and Climate Change Monitoring Program ........................................ 13 

8.2.2.9 Designing Livable Streets and Trails Program ..................................................... 13 

8.2.2.10 Regional Transit-Oriented Development Program ............................................. 14 

8.2.2.11 Investment Areas Program ................................................................................. 14 

8.2.2.12 Better Bus Program ............................................................................................. 15 

8.2.2.13     Regional Congestion Pricing Program ................................................................. 16 

8.2.3 Region-wide Planning ................................................................................................... 16 

8.2.3.1  Regional Mobility Policy Implementation Action Plan ....................................... 17 



  

8.2.3.2  Transit Planning .................................................................................................. 18 

8.2.3.3        Connecting First and Last Mile: Accessing Mobility through Transit Study ....... 19 

8.2.3.4  Steel Bridge Transit Bottleneck Study ................................................................ 19 

8.2.3.5  Cascadia Corridor Ultra-High-Speed Ground Transportation Project Planning . 21 

8.2.3.6   Equitable Development Strategies ..................................................................... 22 

8.2.3.7  Workforce Diversification in Regional Transportation Infrastructure Projects . 22 

8.2.3.8  Funding Strategy for Regional Bridges ............................................................... 24 

8.2.3.9  Emergency Transportation Routes Project Phase 2 ........................................... 25 

8.2.3.10 Regional Freight Rail Study.................................................................................. 26 

8.2.3.11 Regional Transportation Functional Plan Update ............................................... 27 

8.2.3.12 2040 Refresh Coordination ................................................................................. 28 

8.2.3.13 Columbia Connects.............................................................................................. 29 

8.2.4 Corridor Refinement Planning ...................................................................................... 30 

8.2.4.1  Tigard to Wilsonville (Mobility Corridor 3)......................................................... 36 

8.2.4.2  Portland Central City Loop (Mobility Corridor 4) ............................................... 39 

8.2.4.3 Clark County to I-5 via Gateway, Oregon City and Tualatin (Mobility Corridors 
7, 8 and 10) ........................................................................................................................... 42 

8.2.4.4  Beaverton to Forest Grove (Mobility Corridors 14 and 15) ............................... 44 

8.2.4.5  Powell-Division Corridor: Portland Central City to Lents Town Center and Lents 
Town Center to Gresham Regional Center (Mobility Corridors 19 and 20) ......................... 49 

8.2.4.6  Hillsboro to Portland (Mobility Corridors 13 and 14) ........................................ 52 

8.3 Projects ..................................................................................................................... 57 

8.3.1 Major Project Development.......................................................................................... 57 

8.3.1.1 Interstate 5 Replacement (IBR) Program (previously Columbia River Crossing 
Project) 59 



  

8.3.1.2  Sunrise Project and Sunrise Community Visioning Project ................................ 63 

8.3.1.3  Southwest Corridor Transit Project .................................................................... 64 

8.3.1.4  I-5 Rose Quarter Improvement Project .............................................................. 66 

8.3.1.5  I-205 Abernethy Bridge and Phase 1A Construction .......................................... 68 

8.3.1.6 I-205 Toll Project (Includes Widening and Seismic Improvements) ................... 69 

8.3.1.7    I-5 & I-205 Regional Mobility Pricing Project ...................................................... 71 

8.3.1.8  I-5 Boone Bridge Replacement……………………………………………………………………..75 

8.3.1.9       Earthquake Ready Burnside Bridge……………………………………………………………….76 

8.3.1.10   Tualatin Valley Highway Transit and Development Project ................................ 76 

8.3.1.11    82nd Avenue Transit Project ............................................................................... 77 

8.3.2 Metropolitan Transportation Improvement Program .................................................. 81 

8.3.2.1 MTIP responsibilities and oversight .................................................................... 81 

8.3.2.2 The role of the MTIP in regional planning........................................................... 82 

8.3.2.3  Demonstrating consistency prior to implementation......................................... 82 

8.3.2.4 Demonstrating fiscal constraint .......................................................................... 85 

8.3.2.5 Demonstrating support toward achievement of performance targets .............. 86 

8.3.2.6 Public involvement expectations and process for demonstrating consistency . 87 

8.3.2.7 Developing the MTIP ........................................................................................... 88 

8.4 Data and tools ............................................................................................................... 90 

8.4.1 Performance-based planning and programming .......................................................... 90 

8.4.2 Data Collection and Coordination ................................................................................. 90 

8.4.2.1  Growth Data ........................................................................................................ 91 

8.4.2.2  Travel Activity Data ............................................................................................. 91 

8.4.2.3  Transportation Safety Data ................................................................................. 91 



  

8.4.2.4  Multi-Modal Network Data ................................................................................. 92 

8.4.2.5  Multi-Modal Network Data ................................................................................. 92 

8.4.3 Analysis Tool Maintenance and Enhancement ............................................................. 92 

8.4.3.1  Growth Forecast .................................................................................................. 92 

8.4.3.2  Growth Forecast Tools ........................................................................................ 92 

8.4.3.3 Regional Transportation Model Tools ................................................................. 93 

8.4.4 Analysis Tool Development ........................................................................................... 93 

8.4.4.1  Regional Activity-Based Model ........................................................................... 93 

8.4.4.2  Regional Freight Model ....................................................................................... 94 

8.4.4.3  Housing and Transportation Expenditure Tool ............................................................ 94 

8.4.4.4  Economic Value Atlas Decision-Support Mapping Tool ...................................... 94 

8.4.4.5  Displacement Monitoring Tool ........................................................................... 95 

8.4.4.6  Crash Prediction Modeling Tool ......................................................................... 96 

8.4.4.7  Social Vulnerability Explorer ............................................................................... 96 

8.4.4.8  VisionEval (VE-RSPM) Climate Monitoring Tool ................................................. 97 

8.4.5 Monitoring and Reporting Tools ................................................................................... 97 

8.4.5.1  Monitoring Data and Information Systems ........................................................ 97 

8.4.5.2  Congestion Management Process Data Collection and Monitoring ................... 98 

8.4.5.3 Performance monitoring measures and targets ................................................. 99 

 

FIGURES 

Figure 8.1 2040 Growth Concept (2020) ..................................................................................... 8-3   

Figure 8.2 How A Mobility Corridor Strategy Is Developed and Implemented ......................... 8-33 



  

Figure 8.3 Illustrative Map of Mobility Corridors in the Portland Metropolitan Region ........... 8-35 

Figure 8.4 Regional Mobility Corridors Recommended for Future Refinement Planning ........ 8-36 

Figure 8.5 Interstate Bridge Replacement Program .................................................................. 8-61 

Figure 8.6 I-5 Rose Quarter Improvement Project Location ..................................................... 8-67 

Figure 8.7 I-5 Rose Quarter Improvement Project Features ..................................................... 8-69 

Figure 8.8 I-205 South Widening and Seismic Improvements Project Area Map ..................... 8-70 

Figure 8.9 I-205 Toll Project Area Map  ..................................................................................... 8-71 

Figure 8.10 Regional Mobility Pricing Project Extents  .............................................................. 8-73 

Figure 8.11 Earthquake Ready Burnside Bridge Proposed Typical Cross Section  .................... 8-76 

Figure 8.12 82nd Ave Transit Corridor ...................................................................................... 8-81 

TABLES 

Table 8.1 Overview of Region-wide Planning Activities ............................................................ 8-17 

Table 8.2 Overview of Completed Region-wide planning (From 2018 RTP Chapter 8) ............ 8-17 

Table 8.3. Willamette River Bridges in the Metropolitan Planning Area .................................. 8-25 

Table 8.4 Mobility Corridors Recommended for Future Corridor Refinement Planning .......... 8-34 

Table 8.5 Progress (as of 2023) on Major Project Development ............................................... 8-59 

Table 8.6. Key Elements of the Region’s Congestion Management Process (CMP) ................ 8-100 

 



  

This page intentionally left blank. 

 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-1 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

8.0 PURPOSE 

Metro is the metropolitan planning organization (MPO) 
designated by Congress and the State of Oregon, for the 
Oregon portion of the Portland-Vancouver urbanized 
area, serving 1.7 million people living in the region’s 24 
cities and three counties. As the MPO, Metro formally 
updates the Regional Transportation Plan every five 
years in cooperation and coordination with the Oregon 
Department of Transportation and the region's cities, 
counties and transit agencies.  

The Regional Transportation Plan is a blueprint that 
guides investments for all forms of travel throughout 
greater Portland – driving, taking transit, biking and 
walking – and the movement of goods and services. The plan identifies current and future 
transportation needs, investments needed to meet those needs, and what funds the region 
expects to have available over the next 22 years to make those investments a reality. 

Updates to the plan and subsequent implementation must meet federal requirements and 
state policies and regulations contained in Oregon’s Transportation Planning Rule (which 
implements Statewide Planning Goal 12), and Oregon’s Metropolitan Greenhouse Gas 
Emissions Reduction Targets Rule. The plan also implements regional policies contained 
in Metro’s Regional Framework Plan. In combination, these requirements call for 
development of a multimodal transportation system plan that is integrated with and 
supports implementation of adopted local and regional land use plans including the 2040 
Growth Concept and Climate Smart Strategy. 

Chapter organization 

This chapter summarizes future work to implement the RTP, consistent with federal, state 
and regional requirements. The chapter is organized as follows: 

8.1 Introduction: This section summarizes the purpose and content of the chapter. 

8.2 Planning and programs: This section summarizes local, regional and state 
planning and programs that advance implementation of the plan. 

8.3 Projects: This section summarizes major project development activities in the 
region and the allocation of federal transportation funds to implement projects in 
the RTP. 

Learn more about the 2023 
Regional Transportation Plan at 
oregonmetro.gov/rtp 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-2 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

8.4 Data and tools: This section summarizes data and research activities to address 
existing and emerging planning and policy priorities and innovative practices in 
transportation planning and analysis and ensure that the region has the resources 
to fulfill its transportation performance measurement and reporting 
responsibilities. 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-3 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

8.1 INTRODUCTION 

Connecting Our Shared Values and Vision for the Future: Setting a Course for 
Transportation 

Metro worked with federal, state and local government partners, federally-recognized 
Tribal governments as well as community members, community-based organizations, and 
businesses to develop the 2023 Regional Transportation Plan. The result of that work is a 
set of regionally identified goals and policies that guide our transportation planning and 
investment decisions overall, strategies to help meet those goals and policies, a shared 
understanding about existing financial resources, and a recommended set of projects that 
make progress addressing the region’s significant and growing transportation needs and 
challenges. The goals, policies, projects and strategies in this plan also address federal, 
state and regional planning requirements based on our shared values and the outcomes 
we are trying to achieve as a region, including implementation of the 2040 Growth 
Concept. 

Figure 8.1 2040 Growth Concept (2020) 

 

The 2023 Regional Transportation Plan is a key tool for implementing the 2040 Growth 
Concept and the Climate Smart Strategy– our region’s foundation for climate action.  



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-4 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

The plan sets an updated course for future transportation planning and investment 
decisions and continued implementation of the 2040 Growth Concept – the region’s 
adopted land use and transportation strategy for managing growth and building climate-
friendly and equitable communities and a strong economy.  

Dramatic changes have unfolded since the RTP was last updated five years ago, many 
documented in the Emerging Transportation Trends Study1. As greater Portland 
continues to emerge from the disruptions of the pandemic and respond to other urgent 
trends and challenges, this update provides an 
opportunity for all levels of government to work 
together to deliver a better transportation future.  

The plan takes into account the changing 
circumstances and challenges facing our growing 
region and addresses them directly, adopting new 
approaches for addressing mobility and prioritizing 
investments to advance transportation equity, 
climate, safety, mobility and economic goals. Central 
to this plan are innovative approaches to connect 
community land use aspirations and transportation 
investments and use of regional mobility corridor 
strategies to comprehensively address our growing 
transportation needs while protecting public and 
environmental health. Each mobility corridor 
strategy is uniquely tailored by optimizing 
operations on existing throughways, and arterial 
streets that also serve as transit and freight routes, 
completing gaps in biking and waking connections 
and strategically expanding the transit and roadway 
system. 

This RTP incorporates a new regional mobility policy focused on the policy outcomes of 
equity, options, safety, reliability, efficiency and access.  It includes performance targets 
focused on reducing vehicle miles traveled per capita, building a complete and 
interconnected system, and reliability of throughways using travel speed.  

 
1 https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/2023-regional-transportation-plan/research 
 

The plan will be implemented 
through a variety of policies, 
projects, strategies and actions 
at the local, regional, state and 

  

https://www.oregonmetro.gov/public-projects/2023-regional-transportation-plan/research


DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-5 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

Through its policies, projects and strategies, the RTP aims to attract jobs and diverse 
housing to our region’s downtown centers, main streets and employment areas. It seeks 
to increase the use of public transit, bicycling and walking, and reduce the amount of 
miles that our region’s residents, employers and visitors need to drive in order to get 
around. It also seeks to increase the safety, reliability and efficiency of the roadway and 
transit systems for all travelers. When we measure our performance, we find we have 
some successes, but overall the RTP falls short of meeting several performance targets set 
forth in Chapter 7. 

To make more progress toward the goals and objectives of the plan, the region must take 
additional steps together and individually to address a wide range of planning, 
programmatic and project activities that will make it easier to implement adopted 
policies, projects and strategies. This chapter outlines those activities. 

The plan will be implemented through a variety of strategies and actions at the local, 
regional, state and federal levels. The various jurisdictions in the region are expected to 
pursue policies, projects and strategies that contribute to meeting the agreed upon goals, 
objectives and policies of this RTP.  

Implementation of this plan will require a cooperative effort by all jurisdictions 
responsible for transportation planning in the region, and will involve: 

• Adoption of regional policies and strategies in local plans, including functional 
classifications for all modes and land use and transportation needs and agreed upon 
solutions identified in each mobility corridor strategy. 

• A concerted regional effort to secure needed funding to build planned transportation 
investments needed to serve our growing and changing region. 

• Focusing investments and system management strategies to support implementation 
of the 2040 Growth Concept and preserve the function of the region’s mobility 
corridors in order to ensure that our land use and transportation policies are mutually 
supportive and make it easier for people to live and move around our region. 

• Ongoing monitoring for consistency of changes to local transportation system plans 
(TSPs) and local Comprehensive Plans and land use designations with the RTP and 
other agency plans, including the Oregon Department of Transportation's new Oregon 
Transportation Plan, planned update to the Oregon Highway Plan and four-year State 
Transportation Improvement Program (STIP), the Oregon Department of Land 
Conservation and Development’s Transportation Planning Rule (TPR), the Oregon 
Metropolitan Greenhouse Gas Emissions Reduction Rule, the Climate-Friendly and 
Equity Communities (CFEC) Program and TriMet’s Transit Implementation Plan (TIP). 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-6 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

The Regional Transportation Plan is a living document and will continue to evolve and be 
updated on a regular basis to address existing and emerging issues. Metro will continue to 
engage and collaborate with regional partners and stakeholders on all topics and provide 
support to ensure successful implementation of this plan. 

  



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-7 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

8.2 PLANNING AND PROGRAMS 

This section summarizes local, regional and state planning and programs that advance 
implementation of the plan and 2040 Growth Concept. 

8.2.1 Local Implementation 

Local planning efforts which help implement the Regional Transportation Plan, include 
updates to the local transportation system plans, concept plans for designated urban 
reserves and topical, modal or subarea plans needed for consistency with the RTP or to 
address specific local or subarea transportation needs or emerging issues.  

Local plans and projects are developed and updated to meet local transportation needs 
consistent with local land use plans and to implement the RTP and Regional 
Transportation Functional Plan (RTFP) as well as local needs and priorities. The RTFP 
directs how city and county plans will implement the RTP through their respective 
comprehensive plans, local transportation system plans (TSPs) and land use regulations. 
All of the actions included in the RTFP will help the region proactively address climate 
change, improve access and mobility and support other desired outcomes.  

The TPR includes provisions for local TSPs to be updated within one year of adoption of 
the updated RTP, but allows for the RTP to determine a schedule for local plan 
compliance. A schedule for local transportation system plan updates is available at 
www.oregonmetro.gov/tsp. The local plan updates are phased appropriately to support 
local desires for completing plan updates in a timely manner, in coordination with other 
planning efforts and to take advantage of state and regional funding opportunities. ODOT 
will be funding TSP updates around the region to implement the Climate Friendly and 
Equitable Communities Rule (CFEC).  

In addition, the Portland metropolitan region has emerging communities- areas that have 
been brought into the urban growth boundary since 1998, that have 2040 land use 
designations, and that lack adequate transportation and transit infrastructure and 
financing mechanisms. Additional work is needed to define the needs of emerging 
communities and strategies needed to facilitate development in these areas, consistent 
with the 2040 Growth Concept. 

8.2.2 Metro’s Regional Programs 

Metro is responsible for several on-going regional programs that provide a combination 
of grants, technical assistance and planning to support local jurisdictions in implementing 
the 2040 Growth Concept and RTP. Modal experts provide expertise and support on 
freight, bicycle, pedestrian, motor vehicle, transit, Intelligent Transportation Systems 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-8 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

(ITS) and operations planning, and topic experts provide support on climate change, 
equity, safety, street design, safe routes to school, resilience, transportation funding, 
brownfields, equitable housing and transit-oriented development. Metro’s Regional 
Flexible Funds provide programmatic funding to help support that technical assistance, 
and capital funds to support implementation. The region’s 2040 Grant Program supports 
planning processes to align land use and transportation goals, and the Equitable Housing 
grant program specifically focuses on supporting planning efforts to increase access to 
affordable housing across the region. 

Regional programs identified in the Unified Planning Work Program, adopted annually by 
the Joint Policy Advisory Committee on Transportation (JPACT) and the Metro Council, 
are described below. 

8.2.2.1  Civil Rights and Environmental Justice program  

Metro’s transportation planning policies and programs ensure compliance with Title VI of 
the 1964 Civil Rights Act; the Executive Order on Environmental Justice; Section 504 of 
the 1973 Rehabilitation Act and Title II of the 1990 Americans with Disabilities Act; Goal 1 
of Oregon’s Statewide Planning Goals and Guidelines; and Metro's organizational values of 
Respect and Public Service. The program is advancing methods on identifying potentially 
affected populations, engaging those populations in the development of policy and 
program decisions, and analyzing the effects of policies and programs for historically 
marginalized communities. 

Metro's work to ensure compliance includes implementing outreach strategies that help 
marginalized populations overcome barriers to participation; demographic data 
collection and mapping; assessing outcomes of plans and programs on historically 
marginalized communities; and trainings provided to staff on Title VI compliance 
requirements and environmental outreach best practices.  

Program work on compliance is found across many areas of transportation planning: 
developing the Regional Transportation Plan (RTP), the Metropolitan Transportation 
Improvement Program (MTIP), corridor planning projects that follow NEPA regulations 
and in the Regional Travel Options program, which conducts federally-funded outreach 
that promotes non-automobile transportation options. In 2012, Metro created a new 
public engagement review process designed to ensure that Metro’s public involvement is 
effective, reaches diverse audiences and harnesses emerging best practices. One of the 
three criteria for selection of members of the Public Engagement Review Committee, an 
advisory committee to the Metro Council, is ability to represent diverse communities in 
the region. Other components of the public engagement review process that will 
contribute to more inclusive engagement and accountability include an annual public 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-9 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

survey, meetings of public involvement staff from around the region to address best 
practices, an annual community summit to gather input on priorities and engagement 
techniques, and an annual report. 

Metro addresses compliance agency-wide as well as within transportation planning 
functions and program-by-program. A key way that Metro complies across the agency is 
with implementation of its Diversity Action Plan, updated and adopted by the Metro 
Council in May 2017. The plan identifies goals, strategies and actions to increase diversity 
and cultural competence at Metro in four key areas: internal awareness and diversity 
sensitivity, employee recruitment and retention, committee membership and public 
involvement, and procurement. Metro’s Strategic Plan to Advance Racial Equity, Diversity 
and Inclusion was adopted by the Metro Council in June 2016 and identifies goals and 
actions under five goals: Metro convenes and supports regional partners to advance racial 
equity; Metro meaningfully engages communities of color; Metro hires, trains and 
promotes a racially diverse workforce; Metro creates safe and welcoming services, 
programs and destinations; and Metro's resource allocation advances racial equity. 
Through the 2017-18 fiscal year, four departments are developing racial equity plans to 
reach the goals of the racial equity strategy: Planning and Development, Parks and Nature, 
Property and Environmental Services and the Oregon Zoo. 

8.2.2.2  Regional Safe Streets for All Program 

Metro’s regional Safe Streets for All program activities support advancing the Safe System 
approach to achieve regional safety goals, policies and targets, including zero serious 
crashes by 2035. Program activities are consistent with strategies and actions in the 2018 
Regional Transportation Safety Strategy, the Regional Safe Routes to School Program, and 
local and state safety plans. Following adoption of the 2023 RTP, Metro will coordinate 
with regional partners and communities to implement the regional Safe Streets for All 
Federal grant. The grant supports development of the regional safety program and local 
Transportation Safety Action Plans. Efforts will focus on managing speeds for safety, 
increasing pedestrian safety, and eliminating disparities for Black, Hispanic, Native 
American, people with low income, and other populations disproportionately impacted by 
serious traffic crashes.  

Program activities include periodic updates on the state of safety to the Metro Council, 
Metro technical and policy advisory committees and other interested parties; technical 
assistance and coordination with local, regional, state, and federal partners in planning 
and project development; support for the development and updates to local and regional 
safety plans and policies; updates to safety data and analysis; updates to safety plans and 
policies; safety data collection, maintenance, analysis and interpretation; encouraging 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-10 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

best practices in transportation safety and roadway design with funding and 
programmatic support identifying legislative priorities, and collaborating on efforts to 
highlight safety in materials, messaging and campaigns. The program will be closely 
coordinated with other regional transportation programs and region-wide planning 
activities. 

8.2.2.3  Regional Active Transportation Program 

The Regional Active Transportation Program manages updates to and implementation of 
pedestrian, bicycle and access to transit in the Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) and 
the Regional Active Transportation Plan. The program provides guidance to jurisdictions 
in planning for safe, efficient and comfortable active transportation access and mobility 
on the regional transportation system (including regional trails and multi-use paths). The 
program is closely coordinated with other regional transportation programs and region-
wide planning activities, and with Metro’s Parks and Nature Department. Additionally, the 
program supports coordination with local, regional, state, and federal plans to ensure 
consistency in approach to active travel needs and issues across the region. The program 
ensures that prioritized regional bicycle and pedestrian projects are competitively 
considered within federal, state, and regional funding programs. Ongoing data collection, 
analysis, education, and stakeholder coordination are also key elements of Metro’s active 
transportation program.  

8.2.2.4  Regional Freight Program 

The Regional Freight Program manages updates to and implementation of multimodal 
freight elements in the Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) and supporting Regional 
Freight Strategy. The program provides guidance to jurisdictions in planning for freight 
movement on the regional transportation system. The program supports coordination 
with local, regional, state, and federal plans to ensure consistency in approach to freight-
related needs and issues across the region. Metro’s coordination activities include 
ongoing participation in the Oregon Freight Advisory Committee (OFAC), and Portland 
Freight Committee (PFC). The program ensures that prioritized freight projects are 
competitively considered within federal, state, and regional funding programs. Ongoing 
freight data collection, analysis, education, and stakeholder coordination are also key 
elements of Metro’s freight program. The program is closely coordinated with other 
regional transportation programs and region-wide planning activities. 

8.2.2.5               Regional Transit Program 

The Regional Transit Program conducts long-range transit planning for the Portland 
Metro region, managing updates to and implementation of the transit elements in the 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-11 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) and supporting Regional Transit Strategy and its 
components like the High-Capacity Transit Strategy. Together, these provide the roadmap 
for making transit investments over time in collaboration with our transit providers and 
local government partners in the region and ensure that prioritized transit projects are 
competitively considered within federal, state, and regional funding programs. The 
Regional Transit Strategy will need to be amended to reflect the High Capacity Transit 
Strategy adopted in 2023 and the Connecting First and Last Mile Study anticipated to be 
complete in 2025 (see 8.2.3.3 below). 

Program work includes ongoing coordination with transit providers, cities and counties 
to ensure implementation of these strategies through plans and capital projects, periodic 
support for major transit planning activities in the region and coordination with state 
transit planning officials. Ongoing data collection, analysis, education, and stakeholder 
coordination are also key elements of Metro’s transit program. The program is closely 
coordinated with other regional transportation programs and region-wide planning 
activities. 

Additionally, Metro and TriMet will be developing a Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) Strategic 
Plan as part of regional transit planning efforts. The Plan will further advance work in the 
High-Capacity Transit Plan and will outline a vision for how Frequent Express 
(FX) investments can enhance existing and future frequent bus service corridors to serve 
our region’s goals. It will identify a network of BRT routes, prioritize routes for 
implementation, and identify potential regional funding strategies. 

8.2.2.6  Transportation System Management and Operations (TSMO) Program 

With the intent of supporting broad Transportation System Management and Operations 
(TSMO) investment and activity in the greater Portland metropolitan region, the TSMO 
program encompasses regional strategy development, implementation, grant 
management, project management and system performance monitoring (includes 
support to the region’s Congestion Management Process). The program facilitates a 
variety of approaches to reliable, equitable, accessible, safe transportation related to 
TSMO. These include intelligent transportation systems (ITS), Mobility on Demand (MOD) 
and related mobility, freight technologies and operations.  

The program maintains and periodically updates the regional TSMO Strategy. Strategy 
updates incorporate RTP policy and develops actions and work plans for implementation. 
Implementation involves convening operations leaders, engineers and technical experts 
to share procedures and protocols such as the regional Intelligent Transportation System 
(ITS) Architecture. ITS Architecture is needed to comply with the FHWA rule for federally 
funded transportation projects and their compliance with the National ITS Architecture. 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-12 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

The program also guides implementation of the region’s ITS data communications assets 
and networks, representing coordination of shared digital infrastructure. The regional 
role for program implementation supports opportunities for inclusion, research, 
education, and training on TSMO. 

The program manages the sub-allocation of 2021-24 and 2025-27 Regional Flexible 
Funding for TSMO. These projects are prioritized through criteria that is consistent with 
the adopted Regional TSMO Strategy. The TSMO program will provide support for 
regional ITS projects by helping to apply systems engineering, ITS Architecture, standards 
and procedures. 

The program supports system performance monitoring including the federal mandates to 
maintain a Congestion Management Process (CMP). The program implements actions 
identified in the Arterial Performance Management Regional Concept of Traffic 
Operations (RCTO) to advance the region’s performance measurement capabilities on 
arterial streets. CMP performance monitoring will continue in order to support 
development of the RTP, local Transportation System Plans and MTIP programming. The 
program partners with PORTAL, a regional archived data user service managed by 
Portland State University. PORTAL will continue to expand the collection, visualization 
and uses of multimodal performance data in a way that will enhance the region’s ability to 
diagnose and address mobility and support multimodal operations consistent with the 
region’s CMP. 

The TSMO program is closely coordinated with other regional transportation programs 
and region-wide planning activities. 

8.2.2.7  Regional Travel Options (RTO) and Safe Routes to School Programs 

The Regional Travel Options Program implements RTP policies and the Regional Travel 
Options Strategy to reduce drive-alone auto trips and personal vehicle miles of travel and 
to increase use of travel options. The program improves mobility and reduces greenhouse 
gas emissions and air pollution by carrying out the transportation demand management 
components of the RTP through three primary program areas: Commute trip reduction, 
Community-based travel options, and Safe Routes to School. Each RTO program area 
works to advance RTP goals through the following strategies: 

• Regional policy development 

o The RTO program advances travel options policy through policies in the RTP 
and developing the Regional Travel Options Strategy; as well as supporting 
local and state policy development and implementation. 

• Funding local program implementation 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-13 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

o The RTO program provides ongoing funding to local programs and partners to 
deliver critical TDM services across the region and seeks out new partnerships 
to ensure the travel needs of all residents are prioritized. 

• Technical assistance & regional program administration 

o The RTO program provides technical assistance to program providers through 
trainings, resource development and peer networking and learning. In 
addition, the RTO program administers regional programming to advance the 
goals of the RTP and RTO strategy in collaboration with local partners. 

The program maximizes investments in the transportation system and eases traffic 
congestion by managing travel demand, particularly during peak commute hours. Specific 
RTO activities include promoting transit, shared trips, bicycling, walking, telecommuting 
and the Regional Safe Routes to School Program. The program is closely coordinated with 
other regional transportation programs and region-wide planning activities.  

8.2.2.8 Air Quality and Climate Change Monitoring Program 

The Air Quality and Climate Change Monitoring Program ensures the RTP and the MTIP 
address state and federal regulations and are carrying out the commitments and rules set 
forth as part of the Portland Area State Implementation Plan (SIP), the Climate Smart 
Strategy, the Oregon Transportation Planning Rule and the Metropolitan Greenhouse Gas 
Emissions Reduction Target Rule. The program coordinates with other air quality and 
climate change initiatives in the region and statewide and monitors federal and state 
rulemaking that address air quality and greenhouse gas emission. Metro participates in a 
regional collaborative to develop and implement a clean air construction strategy and 
standards for clean diesel equipment and vehicles on select public improvement projects.    

The program also conducts planning, research and tool development to support 
monitoring and implementation of the region’s adopted Climate Smart Strategy and the 
Carbon Reduction Program established by the federal Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (BIL) 
and administered through the Federal Highway Administration.   

8.2.2.9 Designing Livable Streets and Trails Program 

The Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (IIJA) requires that MPOs must use 2.5 
percent of their overall funding to develop and adopt complete streets policies, active 
transportation plans, transit access plans, transit-oriented development plans, or regional 
intercity rail plans.  Metro complies with this requirement by funding a robust complete 
streets program. Metro’s Designing Livable Streets and Trails Program provides regional 
street and design guidelines and policies, regional arterial and throughway design 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-14 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

classifications and other tools to support local jurisdictions to design streets that 
implement context-sensitive design solutions to advance regional and local goals.  

Program activities include providing technical assistance to cities and counties as 
transportation projects go through project development and design; convening 
workshops, forums and field tours to increase understanding and utilization of best 
practices in transportation design. The program is closely coordinated with other regional 
transportation programs and region-wide planning activities, and with Metro’s Parks and 
Nature Department. 

8.2.2.10 Regional Transit-Oriented Development Program 

Since 2001, Metro’s Transit-Oriented Development (TOD) program has had a unique and 
critical role in implementing the 2040 Growth Concept vision for vibrant, walkable 
centers and station areas linked by transit. The program invests in compact mixed-use 
projects near light rail stations, along frequent service bus corridors and in regional and 
town centers throughout the region increasing opportunities for people live, work and 
shop in neighborhoods with easy access to high-quality transit. The program provides 
financial incentives for TOD projects to increase transit ridership, stimulate private 
development of mixed-use buildings that would otherwise not proceed, and increase 
affordable housing opportunities near transit in high cost and gentrifying neighborhoods 
through land acquisition and project investments. With an increased focus on affordable 
housing, the program supports construction of housing near transit and services that is 
more affordable for older adults and lower- income households compared to what would 
otherwise be built on a property. Related program activities include opportunity site 
acquisition, investment in urban living infrastructure, and technical assistance to 
communities and developers. 

 

8.2.2.11 Investment Areas Program 

Metro’s Investment Areas program helps communities build their downtowns, main 
streets and corridors and leverage public and private investments that implement the 
region’s 2040 Growth Concept. Projects include supporting compact, transit oriented 
development in the region’s mixed use areas, evaluating high capacity transit and other 
transportation improvements that cross city and county lines, and integrating freight and 
active transportation projects into multimodal corridors.  

Major public infrastructure investments do not stop at city or county lines. Our 
transportation system connects the communities within greater Portland with the rest of 
the state and the rest of the world. When our region spends billions of dollars on 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-15 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

expanding our road, transit and highway system to keep up with the continued 
population and employment growth, those public investments can both benefit and 
burden nearby communities. Over time, the region has become more strategic at linking 
together our transportation, housing, economic, racial equity and environmental goals, 
policies, and investments so that we can intentionally preserve and create great places 
that serve all people throughout the region, even as change and growth occurs. 

The Investment Areas program completes system planning and develops multimodal 
projects in transportation corridor refinement plans identified in the Regional 
Transportation Plan. It also works on finance plans to align public investments in areas 
that support the region’s growth economy. It includes ongoing involvement in local and 
regional transit and roadway project conception, funding, and design. Metro provides 
assistance to local jurisdictions for the development of specific projects as well as 
corridor-based programs identified in the RTP. 

Metro’s Investment Areas program has been connecting planning for major 
transportation projects with the community’s broader goals and needs. While each area’s 
conditions and needs are different, the approach of bringing together government, 
community, and business partners provides a framework to produce a shared plan of 
action to guide the investments and decisions of multiple agencies. Including a broader 
set of stakeholders in a collaborative decision making process allows for decisions that 
once seemed unclear or unfair to stakeholders to be more transparent. This approach 
improves our ability to involve and include those who are affected by these decisions and 
investments. 

Investment areas can set the stage for a range of major capital investments beyond high 
capacity transit. Other Metro investment areas have focused on freight routes connecting 
major highways through small communities, redevelopment of brownfields in 
employment areas, and leveraging the opportunities of a regionally significant riverfront 
destination. The program is closely coordinated with other regional transportation 
programs and region-wide planning activities, including corridor refinement planning 
activities. 

8.2.2.12 Better Bus Program 

The Better Bus program is a joint Metro and TriMet endeavor that identifies transit 
priority and access treatments to improve the speed, reliability, and capacity of TriMet 
frequent service bus lines or streetcar lines, building on the previous Enhanced Transit 
Concepts (ETC) Program. Better Bus treatments are relatively low-cost to construct, 
context-sensitive, and can be implemented quickly to improve transit service in congested 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-16 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

corridors. The program develops partnerships with local jurisdictions and transit 
agencies to design and implement Better Bus capital and operational investments.  

8.2.2.13            Regional Congestion Pricing Program 

The Regional Congestion Pricing Program ensures coordination and alignment between 
the RTP and state and federal pricing policies and regulations, including the Oregon 
Transportation Plan, the Oregon Highway Plan, the federal Value Pricing Pilot Program, 
Section 129 of Title 23 of the U.S. Code, and ODOT’s future low-income tolling program. 
The program includes application of the findings and recommendations from the 2021 
Metro Regional Congestion Pricing Study in the RTP and the MTIP. The program also: 

• Coordinates tolling with regional planning efforts and corridor development work, 
including ODOT’s Regional Toll Advisory Committee, Statewide Toll Rulemaking 
Advisory Committee, and Equity and Mobility Advisory Committee 

• Tracks, participates in, and/or advises on pricing programs and projects such as 
ODOT’s Regional Mobility Pricing Project or City of Portland’s Pricing Options for 
Equitable Mobility Task Force 

• And monitors changes in federal and state rulemaking that may impact regional or 
local pricing policies or programs. 

8.2.3 Region-wide Planning 

This section summarizes near-term planning at the regional-scale to advance 
implementation of the plan. Each planning effort is needed to address regional 
transportation policy or planning issues that could not be resolved during the plan 
update. 

Table 8.1 Overview of Region-wide Planning Activities 

 Lead Agency Proposed 
timing 

 
Regional Mobility Policy Implementation Action Plan Metro, ODOT 2024-25 
Transit planning TriMet, SMART Annually 
Cascadia Corridor Ultra-High-Speed Ground 
Transportation Project Planning 

WSDOT 2023-28 

Steel Bridge Transit Bottleneck Study  Metro, TriMet 2034-45 
Equitable Development Strategies Metro 2024-28 
Workforce Diversification in Regional Transportation 
Infrastructure Projects 

Metro 2024 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-17 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

Funding Strategy for Regional Bridges Counties 2024-28 
Emergency Transportation Routes Project Phase 2 Metro, RPDO 2024-26 
Regional Freight Rail Study Metro, Port 2024-26 
Regional Transportation Functional Plan Update Metro 2024-25 
2040 Refresh Coordination Metro TBD 
Columbia Connects Metro 2023-24 

These efforts will be completed consistent with the RTP goals, policies and strategies. A 
lead agency, project partners and proposed timing for completion is identified for each 
planning effort along with a description of the issues to be addressed and expected 
outcomes from the work. This work will be completed by multiple partners as resources 
are available and pending future Metro Council and JPACT policy direction and will be 
coordinated through the development and approval of the annual Unified Planning Work 
Program (UPWP). 

Table 8.2 Overview of Completed Region-wide Planning (from 2018 RTP Chapter 8)  

Project Name Lead Agency 
Regional Mobility Policy Update Metro and ODOT 
Regional Congestion Pricing Study Metro 
Transportation System Management & Operations Strategy 
Update 

Metro 

Jurisdictional Transfer Assessment  Metro 
Enhanced Transit Concept Pilot Metro 
Emergency Transportation Routes Project – Phase 1 Metro and RDPO 
Regional Freight Delay & Commodities Movement Study Metro 
Central City Transit Capacity and Steel Bridge Analysis Metro and TriMet 
Frog Ferry Passenger River Taxi Service Study Friends of Frog Ferry 

8.2.3.1  Regional Mobility Policy Implementation Action Plan 

Lead agency Partners Proposed timing 
Metro and ODOT ODOT, cities, counties, TriMet, 

SMART, FHWA, SW RTC 
2024-25 
 
 

Note – This section will be updated pending further testing of the draft mobility policy 
measures that is underway and coordination with ODOT and DLCD on statewide 
implementation of the Climate-Friendly and Equitable Communities Program. 

The Regional Mobility Policy is a policy in the RTP as well as the Oregon Highway Plan 
(OHP). It applies to transportation system planning and comprehensive plan amendment 
processes within the Portland metropolitan area. The policy is used to identify 
transportation needs and solutions during updates to the RTP and local transportation 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-18 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

system plans (TSPs), and to evaluate the potential impacts of local comprehensive plan 
amendments and zoning changes. 

An update to the regional mobility policy has been underway since 2019, through a joint 
effort of Metro and the Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT). In November and 
December 2022, JPACT and the Metro Council accepted the new draft policies and 
supported further development of the draft performance measures and targets during 
2023 RTP system analysis in 2023.  The draft regional mobility policy for the 2023 RTP 
identifies three mobility performance measures: vehicle miles traveled per capita, system 
completion for all modes (including TDM and TSMO) and throughway reliability using 
travel speed. More information about the regional mobility policy update can be found at: 
www.oregonmetro.gov/mobility  

8.2.3.2  Transit Planning 

Lead agency Partners Timing 

TriMet and SMART Cities, counties, Ride Connection, other transit providers Annually 

TriMet conducts annual transit service planning as part of the agency’s annual budgeting 
process, guided by the TriMet Board. Annual service planning identifies specific service 
changes to be implemented within the coming fiscal year. The annual service planning 
process includes two rounds of public outreach as well as a formal public hearing. Service 
improvements are funded both through TriMet’s general fund as well as the Statewide 
Transportation Improvement Fund.  

Each year, alongside the City’s annual budget, SMART staff compiles potential projects 
that utilize federal funding for the upcoming fiscal year (July 1 – June 30). The list of 
projects and associated costs is known as the Program of Projects, or POP. Members of the 
public have opportunities to comment on these projects directly to staff in May, or at 
meetings in May (Budget Committee) and June (City Council) of each year. Any changes 
based on those public comments will be incorporated into a final version at the budget 
adoption in June. 

SMART recently update its Transit Master Plan, which identifies transit improvement 
projects that could be implemented over the next 3 to 5 years. The plan identifies: where 
frequency will be improved, the times of day and days of week to add service, where and 
how connections between routes could be made, and new routes inside Wilsonville and 
connecting to other cities. Next steps include working to take the plan and translate it to 
service and projects. 

http://www.oregonmetro.gov/mobility


DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-19 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

8.2.3.3 Connecting First and Last Mile: Accessing Mobility through Transit Study 

Lead agency Partners Timing 

Metro  TriMet, SMART, Cities, counties, Ride 
Connection, other transit providers 

2024-2025 

Local transit service has long used smaller vehicles that range from vans and shuttles to 
small buses with fixed to flexible routes to fill the gap between traditional bus and rail 
services, as well as local destinations. An emerging trend in these types of services is 
using ride-hailing and other new technologies to provide on-demand micro transit 
services. This study will identify service and coordination gaps specific to the Metro 
region, especially for suburban areas of the region and regional parks, document the 
range of potential solutions and explore innovative ways to improve transit access and 
convenience for users. This work will build upon local planning efforts (e.g., Transit 
Development Plans, Statewide Transportation Improvement Fund Plans) and be 
completed in close coordination with public transit service providers in the region. The 
project will make recommendations carried forward for consideration in the 2027 RTP 
update. 

8.2.3.4  Steel Bridge Transit Bottleneck Study  

Lead agency Partners Proposed timing 

Metro and TriMet ODOT, city of Portland, 
Portland Streetcar, Inc., FTA 

2034-2045 

This study would explore ways to alleviate transit operational issues caused by the Steel 
Bridge. The bridge is a critical link between downtown Portland and the east side of the 
greater Portland region for the Blue, Green, Red, and Yellow MAX Lines, as well as for 
several bus routes. The 106-year old bridge constrains light rail throughput, requires 
frequent maintenance that impacts system-wide light rail reliability and presents 
structural risks. The Steel Bridge with its current two-track configuration cannot reliably 
accommodate anticipated growth in service. 

Metro and TriMet conducted a process to look at alternatives to improve speed, reliability 
and on time performance of the MAX lines crossing the Willamette River using the Steel 
Bridge. The study looked at a new bridge or a tunnel and concluded that the MAX tunnel 
was the most promising. In 2019, Metro and TriMet documented the feasibility and 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-20 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

benefits of the tunnel in the MAX Tunnel Study, examining the feasibility of faster light 
rail. In 2019 they examined the feasibility of a new MAX tunnel connecting Lloyd Center 
to Goose Hollow stations. The study concluded a new light rail tunnel between Lloyd 
Center and Goose Hollow is promising.: 

A new light rail tunnel would extend from the vicinity of the Lloyd Center Station to the 
Goose Hollow Station, with approximately four underground stations in between. TriMet 
would retain some service on the existing surface alignment to continue to serve all 
stations. The tunnel would increase system ridership by 7,500 to 15,200 riders and 
decrease travel time by approximately 15 minutes between Lloyd Center and Goose 
Hollow, while improving system resiliency and redundancy. Planning of a tunnel would 
need to evaluate the locations of portals and determine the optimal number and locations 
of stations. Estimated cost is $3 billion to 4.5 billion dollars (construction cost range is 
comparable to similar tunnel project completed by Sound Transit and LA Metro, 
respectively). 

A project of this magnitude could take a decade or more to plan, design and construct, 
including the steps necessary to comply with the National Environmental Policy Act 
(NEPA) and the Federal Transit Administration’s Project Development process. As we 
continue to grow, we will need to look at short term investments to improve the speed, 
reliability and on time performance for the travel across the Willamette River.  

Max Tunnel benefits Routing MAX through a tunnel under downtown Portland and the 
Willamette River would save people time and make MAX as fast as or faster than driving. 
This would lead to even greater benefits such as lower car ownership costs, less traffic, 
less constrained parking downtown, and reduced greenhouse gas emissions. 

For the many people in the region who rely on public transit as their primary 
transportation, a light rail tunnel would sustain the MAX service they count on for access 
to school, jobs, recreation and other opportunities. Today, average on-time performance 
is 87%, higher than just a year ago, but still below the over 90% we can expect with a 
tunnel. Train delays average 2 ½ minutes, with one in eight delays lasting between 5 and 
8 minutes.  

Speed  

The MAX tunnel can save over 12 minutes for a trip through the central city. Even people 
going to downtown Portland, to places like PSU or Pioneer Square, would save 5 to 6 
minutes, depending on where they’re coming from. While the MAX tunnel stations have 
yet to be determined, access to downtown destinations will be further enhanced by 
surface travel options like bus, streetcar, bikeshare, and a great walking environment.  



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-21 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

Resiliency  

A MAX tunnel would add a resource to the regional transportation network that would be 
resilient to natural disasters and other regional disruptions. A MAX tunnel would offer a 
critical link to help the region recover from possible future events. 

Capacity  

The MAX tunnel will help make sure light rail is there to accommodate growth and for 
people even at the busiest times of day. To fit people comfortably in trains over the next 
15 years,  we anticipate 60 trains crossing between the central city and Rose Quarter 
every day—a 50% increase in rail traffic. The MAX tunnel accommodates added service 
and maintains capacity on the Steel Bridge.  

8.2.3.5  Cascadia Corridor Ultra-High-Speed Ground Transportation Project Planning 

Lead agency Partners Proposed 
timing 

WSDOT Metro, ODOT, PSRC, BC Ministry of Transportation 
and Infrastructure, BC Intergovernmental Relations 
Secretariat, TransLink, Cascadia Innovation Corridor 

2023-
2028 

The Cascadia Ultra-High-Speed Ground Transportation (UHSGT) Project is a proposed 
high-speed rail system that would connect the Portland, Seattle, and Vancouver, BC 
metropolitan areas with speeds up to 250 miles per hour, allowing for travel between 
each city in under an hour. Following planning activities (including three prior studies) 
conducted by Washington state and its jurisdictional partners over the past six years, the 
Governors of Oregon and Washington and the Premier of British Columbia signed a 
Memorandum of Understanding to initiate program to advance activities in 2021 to 
support forwarding the project. The agreement established the goal of laying the 
groundwork for the creation of a formal, legal entity to continue project development 
while seeking community engagement and input, gaining critical support from decision 
makers, and positioning the corridor for future funding opportunities and an efficient 
environmental process. WSDOT has applied for funding for this project under both the 
Federal-State Partnership for Intercity Passenger Rail Program and the FRA Corridor 
Identification and Development Program with matching funds of $150M. Funding would 
support required pre-NEPA technical and advisory study planning requirements to 
advance the project to feasibility-level planning decisions. Metro will continue to 
represent greater Portland, along with the Oregon Department of Transportation, on the 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-22 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

technical and policy committees supporting planning activities, collaborating for a 
process and outcomes consistent with regional goals. 

8.2.3.6  Equitable Development Strategies 

Lead agency Partners Proposed timing 

Metro Cities, counties, ODOT, 
TriMet, SMART, FHWA, FTA, 
community organizations 

Ongoing 

As the Portland region has grown issues such as housing affordability, community and 
business displacement and inclusive growth have come to the forefront of the public’s 
concern. Metro, in collaboration with local government and community partners, aims to 
address these concerns by working to create an Equitable Development Strategy (EDS) 
for each major transit investment corridor where Metro is leading the planning process. 
The purpose of the EDS process is to leverage investments in transportation 
improvements to support the region’s community development objectives, address 
existing inequities, and reduce associated impacts of displacement that can accompany 
major investments in public infrastructure. 

Each community’s EDS process will be unique, but they all strive to advance measures to 
mitigate displacement risks and establish intentional and sustained efforts to generate 
equitable development that responds to key challenges in the community. Through a 
coalition-building planning process that occurs concurrent to corridor planning efforts, 
major public transportation infrastructure investments are paired with community-
identified policy measures and programs with the aim of increasing community and 
economic resilience for residents, small businesses and community groups. Research 
shows that resilient communities fare better in the face of displacement pressures. 

Major public investments in infrastructure need to achieve more than just transportation 
goals – communities deserve an investment in high-capacity transit that maintains and 
enhances their quality of life, allowing them to thrive in the community they have chosen 
to live in. Equitable development helps strengthen and build resilience within 
underserved communities by creating more equitable outcomes through collaborative 
programs and initiatives. 

8.2.3.7  Workforce Diversification in Regional Transportation Infrastructure Projects  

Lead agency Partners Proposed timing 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-23 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

Metro Cities, counties, ODOT, TriMet, SMART, FHWA, 
SW RTC, community organizations, construction 
industry 

2024 

As the Greater Portland Region plans for needed investment in transportation projects, 
the region faces a shortage of skilled construction workers which will drive up 
construction costs   Addressing this challenge presents an opportunity to deliver shared 
economic prosperity and advance regional equity goals by expanding access to well-
paying construction jobs for all residents—including women and Black, Indigenous, and 
People of Color (BIPOC) workers. A comprehensive regional workforce and contractor 
equity strategy would support the Regional Transportation Plan’s infrastructure 
investments by growing regional workforce supply, managing costs, creating shared 
economic opportunity, and ultimately building a stronger regional economy.  

The workforce shortages in the construction industry are driven by two key factors. First, 
one in six construction workers are approaching retirement age, meaning the pool of 
workers will dramatically decrease over the next decade. Second, women and BIPOC 
workers face significant barriers in accessing jobs and building successful careers in the 
construction industry. Diversifying the workforce is a key strategy for addressing 
workforce shortages. Creating safer, more accessible job pathways will support all people 
in accessing the unique career and wealth building opportunities the construction 
industry offers. 

The Construction Career Pathways Regional Framework provides a comprehensive 
strategy for creating career pathways for women and BIPOC workers in the construction 
industry. The framework aims to increase the available skilled workforce while reducing 
barriers to entry for historically excluded populations. Metro created the Construction 
Career Pathways through an inclusive process in collaboration with 16 public agencies 
and with buy-in from a range of stakeholders, workforce advocates, community-based 
organizations, contractors, labor partners, and training programs. This broad 
collaboration is continuing to support effective implementation across jurisdictions. The 
framework has been formally adopted and implemented as policy by nine government 
agencies including Metro, Clackamas County, Multnomah County, Washington County, 
TriMet, City of Portland, Prosper Portland, Portland Public Schools, and Portland 
Community College.2 Construction Career Pathways paired with strategies to support the 

 
2 On October 24, 2019, Metro Council approved Resolution 19-5028 to approve the Construction Career 
Pathways Framework. On November 17, 2020, Clackamas County Board of Commissioners approved to adopt the 
Construction Career Pathways Framework. On December 19, 2019, the Multnomah County Board of 
Commissioners approved Resolution 219-106 to approve the Construction Career Pathways Framework. On 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-24 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

participation and growth of BIPOC, and women owned firms, will provide the skilled labor 
needed for transportation infrastructure projects, while advancing regional equity goals. 
Given the broad support and on-going collaboration in this effort, there is an opportunity 
to explore a more direct connection between Construction Career Pathways and how it 
can support the demand for a skilled workforce to support transportation investments. 

Prior to the next Regional Transportation Plan update, Metro will work with local, 
regional, state partners, community organizations and the construction industry to 
explore a strategy for regional implementation of Construction Career Pathways in the 
transportation sector. Further analysis should identify the resources and capacity needs 
of partner agencies and industry and assess the benefits of collaboration in this effort to 
facilitate implementation. If adopted regionally, Construction Career Pathways has the 
potential to increase shared economic prosperity, reduce workforce shortages and 
increased construction costs, ensure timely deliveries on community projects, and 
support job access for historically underrepresented workers in the region. 

8.2.3.8  Funding Strategy for Regional Bridges 

Lead agency Partners Proposed timing 

Counties Cities, Metro, ODOT, TriMet 2024-28 

Given the declining purchasing power of the gas tax and the rise of electric vehicle use, the 
region continues to struggle with a long-term funding strategy for maintaining Willamette 
River bridges that serve regional travel. Currently, Multnomah County has primary 
responsibility for five of the eleven bridges within the Metropolitan Planning Area (see 
table 8.3 below) with insufficient funding to pay for all expected future maintenance of 
these structures. Within 20 years, four of Multnomah County’s five Willamette River 
Bridges will be 100 years old. The Burnside Bridge is anticipated to be replaced by 2030. 
The county’s capital program for the remaining three bridges (Broadway Bridge, 
Hawthorne Bridge, and Morrison Bridge) is estimated to cost $790 million, yet only $332 
million in federal, state and county revenues has been identified in revenue forecasting 

 

November 30, 2021, the Washington County Board of Commissioners approved Resolution 21-131 to adopt the 
Construction Career Pathways Framework. On January 15, 2020, City Council approved Resolution 37474, 
authorizing the Chief Procurement Officer to sign the Construction Career Pathways Project Framework and 
committing the City to continue to support the regional workgroup led by Metro. On April 7, 2023, TriMet 
submitted a letter to Metro communicating their support and commitment to Construction Career Pathways 
Framework. On October 9, 2019, Prosper Portland adopted Resolution 7344 to approve the Construction Career 
Pathways Framework. On February 4, 2020, Portland Public Schools approved Resolution 6050 to adopt the 
Construction Career Pathways Framework. On August 31, 2021, Portland Community College submitted a letter 
to Metro outlining their commitment to adopt the Construction Career Pathways Framework.  



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-25 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

through 2045. ODOT owns four of the bridges, including the Fremont and Marquam 
interstate bridges, as well as the St. Johns and Ross Island regional crossings. ODOT has 
identified [placeholder for estimated cost]. Union Pacific Railroad owns the Steel Bridge, 
which is also due for significant maintenance, with costs to be determined. TriMet owns 
the Tilikum Crossing structure, and while it was recently constructed, it will eventually 
require maintenance, as well, as the region's bridges face maintenance challenges that 
come from age and use.  

More collaboration and work is needed to develop a financial plan for ensuring ongoing 
operations and maintenance and other transportation needs of Willamette River bridges, 
given the importance to the regional economy, emergency response and climate 
resilience. 

Table 8.3 Willamette River Bridges in the Metropolitan Planning Area 

Bridge Name Bridge Owner 
Broadway Bridge Multnomah County 
Burnside Bridge Multnomah County 
Morrison Bridge Multnomah County 
Hawthorne Bridge Multnomah County 
Sellwood Bridge Multnomah County 
St Johns Bridge ODOT 
Fremont Bridge ODOT 
Marquam Bridge ODOT 
Ross Island Bridge ODOT 
Tilikum Crossing Bridge TriMet 
Steel Bridge Union Pacific Railroad 

8.2.3.9  Emergency Transportation Routes Project Phase 2 

Lead agency Partners Proposed timing 
Metro and Regional 
Disaster Preparedness 
Organization (RPDO) 

Cities, counties, TriMet, 
SMART, ODOT, DOGAMI, 
WASHDOT, SW RTC, REMTEC 

2024-26 

Natural disasters can happen anytime, and the transportation system needs to be 
prepared to withstand them and to facilitate life-saving and life-sustaining activities, 
including the transport of first responders (e.g., police, fire and emergency medical 
services), fuel, essential supplies, and patients.  

The Emergency Transportation Routes Project is a collaborative effort between public, 
private and non-profit stakeholders, co-led by the five-county, bi-state Regional Disaster 
Preparedness Organization (RDPO) and Metro to improve the safety and resiliency of the 

https://rdpo.net/
https://rdpo.net/


DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-26 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

region’s transportation system to natural disasters, extreme weather events and climate 
change.  

From 2019 - 2021 the RDPO and Metro partnered to complete phase 1 of the project - 
updating the designated Regional Emergency Transportation Routes (RETRs) for the five-
county Portland-Vancouver metropolitan region, which includes Clackamas, Columbia, 
Multnomah and Washington counties in Oregon and Clark County in Washington. The 
routes had not been updated since 2006. The updated routes are shown within the 
Climate Action and Resilience section in Chapter 3 of the RTP. 

A second phase of follow-on work is proposed for 2024-2026 to further prioritize/tier the 
updated routes and develop operational guidance for route owners/operators. For more 
information on RETRs, please visit https://rdpo.net/emergency-transportation-routes. 

8.2.3.10 Regional Freight Rail Study 

Lead agency Partners Proposed timing 
Metro Cities, counties, ODOT, WSDOT, Port 

of Vancouver and Port of Portland 
2024-26 

Identified in the Regional Freight Strategy, this study would seek to identify and produce 
increases in rail capacity, safety, land use compatibility and operational efficiencies to 
support freight and goods movement in the region which is important to our long-term 
economic and environmental sustainability,  and will help to maintain the region's 
competitive advantage in a global marketplace. The RTP and Regional Freight Strategy 
also note freight rail bottlenecks impacting critical access the region’s ports and 
intermodal facilities, as well as the need for rail to efficiently carry its full share of existing 
and future commodities.  

Potential outcomes of the study include: 

• Identification of economically viable opportunities to develop short line intermodal 
hubs or logistics parks or other cargo-oriented development. 

• A strategy to identify, develop and position top projects for confirmed and potential 
future federal and state funding, as appropriate, including: 

o An updated list of regional freight rail project priorities focused on improving 
capacity constraints and targeting industrial access to the rail networks. 

o A strategy to fund regional freight/passenger rail bottlenecks. 

o A strategy to fund needed grade separations. 

o A strategy to fund critical modernization projects on the short rail lines. 

https://rdpo.net/emergency-transportation-routes


DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-27 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

The study will address the balance between passenger and freight rail goals, and a set of 
viable solutions and initiatives to meet these goals; including: 

• Regional guidance for public/private investment partnerships to guide investment of 
regional and national funding sources in identifying and developing freight rail 
corridors of local, regional and national significance; and 

• Specific guidance for local jurisdictions as they develop their transportation system 
plans (TSPs), in order to avoid or minimize conflicts between freight rail and other 
transportation modes and preserve or enhance the functionality of rail facilities and 
connected industrial land uses. 

The Regional Freight Rail Study will work with Union Pacific (class 1 rail operator), ODOT, 
Port of Portland, Portland Bureau of Transportation (PBOT), and other local jurisdictions 
to determine which at-grade railroad crossings of the Union Pacific Kenton line, and other 
at-grade rail crossings should be grade separated. 

 

8.2.3.11 Regional Transportation Functional Plan Update 

Lead agency Partners Proposed timing 
Metro Cities, counties, ODOT, 

DLCD, TriMet, SMART 
2024-25 

Since the adoption of the 2040 Growth Concept in 1995, cities and counties across the 
region have updated their comprehensive plans, development regulations and 
transportation system plans to implement the 2040 Growth Concept in locally tailored 
ways. The RTP provides a long-range blueprint for implementing the transportation 
element of the 2040 Growth Concept and presents the overarching vision, policies and 
goals, system concepts for all modes of travel and strategies for funding and local 
implementation for the region. Projects submitted to the RTP are from adopted local, 
regional or state planning efforts that provided opportunities for public input. Cities and 
counties are responsible for creating transportation system plans that are periodically 
updated to stay consistent with the RTP and reflect local transportation priorities and 
needs. Each city and county develops its own process for engaging the public in the 
development of the plans.  

Most communities throughout the region have an adopted transportation system plan 
that serves as the transportation element of a comprehensive plan consistent with the 
Regional Transportation Functional Plan (RTFP). The functional plan implements the 
goals, objectives and the policies of the RTP and its constituent strategies, including the 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-28 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

Climate Smart Strategy and strategies for safety, freight, transit, transportation system 
management and operations, regional travel options and emerging technology.  

Under state law, the RTFP directs cities and counties within the metropolitan planning 
area boundary as to how to implement the RTP through local transportation system plans 
and associated land use regulations and transportation project development. Local 
implementation of the RTP will result in a more comprehensive approach for 
implementing the 2040 Growth Concept, help communities achieve their aspirations for 
growth and support current and future efforts to achieve the goals objectives and policies 
of the RTP. 

The RTFP was last updated in 2012. A comprehensive review and update is needed to: 

• modernize the functional plan language to be inclusive and in plain writing; 

• make miscellaneous technical corrections and clarifications, such as outdated 
references to maps and figures;  

• ensure the functional plan language and provisions are consistent with and 
adequately reflect new and updated goals, objectives and policies adopted in the RTP 
since 2014, including safety, equity, climate, pricing, mobility, freight transit, 
transportation system management and operations, and transportation options / 
transportation demand management; 

•  align the functional plan language and provisions with recent statewide rulemaking 
and policy development to implement the Climate-Friendly and Equitable 
Communities Program, including modal system planning, multimodal inventories, 
transportation performance, project prioritization, parking management, reporting; 
and 

• update the timeline for local TSPs updates in collaboration with cities, counties and 
the ODOT Transportation System Plan Funding Program. 

8.2.3.12 2040 Refresh Coordination 

Lead agency Partners Proposed timing 
Metro Cities, counties, ODOT TBD 

Note: 2040 Refresh Coordination is awaiting further direction from Metro Council 
(anticipated in Fall 2023). The description below was carried over from the 2018 RTP. 

In 2018, Metro's Chief Operating Officer recommended that Metro’s Planning and 
Development staff return to the Metro Council in early 2019 with a proposed work 

https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/CL/Pages/CFEC.aspx?utm_medium=email&utm_source=govdelivery
https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/CL/Pages/CFEC.aspx?utm_medium=email&utm_source=govdelivery


DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-29 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

program for updating the 2040 Growth Concept as part of the COO recommendation to 
the Metro Council on the 2018 Urban Growth Management Decision.  

Green corridor implementation will be forwarded for consideration as part of this future 
planning effort. Green corridors were adopted as part of the 2040 Growth Concept in 
1995. The purpose of green corridors is to prevent unintended urban development along 
these often heavily traveled routes, and maintain the sense of separation that exists 
between neighbor cities and the greater Portland region. The green corridor concept calls 
for a combination of access management and physical improvements to limit the effects of 
urban travel on the routes on adjacent rural activities. Following adoption of the 2040 
Growth Concept, Metro worked with the cities of North Plains, Canby and Sandy from 
1998-2000 to develop intergovernmental agreements (IGAs) but did not formalize these 
agreements. This remains as an outstanding issue in fully implementing the Growth 
Concept.  

In 2010 and 2011, the elected governing bodies of Clackamas, Multnomah and 
Washington counties and Metro entered into agreements that determine the location and 
scale of urban development for the future. These agreements were the result of a two-
year region-wide planning effort that identified areas for future urban use and other areas 
that should remain rural for the next 40 to 50 years. The urban and rural reserve decision 
provided a more certain framework for transportation improvements along the urban 
edge. Metro will work with interested local jurisdictions to complete IGAs for green 
corridors that reflect updated plans for urban and rural reserves.  

8.2.3.13  Columbia Connects 

Lead agency Partners Proposed timing 
Oregon Metro and 
Southwest Washington 
Regional Transportation 
Council 

Greater Portland Inc, Columbia 
River Economic Development 
Council, City of Portland, City of 
Gresham, City of Vancouver, Port 
of Portland, Port of Vancouver 

2023-24 

Columbia Connects is a regional project intended to strengthen the bi-state partnership 
between Oregon and Washington. Centered around the ecosystem of industries and work-
sheds that are interconnected by the Columbia River, the project seeks to develop a clear 
understanding of the conditions within this sub-district; the shared economic and 
community values of the region; and the strategies, projects, and programs needed to 
achieve desired outcomes. Columbia Connects provides a Shared Investment Strategy that 
outlines specific opportunities for investment based on feasibility, effectiveness, equity, 
and input from project champions. Convened by Metro and RTC, the partners will finalize 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-30 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

and carry out actions included in a Shared Investment Strategy, continuing to partner 
across state boundaries to establish agreements and commitments for implementation 
and ongoing coordination on resource acquisition. 

8.2.4 Corridor Refinement Planning 

Note - Section 8.24 will be further updated this Summer and informed by analysis of the RTP 
project list using the newly updated regional mobility policy. 

This section identifies areas in the region – called mobility corridors - that are 
recommended for more detailed refinement planning to identify multimodal investment 
strategies adequate to serve regional transportation needs in the corridor.   

This RTP calls for an update to the region’s mobility policy and related performance 
targets beginning in 2019 and is expected to affect corridor refinement planning 
identified in this section. Many of the areas identified for refinement planning in the RTP 
are identified because they do not meet the newly updated regional mobility policy. 
Individual corridor refinement planning descriptions have been updated to reflect work 
remaining and are being carried forward in this RTP. 

Corridor Refinement Planning and the Transportation Planning Rule 

Corridor refinement planning is a response to the Oregon Transportation Planning Rule 
(TPR). Section 660-012-0020 of the TPR requires that transportation system plans (TSPs) 
establish a coordinated network of planned transportation facilities adequate to serve 
regional transportation needs. The RTP is the region’s TSP. Section 660-012-0025 of the 
TPR allows jurisdictions to defer decisions regarding mode, function, and general location 
of improvements to address identified needs as long as it can be demonstrated that the 
refinement effort will be completed in the near future.  

A corridor refinement plan must identify the capital and operational improvements that a 
mobility corridor needs consistent with the region’s congestion management process. 
This is particularly critical for planning efforts that may result in significant expansion of 
roadways beyond the planned system. A CMP analysis is required for capacity-increasing 
projects that go beyond the planned RTP system before federal funds may be applied. For 
such projects, the CMP looks at road expansions beyond the planned system as a last 
resort and, as appropriate, requires that they be coupled with complementary operational 
and travel demand management strategies.  

In the Portland region, in order to stay consistent with our regional transportation and 
land use goals, our corridor refinement process includes a multimodal look at 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-31 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

transportation needs, as well as a review of existing and planned land use and projected 
growth. See Section 8.5.4 and Appendix L for more information about the region’s CMP. 

A corridor refinement plan includes the following steps:  

1. Develop MOU or IGA for refinement plan scope of work that includes identification of 
roles and responsibilities, methods of collaboration and consultation with Metro, if the 
refinement planning work is not led by Metro. 

2. Conduct analysis that considers current and planned local land uses, regional and 
community goals for equity, housing, economic opportunity, environmental protection 
and stormwater management as well as safety, pedestrian, bike, system and demand 
management and operational strategies, freight, throughway, road and transit needs 
and previously identified solutions. 

3. Agree on corridor specific multimodal performance measures. 

4. Evaluate multimodal performance and potential impact on regional and community 
goals for equity, economic development and environmental protection and, if 
applicable, apply HCT system expansion assessment and readiness criteria. 

5. Develop alternative mobility or other performance standards, if necessary.  

6. Determine mix and phasing of projects and/or land use changes needed to 
address identified needs. 

7. Prepare local, regional and/or state plan amendments and MOU or IGA to 
implement refinement plan recommendations at state, regional and local levels. 

Consistent with the region’s congestion management process, corridor refinement plans 
will provide decision-makers with more comprehensive information regarding safety, 
accessibility, environmental impact, mobility, reliability and congestion as they relate to 
the movement of persons and goods in the mobility corridor. They should also consider 
land use, economic opportunity, equity, travel demand and system management, street 
connectivity, walking and biking solutions in addition to increasing transit and road 
capacity. The corridor refinement plan will recommend a wide range of strategies and 
projects to be implemented at the local, regional and/or state levels.  

Individual project and program solutions identified in the RTP may move forward to 
project development at the discretion of the facility owner/operator. Planning and project 
development efforts should be conducted with an understanding of the corridor 
refinement planning anticipated in the RTP and not preclude any strategies or potential 
solutions identified for consideration in the corridor refinement plan. The MOU or IGA 
from a corridor refinement plan is intended to provide more accountability and to 
formalize agreements across implementing jurisdictions on moving forward to implement 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-32 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

the corridor refinement plan recommendations. This is particularly important in mobility 
corridors with multiple jurisdictions.   

Figure 8.2 shows the framework for how the mobility corridor strategy will be 
incorporated into the RTP or developed through a corridor refinement plan. 

 

 

 

Figure 8.2 How A Mobility Corridor Strategy Is Developed and Implemented  



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-33 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

 

Mobility Corridors Recommended for Future Corridor Refinement Plans 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-34 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

Note – This section will be further updated this Summer and informed by analysis of the RTP 
project list using the newly updated regional mobility policy. 

The main objective of the RTP mobility corridor framework is to organize information 
needed to help define the need, mode, function, performance standards, and general 
location of facilities within each mobility corridor consistent with the Transportation 
Planning Rule to ensure land use and transportation planning and decision-making are 
integrated. The needs assessment was developed based on the RTP policy framework and 
guided the identification of projects and programs during development of the RTP. 

Under the mobility corridor framework, when determinations of need(s), mode(s), 
function(s), and general location(s) of solutions cannot be made, the mobility corridor 
needs a refinement plan. Corridor refinement plans are intended to be multimodal 
evaluations of possible land use and transportation solutions to address identified needs 
and develop a shared investment strategy, consistent with RTP goals, objectives and 
policies. This includes conducting an evaluation that considers the potential impact on 
regional and community goals for equity, housing, economic development, environmental 
protection and access to nature.  

The RTP has identified a list of mobility corridors that do not meet the outcomes-based 
performance standards of the RTP and/or do not fully answer questions of mode, function 
and general location. These corridors need refinement planning and are listed in Table 
8.4. The corridors are not listed in priority order. In addition, potential high capacity 
transit corridors identified in the Regional Transit Strategy are likely to require corridor 
refinement plans to develop shared land use and transportation investment strategies 
and determine transit mode, function, general location and any associated changes in 
road or freight rail functions and performance standards of existing transportation 
facilities.  

Table 8.4 Mobility Corridors Recommended for Future Corridor Refinement Planning 

Regional Mobility Corridor General Geographic Scope of Mobility Corridor 
Mobility Corridors #3 Tigard to Wilsonville which includes I-5 South3 
Mobility Corridor #4 Portland Central City Loop, which includes I-5/I-405 

Loop 
Mobility Corridors #7, #8 and 
#10  

Clark County to I-5 via Gateway, Oregon City and 
Tualatin, which includes I-205 

 
3 In coordination with project development activities for Mobility Corridor #10. 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-35 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

Mobility Corridor #14 and #15 Beaverton to Forest Grove, which includes Tualatin 
Valley Highway 

Mobility Corridors #13, #14  Hillsboro to Portland, which includes US 26 
Mobility Corridors #19 and #20 Portland Central City to Lents and Lents to Gresham, 

which includes US 26/Powell Boulevard 

Figure 8.3 Illustrative Map of Mobility Corridors in the Portland Metropolitan Region 

 

Corridor refinement plans that have been completed since 2018 

• Clackamas to Columbia Corridor Plan (Gresham/Fairview/Wood Village/Troutdale to 
Damascus – Mobility Corridor #24) 

Figure 8.4 Regional Mobility Corridors Recommended for Future Refinement Planning 

Note: This map will be updated for the Adoption Draft RTP 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-36 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

 

 

8.2.4.1  Tigard to Wilsonville (Mobility Corridor 3) 

Note – This section will be further updated this Summer and informed by analysis of the RTP 
project list using the newly updated regional mobility policy. 

This mobility corridor provides the major southern access to and from the central city. 
The corridor also provides important freight access, where Willamette Valley traffic 
enters the region at the Wilsonville “gateway,” and provides access to Washington County 
via OR 217.  

In 2002, a joint ODOT and Wilsonville study4 concluded that in 2030 widening of I-5 to 
eight lanes would be required to meet Oregon Highway Plan and RTP mobility standards, 
and that freeway access capacity would not be adequate with an improved I-

 
4 I-5/Wilsonville Freeway Access Study, DKS Associates, November 2002 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-37 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

5/Wilsonville Road interchange. The appropriate improvements in this corridor are 
unclear at this time. However, I-5 serves as a critical gateway for regional travel and 
commerce, and an acceptable transportation strategy in this corridor has statewide 
significance. Projections for I-5 indicate that growth in traffic between the Metro region 
and the Willamette Valley will account for as much as 80 percent of the traffic volume 
along the southern portion of I-5, in the Tualatin and Wilsonville area.  

In 2009, ODOT and the City collaborated to plan the reconstruction of the I-5: Wilsonville 
Road interchange, including infrastructure improvements and management strategies to 
better serve planned growth in the area. Since adoption of the interchange area 
management plan, ODOT completed the interchange reconstruction and implemented the 
bulk of the management plan’s recommendations. More recent projects include the City’s 
addition of a third lane to the Wilsonville Road southbound on-ramp and improvements 
at the Elligsen Road northbound on-ramp. In addition, ODOT constructed a single 
southbound auxiliary lane on I-5 from north of Lower Boones Ferry Road to Nyberg Road 
and from South of Nyberg Road to I-205 and a second lane at the northbound exit ramp 
for Lower Boones Ferry Road to relieve congestion and reduce crashes. The auxiliary lane 
work included on- and off-ramp lane modifications at Lower Boones Ferry Road and 
Nyberg Street. 

The Washington County Transportation Futures Study, completed in 2017, recommended 
completion of this corridor refinement plan to address growing transportation needs in 
the corridor. The Washington County Freight Study, also completed in 2017, identified the 
I-5 corridor as a key area of freight operational delay and unreliability and underscored 
the importance of developing and funding improvements in this area. 

In 2017-2018, ODOT and the City of Wilsonville partnered on a Southbound I-5 Boone 
Bridge Congestion Study. They evaluated and developed solutions for a southbound 
bottleneck in the bridge area, in order to manage congestion and reliability for private 
vehicles, freight, and transit in the evening peak. This geographically focused study was 
timed to identify operational improvements in advance of upcoming seismic replacement 
of the Boone Bridge, so that they could proceed as one project and allow the state to 
reduce total costs. The study led to the adoption of the I-5 Wilsonville Facility Plan, which 
documented a southbound auxiliary lane concept consistent with implementation 
recommendations for this corridor (see Project 11990 on the 2023 RTP Financially 
Constrained List). It did not preclude a larger I-5 south corridor refinement plan, and 
many of the broader multimodal needs in this corridor still need to be addressed. 

A corridor refinement plan is proposed to address the following in coordination with 
project development activities for Mobility Corridor #10: 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-38 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

• Effects of widening I-205 on the I-5 South corridor; 

• Effects of the I-5 to 99W Connector study recommendations on I-5 and the N. 
Wilsonville interchange and the resultant need for increased freeway access to 
preserve local system performance and in-line capacity for I-5 mobility;  

• Effects of peak period and mid-day congestion in this area and mitigation options for 
regional freight reliability, mobility and travel patterns; 

• Ability of inter-city transit service, to/from neighboring cities in the Willamette Valley, 
including commuter rail, to slow traffic growth in the I-5 corridor; 

• Ability to maintain off-peak freight mobility with capacity improvements;  

• Potential for better coordination between the Metro region and Willamette Valley 
jurisdictions on land-use policies; 

• Effects of a planned long-term strategy for managing increased travel along I-5 in the 
Willamette Valley; 

• Effects of UGB expansion and Industrial Lands Evaluation studies on regional freight 
mobility; 

• Effects on freight mobility and local circulation due to diminished freeway access 
capacity in the I-5/Wilsonville corridor; 

• Identify and implement safety and modernization improvements to I-5 defined by the 
Tigard to Wilsonville Corridor Refinement Plan; 

• I-5/OR217 Interchange Phase 2: SB OR217/Kruse Way Exit – Complete interchange 
reconstruction: Braid SB OR 217 exit to I-5 with Kruse Way exit; 

• I-5/OR217 Interchange Phase 3: SB OR217 to I-5 NB Flyover Ramp – Complete 
interchange reconstruction with new SB OR217 to NB I-5 flyover ramp; 

• Effects of the new and proposed auxiliary (ramp-to-ramp) lanes; 

• Effects of future Southwest Corridor LRT; 

• Identify and implement active transportation priorities that provide safe alternatives 
to vehicle travel; and 

• Consideration of how land use interfaces with the transportation needs and impacts, 
local system enhancements and new connections, and improved transit network and 
service and potential outcomes. 

In addition, the following design elements should be considered as part of the corridor 
refinement plan: 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-39 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

• Congestion pricing, including consideration of the Regional Mobility Pricing Project, 
and HOV lanes for expanded capacity; 

• Operational bus on shoulder treatments 

• Provide regional transit service, connecting Wilsonville and Tualatin to the central 
city; 

• Increase WES service frequency and hours/days of operation; 

• Provide additional freeway access improvements in the I-5/Wilsonville corridor to 
improve freight mobility and local circulation; 

• Add capacity to parallel arterial routes, including 72nd Avenue, Boones Ferry, Lower 
Boones Ferry and Carman Drive; 

• Add overcrossings in vicinity of Tigard Triangle, City of Tualatin and City of 
Wilsonville to improve local circulation; 

• Extend commuter rail service from Salem to the Portland Central City, Tualatin transit 
center and Milwaukie, primarily along existing heavy rail tracks; 

• Additional I-5 mainline capacity; 

• Provision of auxiliary lanes between all I-5 freeway on- and off-ramps in Tualatin 
south of the I-5/I-205 split and in Wilsonville; and 

• Complete gaps in the Fanno Creek and Ice Age Tonquin Regional Trails to provide a 
continuous off-street active transportation route through the length of the mobility 
corridor. 

 

 

 

8.2.4.2  Portland Central City Loop (Mobility Corridor 4) 

Context 

Note – This section will be further updated this Summer and informed by analysis of the RTP 
project list using the newly updated regional mobility policy. 

In 2005, the I-5/405 Freeway Loop Advisory Group (FLAG) completed its review of the 
near- and long-term transportation, land use, and urban design issues regarding the I-
5/405 Freeway Loop. Appointed by Mayor Vera Katz and the ODOT Director in 2003, the 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-40 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

24-member group developed and evaluated concepts to address identified transportation 
issues and needs. The concepts represented a range of options that included modest 
improvements within existing right-of-way, a One-Way Loop System, and a full tunnel 
that would connect the Freeway Loop to I-84 and Sunset Highway. The three concepts 
were evaluated against the region’s proposed transportation system, along with projected 
employment and household growth, for the year 2030.  

In completing its initial review, FLAG found that additional master planning work is 
needed to identify, prioritize and fund specific projects, and that short-term or interim 
investments should move forward while the master planning work is being completed. 
FLAG recommended that planning on I-84/I-5 interchange and the I-5 elements of South 
Portland Plan contemplated in the area of the interchange of I-405 and I-5 may proceed 
independent of the Master Plan with the understanding that the final plan for any such 
project would be consistent with the Master Plan. In addition, the study recommended 
advancing a corridor refinement plan to begin to identify short-term and long-term 
investments and a recommended scope, problem statement and set of principles:  

Scope 

• Develop an overall Freeway Loop Corridor Refinement Plan that will guide public 
investment for improvements to the I-5/405 Freeway Loop. 

• Develop a phasing strategy for implementation of the Master Plan. Include the 
currently approved Regional Transportation Plan improvements as well as new 
elements. 

• Identify and pursue a funding strategy. 

As directed by the FLAG’s recommendations, planning proceeded on the I-84/I-5 section 
of the Loop under the N/NE Quadrant and the I-5 Broadway-Weidler Interchange 
Improvement Planning process. The key recommendations from the adopted 2012 N/NE 
Quadrant Plan include: 

• Preserving and enhancing Lower Albina by protecting the working harbor and 
increasing land use flexibility that promotes a mix of uses on historic Russell Street 
and greater employment densities; 

• Protecting historic neighborhoods and cultural resources; 

• Concentrating high density development in the Lloyd District, with a focus on new 
residential development that will add activity and vibrancy to the district; 

• Providing amenities, such as parks, street improvements and green infrastructure to 
support and encourage new development; 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-41 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

• Improving regional access and local street safety and connectivity for all modes; 

• Encouraging sustainable development that supports the Lloyd EcoDistrict and goals 
for improved environmental health; 

• Future changes to zoning and building height regulations that implement the plan 
goals. 

Key recommendations for the I-5 Broadway-Weidler Plan include: 

• Adding auxiliary lanes and full-width shoulders to improve traffic weaves and allow 
disabled vehicles to move out of traffic lanes; 

• Rebuilding structures at Broadway, Weidler, Vancouver and Williams and adding a lid 
over the freeway that will simplify construction, increase development potential and 
improve the urban environment; 

• Moving the I-5 southbound on-ramp to Weidler to improve circulation and safety; 

• Improving conditions for pedestrian and bicycle travel by adding new connections 
over the freeway and safer pedestrian and bicycle facilities in the interchange area. 

The recommendations of the N/NE Quadrant Plan were incorporated in the recently 
adopted Central City 2035. In addition, as part of the plan, ODOT and the City worked to 
designate the Central City as a Multimodal Mixed-Use Area (MMA). MMAs are State 
acknowledged high density, mixed use areas that are well served by multimodal 
transportation. MMA areas are exempt from mobility standards as part of land use 
amendments (safety and other State mandated policies remain in effect). In development 
of the MMA, the City and ODOT worked to identify safety improvements for the Loop 
(including the I-5 Broadway/Weidler Project), which were subsequently added to the 
City’s list of TSP projects and submitted to Metro as part of the 2018 RTP.  

Proposed Mobility Corridor Purpose Statement 

The purpose of the study is to develop alternative design concepts for Portland Central 
City Loop. Improvements to the I-5/4-5 Freeway Loop must address long-term 
transportation and land use needs in a system-wide context. Because the movement of 
people and goods is a vital economic function, changes must be considered in relation to 
local, regional, and statewide geographies. Freeway Loop improvements should enhance, 
not inhibit, high-quality urban development, and should function as seamless and integral 
parts of the community. 

Proposed Principles 

These objectives will guide the selection and evaluation of options in the next phase: 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-42 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

• Maintain or enhance transportation performance, including safe and reliable highway 
operations and enhanced transit performance. 

• Support a multi-modal strategy for automobiles, transit, trucks, bicycles, and 
pedestrians. 

• Support trade and freight movement to facilitate regional and state economic 
development. 

• Support local, regional, and state land use plans. 

• Ensure regional accessibility to and from the Central City to reinforce its significant 
statewide, regional, and national economic role. 

• Support economic activities and new investments in the Central City and in adjacent 
industrial areas. 

• Improve the quality of the built environment and multimodal connections across 
facilities. 

• Avoid or minimize negative impacts on the natural and built environments. 

• Evaluate facility improvement costs relative to the distribution of benefits and 
impacts. 

• Develop strategies that can be implemented in phases, including consideration of 
congestion pricing such as that identified in the Regional Mobility Pricing Project. 

8.2.4.3 Clark County to I-5 via Gateway, Oregon City and Tualatin (Mobility Corridors 7, 8 
and 10) 

Note – This section will be further updated this Summer and informed by analysis of the RTP 
project list using the newly updated regional mobility policy. 

Improvements are needed in this corridor to address existing deficiencies and expected 
growth in travel demand in Clark, Multnomah and Clackamas counties. Transportation 
solutions in this corridor should address the following needs and opportunities: 

• Provide for some peak period and off-peak mobility and reliability for longer trips; 

• Preserve freight mobility from I-5 to Clark County, with an emphasis on connections 
to Highway 213, Highway 224 and Sunrise Corridor; 

• Maintain an acceptable level of access to the Oregon City, Clackamas and Gateway 
regional centers and Sunrise industrial area; 

• Maintain acceptable levels of access to PDX, including air cargo access; 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-43 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

• Coordinate refinement planning activities with planning for the Stafford area; 

• Adding general purpose lanes to I-205 should be considered to meet state and 
regional policies to bring the freeway up to three through lanes in each direction in 
the southern section from Oregon City to I-5 and to allow for potential of bus-on-
shoulder operations for bypassing of traffic queues on I-205 during periods of 
congestion; 

• Expanded transit service in the corridor including provision of I-205 express bus 
service between Clackamas regional center and Bridgeport in Tualatin, and frequent 
bus service between Clackamas regional center and Clackamas Community College via 
downtown Oregon City; 

• Extend high capacity transit service from Milwaukie to Oregon City along McLoughlin 
Boulevard; 

• Complete gaps in the I-205 Multi-use path - including southernmost segment from 
Oregon City to Tualatin - to provide a continuous off-street active transportation route 
through the length of the mobility corridor; and  

• Interchange improvements, auxiliary lanes and other major operational 
improvements such as ramp improvements and other weaving area improvements in 
the corridor should also be considered. Specific projects to be considered to meet 
identified needs include:  

o Southbound truck climbing lanes from Willamette River to 10th St. 
interchange;  

o Interchange improvements at locations including: Division/Powell, Airport 
Way, OR213, OR 212/224, Sunrise, Johnson Creek Boulevard and others;  

o Auxiliary lanes, northbound and southbound in the following locations: Airport 
Way to Columbia Blvd., Columbia Blvd. to I-84, I-84 to Glisan, Glisan to 
Division/Powell, Division/Powell to Foster, Foster to Johnson Creek Boulevard, 
OR 212/224 to Gladstone, Gladstone to OR 99E;  

o Widen to 6 lanes from Stafford Interchange to Willamette River;  

o Widen Abernethy Bridge to 6 lanes plus auxiliary lanes;  

o Improvements needed on OR 213 (82nd Avenue) include bicycle/pedestrian 
and streetscape improvements.  

o Implement tolling on I-205 between Stafford Road and the Abernathy Bridge. 

Potential transportation and land use solutions in this corridor should evaluate the 
potential of the following design concepts: 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-44 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

• Auxiliary lanes added from Airport Way to I-84 East; 

• Consider express HOV lanes as a strategy for expanding capacity; 

• Relative value of specific ramp, overcrossing and parallel route improvements; 

• Evaluate crash history of arterials and throughways in study area, with a focus on fatal 
and serious injury crashes, to inform potential transportation solutions and phasing; 

• Eastbound HOV lane from I-5 to the Oregon City Bridge; 

• Truck climbing lane south of Oregon City; 

• Potential for inter-city transit service, vanpool services and other travel options, 
to/from rural areas and neighboring cities in Clackamas County, to expand travel 
options and slow traffic growth in the I-205 corridor; 

• Potential for rapid bus transit service or light rail from Oregon City to Gateway; 

• Potential for extension of rapid bus service or light rail north from Gateway into Clark 
County; 

• Potential for refinements to 2040 land-use assumptions in this area to expand 
potential employment in the sub-area and improve jobs/housing imbalance; 

• Potential for re-evaluating the suitability of the Beavercreek area for urban growth 
boundary expansion, based on ability to serve the area with adequate regional 
transportation infrastructure; 

• Explore opportunities to support economic and land use goals with the Columbia 
Connections Strategy; 

• Provide recommendations to the Bi-State Coordination Committee prior to JPACT and 
Metro Council consideration of projects that have bi-state significance. 

8.2.4.4  Beaverton to Forest Grove (Mobility Corridors 14 and 15) 

Note – This section will be further updated this Summer and informed by analysis of the RTP 
project list using the newly updated regional mobility policy. 

A number of improvements are needed in this corridor to address existing deficiencies 
and serve increased travel demand. One primary function of this route is to provide 
access to and between the Beaverton and Hillsboro regional centers. Tualatin Valley 
Highway also serves as an access route to Highway 217 from points west along the 
Tualatin Valley Highway corridor. As such, the corridor is defined as extending from 
Highway 217 on the east to Forest Grove to the west, and from Farmington Road on the 
south to Baseline Road to the north.  



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-45 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

The Tualatin Valley Highway Corridor Plan (TVCP) is a “mobility corridor refinement” 
plan completed in June 2013. The TVCP studied the Beaverton to Hillsboro portion of the 
Beaverton to Forest Grove mobility corridor between Cedar Hills Boulevard (Beaverton 
Regional Center) and SE 10th Avenue/Maple Street (Hillsboro Regional Center). The 
northern boundary of the study area was Baseline Road/Jenkins road and the southern 
boundary was Farmington Road, Oak Street, Davis Street and Allen Boulevard. There are 
still two outstanding sections of the corridor left to be studied: within Beaverton (OR 217 
to SW Cedar Hills Blvd) and from Hillsboro (west of SE 10th Avenue/Maple Street) to 
Forest Grove.  

The TVCP was a joint effort between ODOT, Metro, the City of Hillsboro, the City of 
Beaverton and Washington County that focused an examination of the transportation 
system to identify needs and improvements for all modes of transportation. A number of 
improvements have been identified in this corridor to address existing deficiencies and 
safety concerns and serve increased travel demand.  

The TV Trail Concept Plan, a TGM funded plan by Washington County describes the 
selection of the two preferred near- and long-term opportunities to serve local and 
regional trail connectivity between SW 160th Avenue and Cornelius Pass Road. 

The East Forest Grove Safety Action Plan examined the portion of OR 8 between Forest 
Grove and Cornelius. The plan identified multi-modal improvements to address safety 
along this section of the corridor. 

A long-term transit solution for Tualatin Valley Highway has yet to be identified. In 
advance of this transit study additional land area is to be preserved for Business Access 
Transit (BAT) / High Capacity Transit (HCT) uses. This land area is not intended to be 
used for general purpose through lanes. Development along Tualatin Valley Highway shall 
consider opportunities so as to not preclude a future Business Access and Transit lane in 
the westbound direction, and to not preclude Bus pullouts in the eastbound direction.  

RTP Design and Functional Classifications. 

Early in the project, the TVCP PG gave policy direction to maintain the design and function 
of TV Hwy as an urban arterial that will not exceed motorized vehicle capacity of two 
through travel lanes in each direction. Consistent with this decision, proposed actions 
along TV Hwy will be developed during subsequent refinement planning and design work 
to maximize the use of the typical 100 feet to 107 feet of existing right-of-way (ROW) to 
serve multimodal travel. Additionally, the RTP Arterial & Throughway map and System 
Design Classification maps are amended. TV Highway will be changed from “Principal 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-46 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

arterial” to “Major Arterial” on the Arterial & Throughway map. It will be changed from 
“Throughway” to “Regional Street” on the System Design map.  

The TVCP recommendations fall into 3 categories: 1) Near Term Actions, 2) Opportunistic 
Actions, and 3) Longer Term Refinement Planning Needs. 

Near Term Actions 

The proposed improvements described below will address existing needs, including 
multimodal system completeness and safety, and can reasonably be expected to be 
completed within the next 15 years with a strong commitment from one or more of the 
partner agencies that have jurisdiction over subject transportation facilities, including:  

• Complete detailed multi-agency study to determine future potential for high capacity 
transit solutions within the Tualatin Valley Highway corridor; 

• The Moving Forward TV Highway Plan will be developed as a multi-agency study that 
determine nature and feasibility of HCT in the Tualatin Valley Highway corridor 
between SW 160th Ave and Cornelius Pass Road; 

• Multi-modal safety improvements from the East Forest Grove Safety Action Plan 

• Improve bus stops along Tualatin Valley Highway; 

• More frequent bus service;  

• Add street lighting on Tualatin Valley Highway;  

• Improve Tualatin Valley Highway pedestrian crossings;  

• Complete Planning and Conceptual design for a Multi-use path;  

• Fill gaps in sidewalks and add landscape buffers along Tualatin Valley Highway;  

• Add directional way finding signs;  

• Complete the (currently discontinuous and narrow) bike lanes on Tualatin Valley 
Highway;  

• Improve bike crossings of Tualatin Valley Highway;  

• Develop continuous east-west parallel bike routes north and south of Tualatin Valley 
Highway;  

• Public community rail safety education;  

• Support and promote employer incentive programs to reduce driving;  

• Improve signal timing, transit prioritization and traffic operations monitoring;  



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-47 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

• Signal prioritization for transit;  

• Adaptive signal control (“smart signals” that adjust timing to congestion levels);  

• Improve operations at signalized intersections along Tualatin Valley Highway;  

• Intersection modification to address safety and mobility; and 

• Left-turn signal improvements.  

Opportunistic Actions 

Understanding that funding opportunities (whether public funding or public funding in 
combination with private sources) may arise for transportation improvements within the 
TVCP Project Area to work towards to meet the goals and objectives of the TVCP, while 
attempting to:  

• Encourage private contributions by developers to implement the near term 
improvements, including reserving ROW for future transportation improvements (City 
of Hillsboro, City of Beaverton, Washington County).  

• Acquire the ROW to develop a westbound business access transit (BAT) lane as 
redevelopment opportunities arise on Tualatin Valley Hwy. The City of Hillsboro may 
also require all half-street improvements be constructed to include the setback curb, 
planter strip, and sidewalk improvement to create an amenable environment for 
future transit solutions on Tualatin Valley Highway. This redevelopment should be 
consistent with ODOT standards. The City of Hillsboro has determined that a BAT lane 
would not provide the anticipated benefit for transit service and therefore the city 
isn’t acquiring ROW to develop the BAT lane as redevelopment opportunities occur on 
TV Hwy check with Gregg Snyder about this. The Moving Forward TV Highway 
Enhanced Transit and Access Plan will look at whether there are benefits of using a 
BAT lane in part of the corridor from 160th to Cornelius Pass Road. 

• As projects arise from appropriate categories examine whether opportunities are 
available to use other funds to leverage this funding (e.g., safety) (ODOT, consulting 
with partners). 

• As land use and transportation system conditions change and near term 
improvements are completed, consider the opportunity to update this adaptive 
corridor management strategy (all partners). 

• Improve existing north-south routes for all modes to reduce travel demand on 
Tualatin Valley Highway and congestion at intersections. Improvements to roadways 
such as Brookwood Avenue, Century Boulevard, Cornelius Pass Road, 209th Avenue, 
198th Avenue, 185th Avenue, and 170th Avenue would provide the greatest benefit to 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-48 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

the overall transportation system. Five improvements on 198th Avenue south of 
Tualatin Valley Highway are scheduled in the next five years through Washington 
County’s Major Streets Transportation Improvement Program. The other three 
corridors will require a more opportunistic approach, including working with 
developers of South Hillsboro to help improve 209th Avenue (City of Hillsboro, City of 
Beaverton, Washington County).  

• Improve east-west connectivity (such as those proposed in the upcoming South 
Hillsboro UGB development mitigation) in addition to the near term actions proposed 
in South Hillsboro such as the Kinnaman and Rosa Road extensions (City of Hillsboro, 
City of Beaverton, Washington County).  

• Complete the bicycle and pedestrian system in the TVCP Project Area to increase 
connectivity and access.  

• Implement improvements identified in the Tualatin Valley Trail Concept Plan 

• Examine transit service for enhancements and improvements in the near term 
improvements list to leverage added service or other capital enhancements. TriMet 
has been awarded two Statewide Transportation Improvement Program (STIP) 
projects (Highway 8 Corridor Safety and Access to Transit) for improved safety, active 
transportation, access to transit and transit operations by improving bus stops, 
constructing landing pads, and enhancing crossings. ODOT will be enhancing two 
pedestrian crossings, infilling sidewalks, consolidating bus stops, providing transit 
queue jumps at one location and improving a bus stop For the second application 
(between 110th Avenue and SW 209th Avenue on TV Hwy), the project will enhance 
four pedestrian crossing locations, install buffered bike lanes between 153rd and 182nd 
Aves, consolidate bus stops, install illumination, ped actuation and signal interconnect 
at 141st/142nd and 174th, install physically separated walkways and bike lanes on 
bridge sections between 153rd and 160th Ave and the between 30th and 40th Aves.  

• Reduce vehicle turn movements to/from driveways on TV Highway. This would 
improve safety and mobility of pedestrians, bicyclists, and motorists on TV Hwy. 
Further access consolidations are recommended in conjunction with other property 
redevelopment.  

Long Term Refinement Planning Needs  

The refinement plan was unable to adequately address some longer term planning 
aspirations for the corridor. The following should be addressed as part of a future 
corridor refinement plan:  



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-49 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

• The preferred location (e.g. on or adjacent to Tualatin Valley Highway) and most 
viable transit mode (e.g., bus rapid transit, express bus service, light rail, streetcar, or 
commuter rail) and amount of right-of-way needed for a long-term HCT solution for 
Tualatin Valley Highway. This transit alternative analysis study may explore enhanced 
signal operations for transit and/or the viability of a Business Access Transit (BAT) 
lane in appropriate locations. The Moving Forward TV Highway Enhanced Transit and 
Access Plan will determine the nature and feasibility of HCT in the corridor primarily 
between 160th and Cornelius Pass Rd. 

• The location of a multi-use pathway parallel to Tualatin Valley Highway as per the 
Tualatin Valley Trail Concept Plan.  

• The location of new local street connections, in concert with access management along 
Tualatin Valley Highway.  

• While grade separated intersections are not included in the plan, it is recognized that 
in the long term, all tools should be considered to maintain acceptable intersection 
performance to serve future transportation and community needs.  

 

 

8.2.4.5  Powell-Division Corridor: Portland Central City to Lents Town Center and 
Lents Town Center to Gresham Regional Center (Mobility Corridors 19 and 20) 

Note – This section will be further updated this Summer and informed by analysis of the RTP 
project list using the newly updated regional mobility policy. 

The Powell-Division Corridor is included in Mobility Corridors #19 and #20. The Mobility 
Corridor Strategy identified in 2014 RTP Appendix 3.1 notes that both corridors are 
anticipated to experience high levels of growth in employment and population by the year 
2040. 

A number of investments are needed in these corridors to address existing deficiencies 
and serve increased travel demand.  

The Powell-Division Transit and Development Plan alternative analysis identified a 
project – now called the Division Transit Project - that addresses some of the needs 
identified for the Powell-Division Corridor by improving transit and safety on Division 
Street with a bus rapid transit project. The Division Transit Project went into revenue 
service in September 2022. The Division Transit Project does not fully address the transit, 
safety, and mobility needs that remain on Powell Boulevard.  



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-50 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

The Division Transit bus rapid transit project traverses from downtown Portland to 
downtown Gresham on Division Street through southeast Portland. Project partners 
recognized that Powell Boulevard improvements are still needed to address safety and 
mobility needs for all modes and supply essential transit connections in this corridor. 
Also, a number of steering committee members qualified their votes of support for the 
Locally Preferred Alternative as contingent upon a commitment to further study Powell 
Boulevard to address safety and mobility needs moving forward. Based on community 
feedback and analysis during the Powell-Division Transit and Development project, the 
City of Portland included language documenting this recommendation in their LPA 
adopting resolution, as follows: 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that Metro advance Powell Boulevard for regional 
consideration and prioritization within the High Capacity Transit planning process, and 
amend the Regional Transportation Plan to assert continued need for Powell Boulevard 
transit improvements. 

The Powell-Division Corridor is included in Mobility Corridors #19 and #20. The Mobility 
Corridor Strategy identified in 2014 RTP Appendix 3.1 notes that both corridors are 
anticipated to see high levels of growth in employment and population by the year 2040.  

Mobility Corridor #19 provides an important connection between the Portland Central 
City and the Lents Town Center and provides important freight access to rail facilities at 
Brooklyn Yard and access from Powell Boulevard and McLoughlin Boulevard to the 
Central Eastside Industrial District. This corridor also serves statewide and regional 
travel on Powell Boulevard (US 26), which serves as a statewide and regional freight 
route between I-5 and I-205.  

The corridor does not meet regional performance thresholds (does not perform as it 
should) for its throughways (Powell Boulevard) and arterials (Division and Holgate 
streets) as defined in the RTP due to high volume to capacity ratios. 

Strategies adopted in 2014 RTP Appendix 3.1 to improve the corridor include: 

Near term:  

• System and demand management along Powell Boulevard and parallel facilities for all 
modes of travel. 

• Improved, safe pedestrian and bicycle crossings of Powell Boulevard. 

• Modify existing signals, coordinate and optimize signal timing to improve traffic 
operations on Powell Boulevard. 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-51 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

• Prioritize and construct safety and streetscape improvements from SE 50th to SE 84th 
Avenue. 

Medium term:  

• Improve safety by all modes and enhance opportunities for use of bicycles, walking 
and transit on Powell Boulevard. 

• Identify and implement potential changes to the cross section of Foster Road based on 
the Foster Streetscape Plan. 

The Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) is constructing improvements to help 
people get around busy Outer SE Powell Boulevard more safely. The Outer Powell 
Transportation Safety Project stretches between I-205 and Portland/Gresham city limits, 
just east of SE 174th Avenue. These safety improvements will reduce the frequency and 
severity of crashes and help vehicles, pedestrians, transit and bicyclists share the road 
with fewer conflicts. 

Roadway, bike and pedestrian safety improvements include: 

• Sidewalks where there are none now 

• Mix of separated and sidewalk level bike lanes 

• Center turn lanes for cars, buses and trucks for safer turns and to reduce back-ups 

• Storm drains to prevent water from pooling on the road 

• Lighting for improved visibility 

• New waterline in some areas 

• New traffic signals  

• Mid-block flashing light pedestrian crossing beacons (Rectangular Rapid Flashing 
Beacons) to alert drivers that people are crossing the street 

ODOT expects completion of construction in 2024. 

Additionally, for the segment of SE Powell Boulevard between the Ross Island Bridge and 
I-205, ODOT is working with the City of Portland to implement safety investments such as 
enhanced crossings and speed feedback signs, and studying roadway configuration 
options  to increase safety for all users.  

Mobility Corridor #20 provides an important connection between the Lents Town Center 
and the Gresham Regional Center. The corridor provides important freight access, 
connecting I-205 to Gresham and the Springwater Industrial Area. In addition, the 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-52 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

corridor serves statewide travel, connecting to routes that lead to destinations outside the 
region such as the Mt Hood Recreational Area and Sandy Oregon.  

Similar to Mobility Corridor #19, Mobility Corridor #20 is expected to experience high 
levels of employment and population growth by 2040 and does not meet regional 
performance thresholds for its throughways (Powell Boulevard) and arterials (Division 
and Foster streets) as defined in the Regional Transportation Plan due to high volume to 
capacity ratios. 

Strategies adopted in 2014 RTP Appendix 3.1 to improve the corridor include: 

• Near term: System and demand management along the Powell Boulevard and parallel 
facilities for all modes of travel. 

• Medium term: Implement a three-lane cross-section on Powell Boulevard from I-205 
to SE 174th Avenue with bicycle and pedestrian improvements. 

• Long term: Implement additional capacity enhancements along Powell Boulevard 
from 162nd to 174th Avenue as needed. Additional enhancements may include 
intersecting north-south streets along Powell Boulevard. 

8.2.4.6  Hillsboro to Portland (Mobility Corridors 13 and 14) 

Note – This section will be further updated this Summer and informed by analysis of the RTP 
project list using the newly updated regional mobility policy. Additionally, some data used in 
the 2018 RTP will be updated prior to RTP adoption. 

Washington County is growing faster than its neighbors in the region, and with that 
growth comes an increased need to move more people and freight. The Sunset Highway 
(US 26) Corridor is a critical thoroughfare for residents, commuters, and the regional 
economy, but current conditions result in vehicle congestion, diversion, and unreliable 
travel times for people driving, riding transit, and moving freight. These transportation 
deficiencies adversely affect the safety, affordability, and livability of the area and can 
impede economic competitiveness.   

Centered on the US 26 (Sunset Highway) from Hillsboro to Portland, the Westside 
Multimodal Improvements Study was recommended in the 2018 RTP and kicked off in 
January 2022. The study’s purpose was to address transportation challenges that affect 
the movement of people and goods between Hillsboro’s Silicon Forest, Northern 
Washington County’s agricultural freight, and the Portland Central City, the international 
freight distribution hub of I-5 and I-84, the Port of Portland marine terminals, rail 
facilities, and the Portland International Airport.  



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-53 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

ODOT and Metro co-managed the study in partnership with local agencies, business 
representatives, and community-based organizations. The study was guided by a Project 
Management Group, made up of technical staff from partner agencies, and a Steering 
Committee composed of decision-making representatives from each of the agencies that 
have jurisdiction or ownership of infrastructure or systems considered in the planning 
process.  An analysis of existing conditions data helped to define the issues and needs 
within the corridor and are framed here in the context of five priority areas: mobility and 
reliability, safety, social equity, climate action, and economic vitality.  

Mobility and Reliability 

Corridor #13, which extends east to the Willamette River including the western portion of 
Portland’s Central City and Corridor #14 extending west from Murray Boulevard to North 
Plains will account for 22 percent of the region’s households, 20 percent of the region’s 
population, and 31 percent of the region’s employment by 2040.  

Since the Covid-19 pandemic, we’ve seen changes in travel patterns, including fewer 
people transit, fewer people commuting daily to workplaces, and more people working 
from home or on flexible schedules. Meanwhile, jobs that require in-person attendance 
such as manufacturing, agriculture, retail, hospitality and maintenance are often not 
centrally located and may have work shifts that cover 24 hours of the day. These changes 
have resulted in afternoon traffic congestion occurring earlier in the day and lasting 
longer than before the pandemic.  

Corridor #13, which includes the Sunset Highway and its array of complementary parallel 
arterial roadways (Cornelius Pass Road, Germantown Road, Cornell Road, 
Barnes/Burnside Road, and Beaverton-Hillsdale Highway), carries approximately 
229,150 vehicles per day comprising roughly 390,000 person-trips per day. Of the total 
vehicle trips, Sunset Highway carries 160,000 vehicles per day, including 6,000 trucks, 
and Cornelius Pass Road serves approximately 11,000 vehicles per day.   

At present, transit carries approximately 18,710 person-trips per weekday on the MAX 
Blue Line, the MAX Red Line, and multiple bus lines serving the parallel arterials in the 
corridor. Of those total trips, approximately 11,500 occur on the MAX Blue and Red Lines. 
Bus lines serving the Sunset Highway corridor include Line 47 (720 weekday boardings), 
Line 48 (1200 average weekday boardings), Line 57 (5,240 average weekday boardings) 
and Line 59 (50 average weekday boardings). This is a decrease from pre-pandemic 
transit use. TriMet plans to open the western extension of the MAX Red Line to Hillsboro’s 
Airport/Fair Complex Station in fall 2024.   



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-54 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

The existing transit network in the westside of the Metro area has limited north-south bus 
routes, some routes have infrequent service, and may require multiple transfers to reach 
a destination. Efforts such as TriMet’s Forward Together concept, the Washington County 
Transit Study, and Metro’s High-Capacity Transit Strategy include plans for transit 
enhancements and future investments to meet existing transit needs and accommodate 
future growth in the Westside Corridor.    

Economic Vitality 

The Sunset Highway corridor is a major employment center in the region. Many of the 
region’s top private employers call the area home including Intel, Nike, Tektronix, Reser’s 
Fine Foods, Qorvo, and Salesforce, among others. Top public sector employers include 
local school districts, city and county governments, hospitals, and health care providers.   

The semiconductor industry expansion presents Oregon with an opportunity to create the 
kind of jobs and investment the state needs for a strong economy, and this area is often 
referred to as Oregon’s “Silicon Forest.” In July 2022 Congress passed the $52 billion 
CHIPS Act to boost domestic semiconductor manufacturing and design. This creates an 
opportunity to solidify Oregon’s position as a world leader in semiconductor innovation 
and expand semiconductor design and manufacturing development in Washington 
County. New industrial development will place additional demand on our transportation 
system and a greater need for freight mobility and reliability through the Sunset Highway 
corridor.  

Outreach done during the Westside Multimodal Improvements Study reinforced freight-
related concerned identified during the 2013 Westside Freight Access and Logistics 
Analysis Oregon’s export economy relies heavily on the computer and electronics 
industry, which accounts for over 60% of state’s exports, and valued $15 billion in 2021. 
This industry is primarily located in the region’s Westside, and depends on a tightly 
managed supply chain to efficiently bring products to markets that are mostly outside of 
the greater Portland area. Addressing freight mobility challenges experienced by the 
Westside computer and electronics industry will likely also benefit the footwear, apparel, 
medical/dental, biopharma and agriculture industries in Washington County. 

Freight movement between the Westside industries and the PDX freight consolidation 
area and the Portland International Airport depends on two routes: 

• US 26 eastbound to I-405 northbound to I-5 Northbound to Columbia Boulevard; and 

• Cornelius Pass Road northbound to US 30 southbound to Columbia Boulevard via the 
St. Johns Bridge. 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-55 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

US 26 eastbound between Highway 217 and I-405 ranks among the top bottlenecks in the 
region.  Travel times can vary up to 20 minutes or more for a typical trip from Hillsboro’s 
employment areas to PDX, due largely to traffic on US26. This lack of reliability means 
that freight haulers and commuters can’t be certain how long a trip will take them, leading 
to lost productivity. US26 has the highest freight volume of all non-interstate highways in 
the region, but freight trips make up just five percent of total trips on US26. Meanwhile, 
freight trips account for sixteen percent of total trips on Cornelius Pass Road, indicating it 
is a preferred route for many freight haulers.     

Work commute estimates based on Street Light Data indicate that a significant number of 
people commute into the area for work. Data shows that about 97,000 people per 
weekday commute to the Westside Multimodal Improvements Study area. About 27,000 
both live and work in the study area and have local commute trips, while another 64,000 
people live in the study area and commute to jobs elsewhere in the region.  

Safety 

Many of the key arterials in the Sunset Highway Corridor are identified among Metro’s 
2016-2020 High Injury Corridors. These are roadways in the greater Portland area where 
the highest concentrations of serious crashes involving a motor vehicle occur. The top five 
most dangerous corridors within the study area include: Tualatin Valley Highway, 
Baseline Rd, Cornell Rd, Cornelius Pass Rd, and Farmington Rd.  A total of 15,000 crashes 
occurred between 2015-2019 in the study area, with 53% of crashes resulting in injury. 
Of these, 223 crashes involved pedestrians and 188 crashes involved bicyclists.  

With congestion becoming more pervasive on US 26 in the area of the Vista Ridge Tunnels 
and the I-405 interchange, traffic crashes have continued to increase. Cumulatively, there 
are 10 discreet locations on US 26 between I-405 and Highway 217 that rank in the state’s 
top 10 percent of crash high-priority locations statewide. 

Sunset Highway at the Vista Ridge tunnels prohibits the hauling of hazardous materials. 
Petroleum products used to fuel vehicles in the Tualatin Valley and chemicals, including 
but not limited to industrial gases used in the manufacturing of silicon wafer products, 
commonly use Cornelius Pass Road with Highway 217 as the secondary route. 

Both the Sunset Highway corridor and the secondary freight route of Cornelius Pass Road 
are susceptible to recurring incidents such as crashes, landslides, and trees blocking the 
roadways. In both cases, the regional transportation system lacks “redundancy” to 
accommodate any unforeseen impediments to travel. Similarly, both corridors (and their 
Willamette River bridges) are not likely to prove reliable and sustainable in the event of a 
Cascadia earthquake. 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-56 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

Social Equity 

People living within the Sunset Highway corridor are more racially diverse than the 
region and state, with over 37% residents of color. Forty-five percent of households are 
renters, which is higher than the regional average.     

Many areas throughout the corridor score high on TriMet’s transit equity index, reflecting 
higher concentrations of people of color, low-income households, people with low English 
proficiency, people with disabilities, older adults, youth, households with poor vehicle 
access, access to affordable housing, access to low/medium wage jobs, access to 
services. Higher scores indicate a potential for higher need for increased transit service, 
particularly in areas south of US 26.    

Climate 

Land use patterns and past infrastructure investments in the study area prioritized auto 
vehicle travel, which contribute to continued reliance on personal vehicles to meet 
people’s daily travel needs. This pattern results in high vehicle miles traveled (VMT) and 
contributes to greenhouse gas emissions from gasoline powered vehicles. Frequent 
congestion on US 26 and nearby facilities contributes to traffic diversion to other routes, 
increased vehicle miles traveled (VMT), inefficient vehicle operation, and vehicle idling, 
all of which contribute to greenhouse gas emissions in the region. 

Recommended Transportation Investments  

The Westside Multimodal Improvements Study produced a list of transportation 
investments that are intended to address the identified issues and needs in the Sunset 
Highway corridor. Investment options were evaluated based on how well they addressed 
mobility and reliability, safety, social equity, climate action, and economic vitality. The 
Westside Multimodal Improvements Study developed an Implementation Plan that 
outlines priority investments for the region to advance for future project development 
and funding, including project descriptions, lead agencies, cost ranges, benefits, issues, 
and dependent projects.   

[PLACEHOLDER FOR RECOMMENDED INVESTMENT OPTIONS & DESCRIPTIONS]  



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-57 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

8.3 PROJECTS 

8.3.1 Major Project Development 

Transportation improvements where the need, mode, function and general location is 
identified in the RTP and local plans are expected to be further refined during detailed 
project development. For major projects, project development is generally completed 
jointly by affected or sponsoring agencies, in coordination and consultation with Metro. 
For purposes of the RTP, major projects are defined as large-scale, complex investments 
in the transportation system that typically cost $500 million or more regardless of the 
source of funding for the total project and is likely to receive state or federal financial 
assistance. Projects with total costs between $100 million and $500 million may also be 
considered major projects and are currently considered major projects for the purposes 
of the Metropolitan Transportation Improvement Program (MTIP). FHWA requires all 
projects with costs of $100 million or more to have financial plans updated annually. 
Major projects typically have a high level of public, legislative or congressional interest, 
may be constructed in multiple phases and are anticipated to go through one of the 
planning processes identified below.  

The purpose of project development is to consider project design details and select a 
specific project alignment, as necessary, after evaluating engineering, management and 
design alternatives, potential environmental impacts and consistency with applicable 
comprehensive plans, the Oregon Transportation Plan and the RTP. The TPR defines 
project development as, “implementing the transportation system plan by determining 
the precise location, alignment and preliminary design of improvements included in the 
TSP based on site-specific engineering and environmental studies,” (660-012-005 (36)). 
The project need, mode, function and general location do not need to be addressed again 
at the project level, since these decisions have been previously documented in the 
adopted corridor refinement plan or RTP project list.  

For projects of regional significance with multiple jurisdictions, decisions may be 
documented through adoption of a Locally Preferred Alternative. Project development 
decisions for projects that qualify for a Categorical Exclusion under NEPA can be 
documented by other means in accordance with the responsible agency’s procedures. 

Once the RTP or corridor refinement plans have established mode, function, general 
location, and identified solutions, project development may also result in recommended 
phasing of improvements.  

A summary of progress on major project development activities follows. 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-58 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

Table 8.5 Progress (as of 2023) on Major Project Development 

Project Status 
Interstate 5 Bridge Replacement (IBR) 
Project 

LPA approved in July 2008. 
Record of decision signed by FHWA in 
December 2011. 
Project development work discontinued in 
2013 in Washington and 2014 in Oregon. 
Joint Washington and Oregon Legislative Action 
Committee discussions begin in 2017. 
Partner agencies confirmed support for 
Modified LPA  
Draft Supplemental Impact Statement in 
development, plan to publish Summer 2023 

Sunrise Project and Sunrise Community 
Visioning Project 

LPA approved in July 2009. 
Record of decision for Phase 1, Units 1, 2 and 3 
signed by FHWA in February 2011. 
Sunrise Jobs and Transportation Act (JTA) Phase 
1 related projects were completed in June 
2016. 
Environmental approval received for 
improvements on OR 224 at Rusk Road.  
In May 2023, Clackamas County initiated the 
Sunrise Community Visioning Project to engage 
community in the development of improved 
safety and increased mobility in the corridor. 
This process will include an updated LPA for 
OR212 and OR224 from 205 to 172nd Ave 
(Phase 2 and Phase 3 of the original project).  
The visioning project will include PEL 
framework and will lead into the necessary 
NEPA updates to advance the LPA.  The project 
will also include 10% design of the LPA. 

Southwest Corridor Project LPA approved in Nov. 2018. 
ROD received April 2022. 

I-5 Rose Quarter Improvement Project Supplemental Environmental Assessment 
published for public comment in 2022. 
Design phase in progress. 

I-205 Abernethy Bridge and Phase 1A 
Construction 

 Construction is underway.  
Column work is underway and will lead to the 
construction of the crossbeams in late 2023.   
Major drilled shaft work is anticipated to be 
complete by Fall 2023. 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-59 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

Mainline widening construction is anticipated 
to be complete by Fall 2025. 

I-205 Toll Project Environmental Assessment was published on 
Feb. 21, 2023. 
Environmental Assessment Public Comment 
Period ended April 21, 2023. 
Revised Environmental Assessment is 
anticipated as the next step. 

I-5 & I-205 Regional Mobility Pricing 
Project 

Planning and Environmental (PEL) phase was 
completed in Fall 2022. 
Environmental analysis process, under the 
National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA), was 
initiated in Nov. 2022. 
A scoping comment period was held from Nov. 
18 to Jan. 6, 2023. 
Environmental Assessment publication is 
anticipated by the end of 2023, followed by a 
public comment period and then a Revised 
Environmental Assessment is expected in 2024. 

I-5 Boone Bridge Replacement The project is currently in the Planning and 
Environmental Linkages (PEL) phase. 
The National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) 
class of action determination and preliminary 
planning activities are scheduled to be 
completed in late 2024 or early 2025. 

Earthquake Ready Burnside Bridge Preferred Alternative approved in March 2023.  
FHWA Record of Decision anticipated to be 
published in December 2023 
Design Phase anticipated to start, July 1, 2023. 

82nd Avenue Transit Project  Working towards an LPA in late 2023/early 
2024.  The NEPA process would begin in 2024 
after early corridor design and FTA 
determination of class of action. 

Tualatin Valley Highway Transit and 
Development Project 

LPA anticipated late 2023 

 

 

8.3.1.1 Interstate 5 Replacement (IBR) Program (previously Columbia River Crossing Project) 

Figure 8.5 Interstate Bridge Replacement Program 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-60 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

 

The Interstate Bridge is a critical connection between Oregon and Washington, located on 
Interstate 5 where it crosses the Columbia River. Replacing the aging Interstate Bridge 
across the Columbia River with a modern, earthquake resilient, multimodal structure that 
provides improved mobility for people, goods, and services is a high priority for Oregon 
and Washington. 

In July 2008, the Metro Council approved a Locally Preferred Alternative (LPA) for the 
Columbia River Crossing (CRC) project. In December 2011, the Federal Highway 
Administration (FHWA) and the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) approved the CRC 
LPA and issued a Record of Decision for the CRC project. The CRC project development 
work was discontinued in 2013 in Washington and in 2014 in Oregon. All six 
transportation problems identified during CRC remain unaddressed (congestion, 
earthquake vulnerability, safety, impaired freight movement, inadequate bike and 
pedestrian paths, and limited public transportation). 

The Interstate Bridge Replacement (IBR) program (as depicted in Figure 8.5) is a 
renewed effort jointly led by the Oregon Department of Transportation and the 
Washington State Department of Transportation in collaboration with eight regional 
partner agencies: Oregon Metro, Southwest Washington Regional Transportation Council, 
TriMet, C-TRAN, City of Portland, City of Vancouver, Port of Portland, and Port of 
Vancouver. These partners serve on an Executive Steering Group that provides regional 
leadership recommendations to the program. The IBR program continues to work with 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-61 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

the program partner agencies, stakeholders, and public to identify the best possible 
multimodal solution. 

In December 2021, FHWA and FTA provided their joint determination that a 
Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement (SEIS) is necessary to identify and 
disclose potential adverse impacts and mitigation that could result from changes that 
have happened since the 2011 CRC Record of Decision. The IBR program is leveraging 
work from previous planning efforts (CRC) where appropriate and updating prior studies 
to integrate new data, regional changes in transportation, land use, and demographic 
conditions, and public input to inform program development work.   

Through planning work and community outreach, the IBR program confirmed the six 
transportation problems identified in CRC still exist, and also added equity and climate as 
priorities.  To address the physical and contextual changes that have occurred in the 
program area since 2013, the IBR program developed design options, desired outcomes, 
and transit investments in coordination with program partners and input from the 
community.  

The design options were analyzed and narrowed down to a recommended Modified 
Locally Preferred Alternative (LPA). The Modified LPA was approved by the boards, 
councils, and commissions of each of the eight local partner agencies in the summer of 
2022. In July 2022, the Executive Steering Group reached a unanimous recommendation 
to move the program’s recommended Modified LPA into the federal environmental 
review process for further study.  

 The Modified LPA refers to an agreed upon set of components that will be further 
evaluated through the federal environmental review process as required by NEPA to 
better understand the benefits and impacts. The Modified LPA is not the final design of 
the replacement bridge, but it is a key milestone, setting the direction for the program as 
we start to test and evaluate plans for a new multimodal river crossing system. In some 
instances, multiple design concepts are being studied (e.g., park and ride locations, bridge 
configuration and roadway alignment) to better understand the range of impacts and 
better optimize the design. 

 Elements of the Modified LPA currently being studied includes: 

• Replacing the Interstate Bridge over the Columbia River 

• Replacing the North Portland Harbor Bridge over the Columbia Slough connecting 
Hayden Island to North Portland 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-62 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

• Constructing three through-lanes northbound and southbound throughout the 
program corridor with safety shoulders and the addition of one auxiliary lane in each 
direction 

• Connecting existing transit systems by extending light rail transit from Expo Center in 
Portland to Evergreen Boulevard in Vancouver in a dedicated guideway adjacent to I-5 
, including new bus on shoulder facilities in the project area, and connecting to C-
TRAN’s current and future Bus Rapid Transit lines as described in adopted regional 
plans 

• Improving seven interchange areas within the program area corridor: 

o Victory Blvd 

o Marine Drive 

o Hayden Island 

o SR 14 

o Mill Plain Blvd. 

o 4th Plain Blvd. 

o SR 500   

• Active transportation and multimodal facilities that adhere to universal design 
principles and facilitate safety and comfort for all ages and abilities including local and 
cross-river connections 

• Variable rate toll on motorists using the river crossing to manage demand and 
generate revenue for construction and facility operations and maintenance  

• A commitment to establish a GHG reduction target relative to regional transportation 
impact, and to develop and evaluate design solutions that contribute to achieving 
program and state-wide climate goals. 

• A commitment to evaluate program design options according to their impact on equity 
priority areas with screening criteria such as air quality, land use, travel reliability, 
safety, and improved access to all transportation modes and active transportation 
facilities. The Program also commits to measurable and actionable equity outcomes 
and to the development of a robust set of programs and improvements that will be 
defined in Community Benefits Agreement. 

The federal environmental review process, and corresponding environmental studies, will 
determine how the IBR program will move forward and what necessary work is needed 
to avoid, minimize, or mitigate negative effects to the physical and built environment. The 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-63 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

IBR program will disclose the findings of the environmental evaluation in a Draft SEIS, 
which is anticipated to be published in late 2023 for public review and comment. After the 
public comment period closes, the Modified LPA will be refined in response to public 
input and other design considerations. Refinements will result in a combined Final SEIS 
and Amended Record of Decision issued by FHWA and FTA, anticipated in late 2024. At 
this stage, the IBR program will be able to apply for permits, update cost estimates, and 
further design. Construction is anticipated to begin as early as late 2025. 

In December 2022, the IBR program released a cost estimate that reflects the Modified 
LPA components and includes updated market assumptions and program specific risk 
potential and cost savings opportunities. The current cost estimate ranges from $5 - $7.5 
billion, with a most likely cost of $6 billion. The IBR program assumes a combination of a 
variety of funding sources, including state, federal and toll revenue. 

Anticipated IBR Program Funding Sources:  

 

8.3.1.2  Sunrise Project and Sunrise Community Visioning Project 

The Sunrise Corridor is an essential freight route from I-5 and I-205 to U.S. 26 and central 
and eastern Oregon.  It provides access to the Clackamas Industrial Area, home to one of 
the state’s busiest and most critical freight distribution centers and the City of Happy 
Valley Rock Creek Employment Center with over 200 acres of employment and industrial 
land. The OR 212/224 corridor is currently failing and is not capable of handling the 
expected increase in traffic resulting from significant community development and 
industrial expansion in the corridor. 

In July 2009, the project’s Policy Review Committee (PRC) selected the Preferred 
Alternative for the Sunrise Project. The Preferred Alternative is Alternative 2 as studied in 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-64 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

the Supplemental Draft Environmental Impact Statement with Design Options C-2 and D-
3 and a portion of Design Option A-2 (Tolbert Overcrossing). A detailed description and 
map of the Sunrise Project original Preferred Alternative is included in Appendix Q. 

FHWA, ODOT and Clackamas County completed the Final Environmental Impact 
Statement (FEIS) for the Sunrise Project and on February 22, 2011, the FHWA signed a 
Record of Decision (ROD) that approves the Sunrise Corridor Preferred Alternative.  

The Sunrise Jobs and Transportation Act (JTA) Project constructed a new 2.5 mile road 
from I-205 to 122nd Avenue (as part of the larger Sunrise Project). The Oregon 
Legislature approved $100 million in JTA funding for this project, which was built to 
address congestion and safety problems in the OR 212/224 corridor and improve local 
roadway connections to the Lawnfield Industrial District. Construction for the JTA phase 
of the Sunrise Project was completed in June 2016 and opened for use on July 1, 2016. 

During development of Metro’s 2020 Funding measure the Sunrise Project underwent 
extensive redesign based on public input and feedback from the taskforce.  The effort 
culminated in a “right sized” cross section including 2 lanes in either direction and a suite 
of pedestrian and bicycle improvements on existing Highway 212.    

In 2021 the Oregon State Legislature allocated $4 Million dollars for the Sunrise Gateway 
Community Corridor Visioning Project to create a vision for the corridor through 
meaningful partnerships with the people who live, work and own businesses in the area. 
This project will analyze transportation and land use scenarios that also consider 
economic opportunities, community health, equity, other infrastructure, open space, and 
housing for the Sunrise Gateway Corridor along Highway 212 from 122nd Avenue to 
172nd Avenue. The Project will employ meaningful community engagement to create a 
vision that will identify challenges and opportunities to increase the safety and viability of 
the corridor for years to come.  

One of the products of this visioning project will be an updated LPA for the Sunrise 
Corridor based upon the updated cross section developed during Metro’s 2020 funding 
measure.    The project will be guided by the PEL framework and will lead into the update 
to the NEPA approval from the 2011 FEIS.   

Future phases of the Sunrise Project include the design and construction of improvements 
between SE 122nd Avenue and SE 172nd Avenue. 

8.3.1.3  Southwest Corridor Transit Project 

The Southwest Corridor Plan is a comprehensive effort focused on supporting 
community-based development and placemaking that targets, coordinates and leverages 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-65 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

public investments to make efficient use of public and private resources. The work was 
guided by a Steering Committee comprised of representatives from the cities of 
Beaverton, Durham, King City, Portland, Sherwood, Tigard and Tualatin; Washington 
County; and TriMet, ODOT and Metro. Steering Committee members agreed to use a 
collaborative approach to develop the Southwest Corridor Plan and a Shared 
Implementation Strategy to align local, regional, and state policies and investments in the 
corridor. In August 2011, the Metro Council adopted Resolution No. 11-4278 that 
appointed the Southwest Corridor Steering Committee, and a charter defining how the 
partners will work together was adopted by the Steering Committee in December 2011. 

In October 2013, the Metro Council adopted Resolution No. 13-4468A, endorsing the 
Southwest Corridor Shared Investment Strategy and directing staff to coordinate and 
collaborate with project partners on refinement and analysis of high capacity transit 
(HCT) alternatives and local connections in the Southwest Corridor, along with associated 
roadway, active transportation and parks/natural resource projects that support the land 
use vision for the corridor. This resolution also directed staff to work with project 
partners to involve stakeholders at key points in the process and seek input from the 
public.  

In June 2014, the Metro Council adopted Resolution No. 14-4540, which included 
direction to staff to study the Southwest Corridor Transit Design Options under NEPA in 
collaboration with the Southwest Corridor Plan project partners and with the 
involvement of stakeholders and public, pending Steering Committee direction on the 
results of the focused refinement analysis 

The Southwest Corridor Light Rail Project emerged as the preferred high capacity transit 
investment of the Southwest Corridor Shared Investment Strategy. The project is a 
proposed 11-mile MAX light rail extension serving SW Portland, Tigard, Tualatin and the 
surrounding communities. The proposed project also includes bicycle, pedestrian and 
roadway projects to improve access to light rail stations. In compliance with NEPA, and at 
the direction of the Metro Council, an Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) was 
prepared by Metro, TriMet and FTA. The Draft EIS, released in summer 2018, assessed the 
project alternatives remaining from over three years of analysis refinement and 
suggested ways to avoid, minimize or mitigate significant adverse impacts. The 
information disclosed in the Draft EIS, and public and agency comments on the Draft EIS, 
informed the Southwest Corridor Steering Committee in its recommendation of a LPA. In 
November 2018, the Metro Council adopted Resolution No. 18-4915 approving the 
Southwest Corridor LPA. The LPA is included in the RTP. 

The Final EIS was completed in January 2022 and the project received a Record of 
Decision in April 2022. 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-66 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

TriMet entered into FTA New Starts Project Development with in late 2018. Major Project 
Development activities took place in 2019 and 2020. Unfortunately, the project 
development activities, except NEPA, were put on pause in late 2020 when the regional 
transportation funding measure did not pass. The project officially withdrew from New 
Starts project Development in July 2022.  

Project leaders will reconvene in 2023 to discuss updated cost and ridership projections 
and begin conversations about possible paths forward for the project, which remains a 
regional priority. 

8.3.1.4  I-5 Rose Quarter Improvement Project 

Figure 8.6 I-5 Rose Quarter Improvement Project Location 

 

The purpose of the I-5 Rose Quarter Improvement Project is to improve the safety and 
operations on I-5 between I-405 and I-84, at the Broadway/Weidler interchange, and on 
adjacent surface streets in the vicinity of the Broadway/Weidler interchange, and to 
enhance multimodal facilities in the Project Area. In achieving the purpose, the Project 
also would support improved local connectivity and multimodal access in the vicinity of 
the Broadway/Weidler interchange and improve multimodal connections between 
neighborhoods east and west of I-5. Additional project benefits include improving safety 
and mobility on local streets, creating new space and new infrastructure to support 
community development with the construction of a highway cover over a portion of I-5 
and developing a diverse and skilled workforce.  

This 1.8-mile stretch of highway is the only two-lane section of I-5 in a major urban area 
between Canada and Mexico. It has the highest crash rate on any urban interstate in 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-67 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

Oregon and is the state's top traffic bottleneck. The project addresses the critical need to 
keep Oregon's people and economy moving. Key elements of the project design include: 

• New ramp-to-ramp connections (auxiliary lanes) in each direction of I-5 between I-84 
and I-405 to reduce vehicle weaving, create safer merging and improve connections 
between interchanges. 

• Wider shoulders in each direction of I-5 between I-84 and I-405, providing space for 
stalled vehicles to move out of traffic and for emergency vehicles to respond to 
emergencies more quickly (this includes adding 12-foot-wide outside shoulders SB 
from Broadway off-ramp to the I-84 off-ramp and NB from I-84 on-ramp to I-405 off-
ramp and adding 8 foot-wide inside shoulders in both directions, except under the 
highway cover where shoulders would be 5 feet wide). 

• A highway cover over I-5 that reconnects local streets and creates new community 
spaces on top for future development and economic opportunities. 

• A new east-west roadway crossing over I-5 that reconnects Hancock Street across the 
highway, adding another crossing north of Broadway/Weidler. 

• Enhanced bicycle and pedestrian facilities on Broadway and Weidler to facilitate the 
City of Portland’s Green Loop, a planned 6-mile bike and pedestrian path that allows 
people to travel safely through the heart of the city. 

• Multimodal local street improvements including wider paths, curb ramps that are 
accessible in accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and better 
lighting for people walking, biking and rolling. 

• Relocation of the I-5 southbound off-ramp to maximize space for new developable 
land on the highway cover. 

Figure 8.6 shows the project location and Figure 8.7 the project features. 

More information is available at www.i5rosequarter.org. 

Figure 8.7 I-5 Rose Quarter Improvement Project Features 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-68 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

 
Source: ODOT 

In accordance with the National Environmental Policy Act, ODOT prepared and published 
an Environmental Assessment (EA) in 2019, and a Supplemental EA in 2022. Both times, 
the process included an opportunity for the public to review the findings and comment on 
the analysis. The Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) reviews all findings and public 
comments before making an environmental decision on a project. In response to public 
comment received on the 2022 Supplemental EA, project design refinements and updated 
technical analysis are underway and will be reflected in a Revised Supplemental EA that 
will accompany the environmental decision by the FHWA, expected by early 2024. Final 
design and construction will begin following completion of the environmental decision 
document. 

The project team will continue refining the design based on community input, including 
based on the public comments received during the 2022 Supplemental Environmental 
Assessment phase, and working with the City of Portland on a Community Framework 
Agreement to define the future development scenarios for the new highway cover land. 

8.3.1.5  I-205 Abernethy Bridge and Phase 1A Construction 

Phase 1A of the I-205 Improvements project will upgrade the Abernethy Bridge to 
withstand a major earthquake and will be the first earthquake-ready interstate structure 
across the Willamette River in the Portland metropolitan area.   

In addition to the seismic upgrades, the project will add auxiliary lanes across the 
Abernethy Bridge in each direction. This phase of the project will also include interchange 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-69 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

improvements to the interchanges directly north and south of the Abernethy Bridge at OR 
43 and OR 99E, respectively.  The interchange improvements will make travel safer, 
resulting in fewer crashes and better travel-time predictability. These improvements 
include removal of the current I-205 northbound on-ramp from OR 43. This will be 
replaced with a roundabout to access I-205 northbound. This will reduce crashes and 
conflicts with movements to and from OR 43. The project will also realign and widen the 
OR 99E on and off ramps providing added capacity. 

The project also includes construction of a sound wall near the southbound lanes of I-205 
at Exit 9 and new pedestrian and bicycle facilities around OR 43 and OR 99E to increase 
comfort for people walking and biking in these areas. Construction began in June 2022 
and is expected to end in fall 2025. Financing for this project was possible with financing 
tools authorized in HB3055 during the 2022 legislative session. 

Figure 8.8 I-205 South Widening and Seismic Improvements Project Area Map 

 

8.3.1.6 I-205 Toll Project (Includes Widening and Seismic Improvements) 

The proposed I-205 Toll Project would implement variable-rate tolls on the Interstate-
205 (I-205) Abernethy Bridge and Tualatin River Bridges to raise revenue for 
construction of planned improvements to I-205 and to manage congestion. Planned I-205 
improvements that are part of the I-205 Toll Project include widening a seven-mile 
portion of I-205 to construct a third travel lane in each direction between the Stafford 
Road interchange and the OR 43 interchange; constructing a northbound auxiliary lane 
between OR 99E and OR 213; replacing or reconstructing eight bridges between Stafford 
Road and OR 213 to withstand a major seismic event, and installing Traveler Information 
Signs (Active Traffic Management improvements). The I-205 Toll Project location is 
shown on Figure 8-9. 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-70 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

Figure 8.9 I-205 Toll Project Area Map 

 

As directed by Oregon House Bill 2017 and the Oregon Transportation Commission, 
Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) prepared the Portland Metro Area Value 
Pricing Feasibility Analysis, which determined that congestion pricing could be used to 
help improve travel on I-5 and I-205 during peak times and raise revenue for congestion-
relief projects. In December 2018, the Oregon Transportation Commission submitted a 
proposal to the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) seeking approval to continue 
the process of implementing tolls on I-5 and I-205. The I-205 Toll Project is being 
evaluated under the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) process and is allowed 
under the federal tolling authorization program codified in 23 U.S. Code Section 129.  

The planned I-205 improvements now included in the I-205 Toll Project were formally 
part of a different project, identified as the “I-205 South Corridor Widening and Seismic 
Improvements Project” in the 2018 Metro RTP (also referred to in environmental 
documentation and public information materials as the I-205: Stafford Road to OR 213 
Improvements Project or, simply, the I-205 Improvements Project). In 2021, Oregon 
House Bill 3055 provided financing options that allowed the first phase of the I-205 
Improvements Project to be constructed. This first phase, referred to as the I-205: Phase 
1A Project (Phase 1A), includes reconstruction of the Abernethy Bridge with added 
auxiliary lanes and improvements to the adjacent interchanges at OR 43 and OR 99E. 
However, ODOT determined that toll revenue would be needed to complete the remaining 
construction phases of the I-205 Improvements Project after Phase 1A. As such, the 
planned improvements (besides Phase 1A) were removed from the I-205 Improvements 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-71 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

Project and accompanying 2018 NEPA Documented Categorical Exclusion and are now 
included in the I-205 Toll Project.  

ODOT, in partnership with FHWA, has prepared an Environmental Assessment (EA) to 
evaluate the effects of the I-205 Toll Project on the human and natural environment in 
accordance with NEPA. The I-205 Toll Project responds to six key problems identified in 
the need statement: critical projects need construction funding; traffic congestion results 
in unreliable travel; traffic congestion affects freight movement; traffic congestion affects 
safety; traffic congestion contributes to climate change; and Oregon’s highway system is 
not seismically resilient.  

The EA was released for public and agency comment from February 21 to April 21, 2023. 
Following the comment period, ODOT may prepare a Revised EA that could include 
FHWA’s and ODOT’s responses to comments, additional environmental analysis as 
needed, and refinement and finalization of environmental commitments to avoid, 
minimize, and mitigate impacts. FHWA will issue a NEPA decision that could be a Finding 
of No significant Impact (FONSI). If a FONSI is issued, construction of the I-205 Project is 
expected to last approximately four years. 

As Oregon’s toll authority, the Oregon Transportation Commission will set toll rates, 
policies (including discounts and exemptions), and price escalation. As part of the Oregon 
Toll Program development, ODOT has committed to providing a low-income toll program 
when tolling begins. If tolling is approved, the Oregon Transportation Commission will 
ultimately set toll rates at levels sufficient to meet all financial commitments, fund Project 
construction and maintenance, and manage congestion. The Oregon Transportation 
Commission is expected to finalize toll rates about 6 months prior to toll implementation. 
ODOT could begin tolling in January 2026. 

8.3.1.7   I-5 & I-205 Regional Mobility Pricing Project 

The Regional Mobility Pricing Project (RMPP) will apply congestion pricing on all lanes of 
Interstate-5 (I-5) and Interstate-205 (I-205) to manage travel demand and traffic 
congestion on these facilities in the Portland, Oregon metropolitan area in a manner that 
will generate revenue for transportation system investments. The pricing varies by time 
of day according to a set schedule, which can be updated periodically by the Oregon 
Transportation Commission. Higher fees will be charged during peak travel periods (such 
as morning and evening peak hours) and lower fees during off-peak hours. Congestion 
pricing is intended to encourage motorists to plan travel in advance and allows traffic to 
flow more freely during peak times. The project is being developed with an all-electronic 
fee collection system.   



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-72 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

The Regional Mobility Pricing Project would apply congestion pricing within the following 
extents, as determined by legislation, with the exact locations to be determined during the 
federal NEPA process:  

• I-5 from the Hayden Island Drive interchange to, and including, the Boone Bridge over 
the Willamette River in Wilsonville.  

• I-205 from the Glenn Jackson Bridge to OR 213 in Oregon City and I-205 between 
Stafford Road and I-5. 

Figure 8.10  Regional Mobility Pricing Project Extents 

 

These extents are shown in Figure 8.10. The exact locations where congestion pricing will 
be applied within the project limits will be determined during the federal National 
Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) process.  

Following Oregon House Bill 2017, the Oregon Transportation Commission, and the 
Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) prepared the Portland Metro Area Value 
Pricing Feasibility Analysis, which determined that congestion pricing could be used to 
help improve travel times on I-5 and I-205 during peak times and raise revenue for 
congestion-relief projects. In December 2018, the Oregon Transportation Commission 
submitted a proposal to the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) seeking approval to 
continue the process of implementing tolls on I-5 and I-205.  

The Regional Mobility Pricing Project Planning and Environmental Linkages phase 
concluded in September 2022 and ODOT, with FHWA, initiated the environmental review 
phase under NEPA in November 2022. ODOT, in partnership with FHWA, is currently 
preparing an Environmental Assessment (EA) to evaluate the effects of the project on the 
human and natural environment in accordance with NEPA. The Regional Mobility Pricing 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-73 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

Project responds to six key problems identified in the draft need statement: daily traffic 
congestion is negatively affecting the quality of life in the growing Portland region; traffic 
congestion adversely affects the Portland metropolitan area economy; state and federal 
transportation revenue sources are increasingly insufficient to fund transportation 
system needs; our regional transportation system must reduce greenhouse gas emissions 
by managing travel demand and congestion; a lack of comprehensive multimodal travel 
options in the Portland metropolitan region contributes to congestion and limits mobility; 
and the Portland metropolitan area’s transportation networks have resulted in 
inequitable outcomes for historically and currently excluded and underserved 
communities.  

Once the EA is complete, the document will be released for public and agency comment. 
Following the comment period, ODOT may prepare a Revised EA that could include 
FHWA’s and ODOT’s responses to comments, additional environmental analysis as 
needed, and refinement and finalization of environmental commitments to avoid, 
minimize, and mitigate impacts.  FHWA will issue a NEPA decision that could be a Finding 
of No significant Impact (FONSI). If a FONSI is issued, ODOT will need to complete a 
Cooperative Agreement with U.S. Department of Transportation/FHWA for congestion 
pricing implementation under the Value Pricing Pilot Program5 or recently created 
Congestion Relief Program.  

As Oregon’s toll authority, the Oregon Transportation Commission will set toll rates, 
policies (including discounts and exemptions), and price escalation. As part of the Oregon 
Toll Program development, ODOT has committed to providing a low-income toll program 
when tolling begins. More details about the low-income program are expected in 2023, 
following recommendations from ODOT’s Statewide Toll Rulemaking Advisory 
Committee. The Oregon Transportation Commission is expected to finalize toll rates 
about six months prior to toll implementation.  

8.3.1.8   I-5 Boone Bridge Replacement 

The Boone Bridge on I-5 represents a crucial link on one of Oregon’s critical seismic 
lifeline routes that connects the Portland metro area to the Mid-Willamette Valley and 
areas to the north and south. The Boone Bridge, which is over 60 years old and has been 

 
5 The U.S. Department of Transportation Federal Highway Administration Value Pricing Pilot Program is intended 
to demonstrate whether and to what extent roadway congestion may be reduced through application of 
congestion pricing strategies, and the magnitude of the impact of such strategies on driver behavior, traffic 
volumes, transit ridership, air quality and availability of funds for transportation programs. The Program provides 
tolling authority to State, regional or local governments to implement congestion pricing applications and report 
on their effects. 

https://ops.fhwa.dot.gov/congestionpricing/value_pricing/


DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-74 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

widened and modified over time, will require significant upgrades to withstand a major 
Cascadia Subduction Zone quake and enable I-5 to continue to serve as a primary West 
Coast route for passenger and freight movement stretching from Canada to Mexico. 
Lifeline routes will play a critical role in getting supplies and services to the region in the 
event of a significant seismic event or other catastrophe.   

It is the only crossing of the Willamette River within 15 miles of the Wilsonville town 
center. This section of I-5 also experiences significant bottlenecks leading to safety 
concerns and poor travel time reliability. Inefficient merging and weaving caused by short 
merging areas results in congestion and crashes that reduce travel speeds and travel-time 
reliability. Without improvement, this bottleneck will continue to deteriorate, leading to 
slower travel, more costly freight movement, and higher safety risks for those who use I-5 
and the surrounding transportation network. The project area also includes two of the top 
10% Safety Priority Index System (SPIS) locations (e.g.. 2019 location on I-5 south of the 
bridge and a 2019 location near the Wilsonville Road interchange. The 2018 I-5 
Wilsonville Facility Plan and Regional Transportation Plan identified solutions to address 
these issues.  

The 2023 RTP includes plans to replace Boone Bridge with a seismically resilient 
structure, preserve the current NB auxiliary lane and add an auxiliary lane on SB I-5 from 
Wilsonville Road to the Wilsonville-Hubbard Highway (OR 551). The auxiliary lanes 
address crashes due to short merging distances, closely spaced interchanges and 
frequently congested conditions both on and just south of the Boone Bridge. The project 
will also provide a standard 26 foot wide median and widen the outside shoulders to the 
current 12-foot standard width.  The wider shoulders will provide opportunities for 
programs such as Bus on Shoulder. The Boone Bridge is at the edge of designated Urban 
Growth Boundary and small portion of the project falls outside the boundary at the south 
end of the project.  

The first phase of the project is Planning and Environmental Linkages (PEL) which will 
include conceptual design, public involvement, transportation planning and analysis (i.e., 
travel patterns, demand), preliminary traffic engineering analysis, and land use analysis 
and other related consulting and technical advising services. It will conduct planning-level 
analysis and coordination that prepare materials to support the federally required 
National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) process, anticipated to begin in 2025. Further 
analysis will be completed to refine project costs, advance project design, determine 
bicycle, pedestrian, and public transportation access, conduct stakeholder engagement, 
develop and integrate an equity framework, evaluate land use impacts, coordinate with 
Regional Mobility Pricing Project analysis, determine the NEPA class of action, and 
prepare the purpose and need statement. 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-75 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

8.3.1.9   Earthquake Ready Burnside Bridge Project 

Figure 8.11 Earthquake Ready Burnside Bridge Proposed Typical Cross Section 

 

The Earthquake Ready Burnside Bridge Project will replace the existing 97-year old 
movable bridge in downtown Portland, Oregon with a new, seismically resilient bridge, 
providing Burnside Street, a regionally designated lifeline route, with a crossing of the 
Willamette River that would remain fully operational and accessible for vehicles and 
other modes of transportation immediately following a major earthquake. A seismically 
resilient Burnside Bridge will support the region’s ability to provide rapid and reliable 
emergency response, rescue, and evacuation after a major earthquake, as well as enable 
post-earthquake economic recovery. The project is anticipated to infuse $545 million into 
the state and local economy and create a combination of short and long-term family-wage 
jobs, equivalent to approximately 6,200 job-years within Oregon.  

Multnomah County initiated the federal environmental review process in 2019. The 
County, in partnership with the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA), issued a Draft 
Environmental Impact Statement (DEIS) in February 2021 that evaluated four build 
alternatives and identified one of those alternatives, the Long-span Replacement 
Alternative, as the project’s recommended Preferred Alternative.  

Following the issuance of the DEIS, additional cost and funding analysis identified a 
substantial risk that the construction costs would be too high to reasonably be able to 
fund, which led the County to evaluate ways to reduce construction costs while still 
meeting the Project’s purpose and need. Cost reductions were proposed as refinements to 
the Preferred Alternative in a Supplemental Draft Environmental Impact Statement. They 
included the reduction of vehicle lanes from five to four, selection of a girder style 
structure for west approach, selection of a bascule style movable span over the navigation 
channel, and a range of either a cable stay or tied arch option for east approach long span.  



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-76 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

The County Board of Commissioners adopted the refined Preferred Alternative in March 
2022 and the SDEIS was published in April 2022. In January and February of 2023, TPAC 
and JPACT, respectively, recommended the approval of the Preferred Alternative. In 
March 2023, Metro Council approved the Preferred Alternative. A combined Final 
Environmental Impact Statement and federal Record of Decision is anticipated in 
December 2023. 

The Earthquake Ready Burnside Bridge, downtown Portland’s first seismically resilient 
bridge, will include bike and pedestrian lanes separated from vehicular traffic by a crash-
worthy barrier, an eastbound transit lane with the option to implement a westbound 
transit lane in the future, and the ability to accommodate a streetcar line identified in 
existing City of Portland planning documents. 

The Project is estimated to cost $895M including design, right-of-way, and construction. 
Currently, $300M in local funds has been identified through the County’s Vehicle 
Registration Fee. The Project is currently funded through the Design Phase. Once 
additional funding is secured, construction could start as early as 2025 and be completed 
by 2030. 

Additional project information is available at: www.burnsidebridge.org 

8.3.1.10   Tualatin Valley Highway Transit and Development Project 

The Tualatin Valley (TV) Highway Transit and Development project is studying the 
feasibility of converting the existing TriMet Line 57 bus to a bus rapid transit (BRT) line 
through major federal investment. Metro is also supporting the creation of a community-
led equitable development strategy (EDS) alongside the transit study to support 
community stability in the face of a major transportation investment in the corridor. The 
goal of the transit study is to identify a locally preferred alternative (LPA) that would 
enable partners to apply for federal funding of transit improvements. A BRT project 
would improve transit speed and reliability, making the bus more competitive with 
driving along this regional corridor. BRT investment would also improve corridor safety 
with station access infrastructure for pedestrians and provide a more dignified and 
attractive transit rider experience through improvements to stations such as shelters and 
lighting. The BRT project may be nested within or completed in tandem with a roadway 
project that more directly addresses the significant safety needs along this high-crash 
corridor, especially those of people walking, biking, and accessing transit. 

The project Steering Committee, consisting of representatives from the cities of Forest 
Grove, Cornelius, Hillsboro, and Beaverton; Washington County; ODOT, TriMet and Metro; 
and four community representatives, is moving toward agreement on an LPA anticipated 
in late 2023. The LPA will cover the entire length of the corridor (Beaverton Transit 
Center to 19th and B Street in Forest Grove) and may include a minimum operable 
segment that defines an initial federal capital investment in a portion of the corridor. 

http://www.burnsidebridge.org/


DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-77 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

The EDS was completed in June 2023 and approved by the TV Highway Equity Coalition 
(TEC), the body who guided its development. Strategies from this document are being 
advanced by government and nonprofit partners throughout the corridor and are 
independent of the implementation stage of the transit study. 

8.3.1.11   82nd Avenue Transit Project 

Metro, TriMet, the City of Portland, Clackamas County, ODOT, Multnomah County, and the 
Port of Portland as well as community members are collaborating to develop a rapid bus 
transit project in the 82nd Avenue corridor between Clackamas Town Center and a 
northern terminus yet-to-be-determined. In addition, Metro is working to support a 
community-led equitable development strategy (EDS) that will address community 
priorities outside of, but often-related to the transit project investment. 

The 82nd Avenue corridor is a major route for the region connecting key destinations and 
communities in Clackamas County and Portland, Oregon and supporting the movement of 
people and goods in a diverse and growing area.  The corridor serves many people who 
are part of BIPOC, limited English proficiency, and low-income communities, zero car 
households, or living with a disability.  82nd Avenue was once the primary north-south 
highway for the area before Interstate 205 was opened in 1983. Since then, the primary 
function of 82nd Avenue as a regional throughway has diminished, but its importance as a 
transit and pedestrian corridor has grown. The roadway continues to carry substantial 
amount of freight, auto, and bus traffic. 

TriMet’s Line 72 Killingsworth/82 serves the 82nd Avenue corridor and is the highest 
ridership bus line in TriMet’s system , and exceeds ridership on the Orange and Yellow 
Max light rail lines. However, unlike light rail transit, the bus runs in mixed traffic and is 
often delayed.  Line 72 is a frequent service route connecting riders to major destinations, 
high-capacity transit lines (the new Division FX2 and the MAX Green, Blue, and Red 
Lines), and over 20 bus routes just in the corridor.  It is a workhorse with high ridership 
all day and weekends and saw relatively high retention of riders during the pandemic.  

The need for a major transit improvement has been identified in multiple plans including 
the 2010 High Capacity Transit (HCT) System Plan, the 2018 Regional Transportation 
Plan (RTP), and the 2018 Regional Transit Strategy. In 2019, Metro’s Transportation 
Funding Task Force selected 82nd Avenue as a Tier 1 priority to include a bus rapid 
transit project investment.  The steering committee has called for the project to address 
transit speed and reliability, safety, needs of transit-dependent communities in the 
corridor, and to reduce pollution and greenhouse gas emissions, while designing for a 
constrained physical environment. 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-78 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

The 82nd Avenue Transit Project would improve transit in the corridor by adding: new 
buses with greater capacity, improved pedestrian facilities and access, better lighting, 
transit signal priority and physical bus priority in the roadway to move the bus through 
congestion, and better stations with shelters, seating, lighting, and real time bus arrival 
information. The work will be integrated with the streetscape improvements both 
planned and underway. 

The need is urgent with an unprecedented opportunity for an 82nd Avenue bus rapid 
transit project to leverage and complement a $185 million investment that the City of 
Portland, the State of Oregon, and regional partners are making as part of the 82nd 
Avenue jurisdictional transfer. These investments provide the opportunity to reimagine 
the corridor to improve safety and pedestrian facilities in conjunction with high-quality, 
frequent, reliable Bus Rapid Transit service. The City of Portland and ODOT are already 
making near-term safety, paving, and maintenance fixes that will improve access to 
transit.  A second phase of that work is underway through the City’s Building a Better 
82nd Avenue program to identify additional improvements within Portland for the 
corridor.   These improvements would complement/support the transit investment and 
could be delivered with the transit project.   

The people who live along 82nd Avenue are more likely to rely on transit than the general 
population with a high number of equity communities in greater representation than the 
region as a whole.  These include people that are low-income, BIPOC, have limited English 
proficiency, live with a disability, or live in zero car households or in affordable housing.  
In addition, 82nd Avenue is high injury corridor with inadequate pedestrian facilities, 
lighting, and limited signalized crosswalks and few transit shelters.   

The project anticipates having an approved locally preferred alternative demonstrating 
regional consensus around the transit mode, general station locations, and alignment in 
winter of 2023/24.  The NEPA phase of the project would begin post LPA and after early 
corridor design is underway. Metro, TriMet, the City of Portland, Clackamas County, 
ODOT, Multnomah County, and the Port of Portland as well as community members are 
collaborating to develop a rapid bus transit project in the 82nd Avenue corridor between 
Clackamas Town Center and a northern terminus yet-to-be-determined. In addition, 
Metro is working to support a community-led equitable development strategy (EDS) that 
will address community priorities outside of, but often-related to the transit project 
investment. 

The 82nd Avenue corridor is a major route for the region connecting key destinations and 
communities in Clackamas County and Portland, Oregon and supporting the movement of 
people and goods in a diverse and growing area.  The corridor serves many people who 
are part of BIPOC, limited English proficiency, and low-income communities, zero car 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-79 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

households, or living with a disability.  82nd Avenue was once the primary north-south 
highway for the area before Interstate 205 was opened in 1983. Since then, the primary 
function of 82nd Avenue as a regional throughway has diminished, but its importance as a 
transit and pedestrian corridor has grown. The roadway continues to carry substantial 
amount of freight, auto, and bus traffic. 

TriMet’s Line 72 Killingsworth/82 serves the 82nd 
Avenue corridor and is the highest ridership bus line 

 

Figure 8.12 82nd Ave Transit 
Corridor 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-80 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

in TriMet’s system6, and exceeds ridership on the Orange and Yellow Max light rail lines. 
However, unlike light rail transit, the bus runs in mixed traffic and is often delayed.  Line 
72 is a frequent service route connecting riders to major destinations, high-capacity 
transit lines (the new Division FX2 and the MAX Green, Blue, and Red Lines), and over 20 
bus routes just in the corridor.  It is a workhorse with high ridership all day and weekends 
and saw relatively high retention of riders during the pandemic.  

The need for a major transit improvement has been identified in multiple plans including 
the 2010 High Capacity Transit (HCT) System Plan, the 2018 Regional Transportation 
Plan (RTP), and the 2018 Regional Transit Strategy. In 2019, Metro’s Transportation 
Funding Task Force selected 82nd Avenue as a Tier 1 priority to include a bus rapid 
transit project investment.  The steering committee has called for the project to address 
transit speed and reliability, safety, needs of transit-dependent communities in the 
corridor, and to reduce pollution and greenhouse gas emissions, while designing for a 
constrained physical environment. 

The 82nd Avenue Transit Project would improve transit in the corridor by adding: new 
buses with greater capacity, improved pedestrian facilities and access, better lighting, 
transit signal priority and physical bus priority in the roadway to move the bus through 
congestion, and better stations with shelters, seating, lighting, and real time bus arrival 
information. The work will be integrated with the streetscape improvements both 
planned and underway. 

The need is urgent with an unprecedented opportunity for an 82nd Avenue bus rapid 
transit project to leverage and complement a $185 million investment that the City of 
Portland, the State of Oregon, and regional partners are making as part of the 82nd 
Avenue jurisdictional transfer. These investments provide the opportunity to reimagine 
the corridor to improve safety and pedestrian facilities in conjunction with high-quality, 
frequent, reliable Bus Rapid Transit service. The City of Portland and ODOT are already 
making near-term safety, paving, and maintenance fixes that will improve access to 
transit.  A second phase of that work is underway through the City’s Building a Better 82nd 
Avenue program to identify additional improvements within Portland for the corridor.   
These improvements would complement/support the transit investment and could be 
delivered with the transit project.   

The people who live along 82nd Avenue are more likely to rely on transit than the general 
population with a high number of equity communities in greater representation than the 

 
6 The Line 72 continues west of 82nd Avenue to Swan Island. However, the 82nd Avenue segment accounts for 77 
percent of rides (2022) and 82 percent of the passenger delay (2019).   



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-81 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

region as a whole.  These include people that are low-income, BIPOC, have limited English 
proficiency, live with a disability, or live in zero car households or in affordable housing.  
In addition, 82nd Avenue is high injury corridor with inadequate pedestrian facilities, 
lighting, and limited signalized crosswalks and few transit shelters.   

The project anticipates having an approved locally preferred alternative demonstrating 
regional consensus around the transit mode, general station locations, and alignment in 
winter of 2023/24.  The NEPA phase of the project would begin post LPA and after early 
corridor design is underway.  

8.3.2 Metropolitan Transportation Improvement Program 

Note – This section will be further updated this Summer 

The Metropolitan Transportation Improvement Program (MTIP) documents how all 
federal transportation funding is spent in the greater Portland region for a four-year 
period as well as state- and locally-funded projects that may significantly affect the 
region’s transportation system performance. The MTIP serves multiple purposes – the 
document: 

• lists all federally-funded transportation expenditures; 

• identifies funding sources for transportation projects;  

• provides project implementation details (e.g., in what year the preliminary 
engineering, right-of-way acquisition and construction phase is expected); 

• demonstrates federal planning and fiscal requirements to expend federal funds have 
been met; and 

• reports how adopted regional policies influenced the selection of these near-term 
investments as priorities to move forward. 

This section describes the role of the MTIP as a key tool for implementing the RTP and 
provides an outline of expectations for demonstrating consistency with the RTP to be 
programmed in the MTIP for implementation. The MTIP document provides more specific 
description of how projects proposed to be included in the MTIP are expected to 
demonstrate consistency with the RTP 

8.3.2.1 MTIP responsibilities and oversight 

Metro has the responsibility to prepare the MTIP, but it is done in collaboration and 
coordination with ODOT, and transit agencies, TriMet and SMART, as the region’s four 
entities responsible for administering federal transportation funding. Additionally, cities, 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-82 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

counties, the Port of Portland, other local agencies, and the public participate in the 
development of the MTIP. 

JPACT, the Metro Council and the Governor of the State of Oregon approve the MTIP. The 
MTIP is then incorporated, without change, into the State Transportation Improvement 
Program (STIP), which integrates regional and statewide improvement programs. 

8.3.2.2 The role of the MTIP in regional planning 

The RTP plays a significant guiding role for the MTIP as it sets the policy direction for 
what transportation investments are eligible for federal funding and the prioritization 
criteria for allocating federal funding. Through inter-regional coordination throughout the 
planning and programming process, the MTIP ensures that investments of federal funds 
are consistent with the RTP and makes progress in achieving performance targets 
established in the plan. The MTIP is updated every three years. 

One of the primary purposes of the MTIP is to ensure scarce federal transportation 
funding and investments are making progress towards the regional vision set out for 
transportation system in the RTP. As a result, the greater Portland region’s MTIP gives top 
priority to strategic transportation investments that leverage and reinforce the region’s 
land use strategy envisioned in the 2040 Growth Concept and the supporting multimodal 
transportation investments in the RTP. 

 

8.3.2.3 Demonstrating consistency prior to implementation 

As the vehicle for implementing the RTP, the MTIP has two primary purposes:  

1. ensure federal planning and fiscal requirements for expending federal 
transportation funds are being met; and  

2. ensure the investments are making progress towards regional goals, objectives 
and implementing regional policies as part of performance-based programming. 

Recognizing these two primary purposes of the MTIP, any investment requiring inclusion 
in the MTIP must demonstrate and justify how the investment implements the RTP and 
regional policy outcomes. This is necessary to meet federal eligibility and compliance 
purposes, provide the best transportation experience possible for the region’s residents, 
businesses, employees, and visitors and for good stewardship of scarce transportation 
resources.  

The determination and demonstration of consistency with the RTP, done through the 
MTIP process, comprises quantitative and qualitative evidence that the investment 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-83 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

advances implementation of the RTP investment strategy, financial constraint, project 
performance towards regional and federal performance targets, and public involvement 
and consultation. In general, there are two main avenues to demonstrate consistency with 
the RTP whether as an individual transportation investment or an entire package of 
transportation investments may be included in the MTIP. The two avenues include the 
following: 

1. During the prioritization process to allocate federal transportation dollars to 
various transportation projects, including the identification of the criteria and the 
consideration of multimodal tradeoffs (prior to the submission to the MTIP); and 

2. The process for amending the MTIP.  

As each four-year MTIP is developed, determination of consistency is also conducted and 
demonstrated programmatically to show how the MTIP package is consistent with and 
advances the implementation of the Plan. Additionally, the programmatic evaluation 
serves as a monitoring tool for assessing progress in implementing the RTP.  

The following sections describe the core areas that MTIP investments (at individual scale 
and during the funding allocation process) are required to demonstrate consistency with 
federal requirements and adopted regional transportation policy as expressed in the RTP 
goals, objectives, and policies. Example questions are provided to illustrate what 
information is sought.  

Regional significance 

The adopted RTP represents the regional transportation system in the greater Portland 
region, which serve regional transportation needs and provides a specified level of 
seamless multimodal connectivity, accessibility, and management of people and goods 
traveling on the system. As a result, the limited amount of available federal funding must 
be allocated strategically to advance the operation or enhance the development of key 
facilities across the different modal systems (e.g., transit, bicycle and pedestrian active 
transportation, freight) to ensure an interconnectivity while supporting other desired 
regional outcomes (travel options, reduced greenhouse gas emission, etc.).  

For the purposes of demonstrating consistency, the RTP has identified these key facilities, 
programs, and strategies in defining the regionally significant system. Additionally, other 
conditions and circumstances may qualify a transportation investment as regionally 
significant, as reflected in the RTP definition of regional significance and corresponding 
RTP network maps contained in Chapter 3.  

Examples of questions asked for transportation investments to demonstrate Regional 
Significance: 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-84 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

• Is the transportation investment advancing a project on a facility designated in one or 
more of the RTP network maps? 

• Does the transportation investment require permitting approval(s) from a federal 
agency or project level NEPA review? 

• Does the transportation investment provide new motor vehicle capacity and would 
normally be included as an input to the regional travel demand model? 

Regional goals and objectives 

The adopted RTP demonstrates a significant need for investment in the transportation 
system to address many growing demands of the transportation system, including the 
growing backlog of maintenance, expansion of services, and increased connectivity and 
completeness of different modes. Recognizing the scarcity of funding while the need for 
investment is ever growing, each dollar invested in the regional transportation system 
must serve a regional purpose and advance the implementation of the region’s 
transportation vision and supporting goals, objectives and policies.  

To be included in the MTIP, investments must demonstrate how implementation will 
address one or more of the RTP’s goals, objectives, and policies, listed in Chapters 2 and 3. 
Moreover, the Metro Council identified these key regional policy priorities – 
transportation equity with a focus on race and income, safety, travel options, Climate 
Smart Strategy implementation, economic development and managing congestion – to be 
the focus of this RTP.  The RTP’s goals serve as the broad direction and expectation of 
what each investment in the system should aim to achieve but additional focus and 
attention should be paid to the RTP policy priorities. These goals are consistent with the 
federal planning factors issued by U.S. DOT. 

Examples of questions asked for investments to demonstrate consistency with Regional 
Goals and Objectives include: 

• What regional goals and objectives are being addressed by this transportation 
investment? 

• Is the project identified as part of the adopted RTP financially constrained project list? 

• Is the project advancing one or more of the Climate Smart Strategy policies? If so, 
which policy(ies) and how? 

• Is this project addressing and/or advancing a strategy or action within an adopted 
regional modal or topical strategy or plan, or shared strategy of the RTP? If so, which 
modal or topical strategy or plan? Which strategy (or strategies) and action(s)? How 
does it address or advance the modal or topical strategy or plan? 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-85 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

8.3.2.4 Demonstrating fiscal constraint 

As a federal requirement, both the RTP and the MTIP are fiscally constrained. Project 
costs are not to exceed expected revenue sources. For the MTIP, transportation identified 
investments are only those projects for which resources are expected to be available, and 
funding identified for the first year must be committed by administering agencies to the 
project. The MTIP is not a comprehensive accounting of all transportation investments in 
the region; it only accounts for the funding of regionally significant projects and does not 
include projects on local streets and facilities. Projects that are 100 percent locally funded 
but of regional significance are included for informational and analysis purposes only. 

Per federal regulations, transportation projects using federal funds are expected to 
demonstrate that revenues needed to deliver the project are available and the revenues 
were accounted for in long-range transportation plan revenue projections. Therefore, 
projects included in the MTIP must be included in the RTP financially constrained project 
list either as an identified individual project or through a programmatic category. 
Additionally, projects in the MTIP must be consistent in scope and financial scale as to 
what was reflected in the financially constrained RTP project list. The revenue 
assumptions used to develop the RTP financially constrained project are defined in 
Chapter 5.  Projects included in the RTP financially constrained project list are identified 
in Appendix A (2023-2030 time period) and Appendix B (2031-2045 time period).  

If a project is proposed for funding and inclusion in the MTIP and is not included in the 
RTP financially constrained project list, the RTP must be amended to include the project 
as a condition of being adopted in the MTIP.  

To amend projects into the financially constrained project list fiscal constraint must be 
demonstrated by identifying additional revenues or removing other projects from the 
financially constrained project list. More information about the process and other 
requirements that must be met to amend the RTP will be provided in the Appendix.  

Examples of questions asked for transportation investments to demonstrate Fiscal 
Constraint: 

• Is the transportation investment/project identified in the adopted RTP financially 
constrained project list? 

• Is the project consistent in scope and cost as to what was accounted for in the RTP 
financially constrained project list and regional travel model? 

• How will the funding and implementation of this project impact the sponsoring 
agencies ability to adequately operate and maintain its transportation system in the 
future? 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-86 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

8.3.2.5 Demonstrating support toward achievement of performance targets 

Signed into law in 2012, the previous federal transportation reauthorization, known as 
Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st Century (MAP-21), created the most significant 
federal transportation policy shift since the 1991 Intermodal Surface Transportation 
Efficiency Act (ISTEA). A fundamental element of the legislation was its focus on 
performance-based planning and programming.  

For the first time, MAP-21 established a federal performance management framework to 
improve transparency and hold state transportation departments, transit agencies and 
metropolitan planning organizations (MPOs) accountable for the effectiveness of their 
transportation planning and investment decisions. The objective of the performance 
management framework was to ensure states and MPOs invest federal resources in 
projects that collectively will make progress toward the achievement of the national 
goals. The required performance-based approach includes targets for measures specified 
by U.S. DOT and requirements to track and report progress toward meeting these targets. 
Twelve performance measures have been identified through MAP-21 and subsequent U.S. 
DOT rulemaking. These federal performance measures and targets address: 

• Safety 

• Infrastructure condition 

• Congestion reduction 

• System reliability 

• Freight movement and economic vitality 

• Environmental sustainability 

Preceding the adoption of the MAP-21 performance-based planning requirements, the 
Metro Council and JPACT adoption of the 2010 RTP established an outcomes-focused 
performance-based planning process that continues today. The RTP performance-based 
process centers on measuring the performance of the adopted RTP investment strategy 
and monitoring progress towards transportation system performance targets identified 
in Chapter 2.  The RTP performance targets address: 

• Affordability 

• Safety 

• Vehicle miles traveled 

• Mode share  



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-87 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

• System Completion 

• Mobility 

• Climate change and greenhouse gas emissions reduction 

• Clean air 

The RTP performance measures and targets contained in Chapter 2 and Appendix L 
support and are consistent with federal and state performance-based planning 
requirements and measures and align to the federal planning factors required for MPOs to 
address and make progress towards. To be included in the MTIP, transportation 
investments planned for the region to meet growing demands, needs or deficiencies, must 
also demonstrate contribution to progress toward federal and RTP performance targets.  

Examples of ways in which transportation investments can demonstrate consistency with 
performance targets include addressing: 

• How does the transportation investment/project contribute one or more of the federal 
and/or regional performance targets for the transportation system? 

• What evaluation was performed to compare candidate projects for making progress 
toward federal and regional performance targets? What results can be provided to 
demonstrate the investment is making progress towards the federal and/or regional 
performance targets? 

• How did the funding allocation process consider federal and regional performance 
targets in its criteria in the selection of projects and allocation of funds? 

8.3.2.6 Public involvement expectations and process for demonstrating consistency 

As part of federal guidance on public involvement and on Civil Rights laws and the 
Executive Order on Environmental Justice, it is expected that all transportation 
investments identified in the MTIP have provided and will continue to provide 
opportunity for community input and comment until the investment is implemented 
and/or open for service. This means prior to an investment being identified in the MTIP, it 
must have emerged through planning process that was adopted or approved by a 
governing body and be included in the RTP investment strategy. The planning process, 
and that process’s community engagement effort, indicates the investment addresses an 
identified transportation deficiency and need in the local community and the community 
has had opportunity to inform the plan. The adoption or approval of the plan must also 
provide an opportunity for public testimony.  



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-88 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

Commonly recognized planning processes from which projects emerge include local 
transportation system plans (TSPs), but other planning processes include corridor 
studies, facility plans and sub-area plans. Additionally, through the development of the 
RTP project list, local jurisdictions are asked to self-certify transportation investments 
being proposed for the long-range transportation plan have undergone or are currently 
undergoing public involvement efforts through an approved planning process.  

Examples of ways in which transportation investments can demonstrate consistency with 
Public Involvement include addressing the following: 

• From which planning process does the transportation investment emerge from? What 
opportunities for public feedback were available as part of the process? 

• How was feedback from the public incorporated into the development of the 
investment? 

• What demographic assessment was done to identify communities of color, people with 
limited English proficiency, people with low income and other historically 
marginalized communities as stakeholders?  

• Were all interested/affected stakeholders meaningfully engaged in the funding 
allocation prioritization and decision-making process?  

• Were all interested/affected stakeholders meaningfully engaged prior to the request 
for programming a project into the MTIP? 7   

8.3.2.7 Developing the MTIP 

The MTIP development process is initiated by Metro with an update to the MTIP program 
direction and an initial financial forecast of revenues expected to be available for 
programming. The program direction identifies how JPACT and the Metro Council intend 
to coordinate the funding allocation processes administered by Metro through the 
Regional Flexible Funds Allocation (RFFA) process and for funds administered by ODOT 
and public transit agencies – TriMet and SMART. The policy document also describes how 
the funding allocation processes address federal regulations for the allocation of federal 
transportation funds.   

 
7 Interested and affected stakeholders means those members of the public affected or interested in 
transportation investment (or package of investment), as well as formal entities, such as natural resource 
agencies, emergency management agencies, tribal entities, etc. which may have interests or be affected by the 
implementation of the proposed transportation investment. 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-89 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

Projects seeking funding through any of the funding allocation processes must be 
included in the financially constrained Regional Transportation Plan project list. JPACT 
and the Metro Council consider the MTIP for final approval. Upon adoption by the Metro 
Council, the MTIP is submitted to the Governor of Oregon for inclusion in the STIP. 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-90 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

8.4 DATA AND TOOLS 

8.4.1 Performance-based planning and programming 

Over the past two decades, Metro and other transportation agencies have increasingly 
been applying “performance management” – a strategic approach that uses performance 
data to support decisions to help achieve desired performance outcomes. Performance 
management is credited with improving project and program delivery, informing 
investment decision-making, focusing staff on leadership priorities and providing greater 
transparency and accountability to the public. 

Performance-based planning and programming (PBPP) applies this strategic approach 
within the planning and programming processes of MPOs, like Metro, and other 
transportation agencies to achieve desired performance outcomes for the multimodal 
transportation system. This includes a range of activities and products undertaken by a 
MPO together with other agencies, stakeholders, and the public as part of a 3C 
(cooperative, continuing, and comprehensive) process. It includes development of: long-
range regional transportation plans, the Congestion Management Process, other plans and 
processes developed by ODOT and transit providers, such as Strategic Highway Safety 
Plans, Asset Management Plans, Transit Agency Asset Management Plans and Transit 
Agency Safety Plans, and programming documents, including State and Metropolitan 
Transportation Improvement Programs (STIPs and MTIPs).  

PBPP attempts to ensure that transportation investment decisions are made – both in 
long-term planning and short-term programming of projects – based on their ability to 
meet established goals. 

This section summarizes data and research activities to address existing and emerging 
planning and policy priorities and innovative practices in transportation planning and 
analysis. These activities help ensure that the region has the resources to fulfill its state 
and federal transportation performance measurement, monitoring and reporting 
responsibilities. 

8.4.2 Data Collection and Coordination 

This section summarizes data collection and coordination to support regional 
transportation planning and analysis, including regional travel model calibration and 
validation, and federal congestion management process analysis and performance based 
planning target setting and monitoring. The majority of our data is maintained in Metro’s 
Regional Land Information System (RLIS). This database is comprised of over 150 
different (primarily geospatial) data sets, and most of the data sets identified in the 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-91 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

sections below are elements. Metro publishes RLIS on a quarterly basis, but many data 
sets are on different cycles and come from different sources. All data sets are available for 
review at http://rlisdiscovery.oregonmetro.gov, along with a date of last publication. The 
associated metadata should be consulted in advance to understand how the data were 
generated and to determine the appropriateness of its use. 

8.4.2.1  Growth Data 

Metro Research Center will continue to refine its recently developed Land Development 
Monitoring System (LDMS) as a component of RLIS. LDMS tracks the location cost and 
use-type of residential and employment land utilization to inform regional growth 
management and transport planning. Metro will work to enhance LDMS and RLIS with 
more equity-related data. 

8.4.2.2  Travel Activity Data 

Metro Research Center staff is leading coordination efforts for the next regional travel 
behavior survey (Oregon Travel Study, Spring 2023-Spring 2024). Additional research 
will be necessary to ensure that the survey captures traditionally relevant as well as 
emerging behavior (e.g., extent of Uber/Lyft utilization in place of other travel modes, 
working from home, and online shopping), and be conducted in a comprehensive and 
cost-effective manner. One outcome was a shift from traditional one-day travel diaries to 
smartphone-based weeklong surveys as the primary collection method. The new survey 
also includes revised sampling, recruitment, and outreach strategies to improve 
participation among hard to reach and historically marginalized groups. 

New and emerging data collection methods (e.g. location-based services data, longitudinal 
or rolling surveys, emerging needs follow up surveys, mobile phone apps, personal GPS 
devices, etc.) will also be investigated to help ensure that the survey effort is well 
positioned to capture rapidly changing trends in personal travel behavior. Metro will 
partner with other Oregon modeling agencies (via the Oregon Modeling Statewide 
Collaborative, OMSC) as well as the Southwest Regional Transportation Council (SWRTC) 
to maximize the geographic span and cross agency utility of the data.  

8.4.2.3  Transportation Safety Data 

Metro staff will coordinate with federal, state, regional and local partners to acquire, 
collect and maintain the data currently used for transportation safety related analysis. 
This data includes, but is not limited to, crash data provided by ODOT and roadway 
network, traffic volume and vehicle mile traveled data. Additionally, new data required to 
provide more in-depth analysis will be pursued, including race and ethnicity of crash 
victims, posted speed and pedestrian crossing data to name a few.  



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-92 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

8.4.2.4  Multi-Modal Network Data 

Metro Research Center will continue to update multimodal data in RLIS. RLIS street 
centerlines, sidewalks, bike routes and off-street trails networks are updated quarterly 
and comprise the basis of the multimodal network.  

Research staff will also continue to develop and maintain high-resolution multimodal 
modeling networks. The modeling networks support long-range planning, project 
evaluation, and system performance monitoring needs. Staff will coordinate with other 
state agencies via the OMSC as new modeling networks are developed (e.g. the statewide 
OpenStreetMap-based network and the statewide multimodal network). 

8.4.2.5  Multi-Modal Network Data 

Metro Research Center will continue to update multimodal data in RLIS. RLIS street 
centerlines, sidewalks, bike routes and off-street trails networks are updated quarterly 
and comprise the basis of the multimodal network.  

Research staff will also continue to develop and maintain high-resolution multimodal 
modeling networks. The modeling networks support long-range planning, project 
evaluation, and system performance monitoring needs. Staff will coordinate with other 
state agencies via the OMSC as new modeling networks are developed (e.g. the statewide 
OpenStreetMap-based network and the statewide multimodal network). 

8.4.3 Analysis Tool Maintenance and Enhancement 

This section summarizes planned maintenance and enhancement of the regional travel 
model and MOVES, and the development of a replacement land use model for the now 
defunct MetroScope model to address existing and emerging planning and policy 
priorities and innovative practices in regional transportation planning and analysis. 

8.4.3.1  Growth Forecast 

Metro Council has committed to making its next Urban Growth Boundary decision by the 
end of 2024. That decision will adopt a Regional Economic Forecast of total future jobs 
and employment. Upon adoption of those regional control totals Metro will work to create 
the next generation Distributed Forecast (the Traffic-Analysis-Zone-level growth 
forecasts used in transportation planning and forecasting). The distributed forecast 
(likely to be released in 2026) will be available to support future MTIP and RTP update 
cycles. 

8.4.3.2  Growth Forecast Tools 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-93 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

A replacement land use model will not be in place for the 2026 Distributed Forecast. The 
Metro Planning, Development and Research Department will work closely with local 
jurisdictions to modify and prepare a revision to the most recent land use forecast with 
available methods and best available Regional Economic Forecast information. Metro 
Research Center is now working to scope and implement a replacement for the 
MetroScope land use allocation model but it will not be ready in time for the anticipated 
2024 Urban Growth Management cycle. We will consider a wide variety of traditional and 
next-generation tool options to replace Metro Scope with the goal to have such a land use 
model operational by the subsequent growth management cycle in 2030. This work will 
directly improve the means of producing future distributed forecasts. 

8.4.3.3 Regional Transportation Model Tools 

Metro staff will continue to maintain and enhance the current trip-based travel model. 
Recent enhancements to the model include the transition from a 2015 to a (pre-COVID) 
2020 base year; implementation of a new regional freight model that considers 
commodity flows associated with supply chains at the global, national, and regional 
scales; and improvements to the model’s ability to represent the effects of roadway 
pricing across varying user segments. Future activities include incorporation of the 
results of an updated regional household travel survey and refinements to: the bicycle 
assignment algorithm. Metro staff will stay current with updated versions of the EPA’s 
Motor Vehicle Emission Simulator (MOVES) for estimating emissions of criteria 
pollutants, greenhouse gases and air toxics. 

8.4.4 Analysis Tool Development 

This section summarizes development of new analysis tools to address existing and 
emerging planning and policy priorities and innovative practices in regional 
transportation planning and analysis. It includes visualization tools, housing and 
transportation cost tool, project-level evaluation, piloting the multi-criteria evaluation 
(MCE) tool, and crash prediction modeling tools. 

 

 

8.4.4.1  Regional Activity-Based Model 

The statewide estimation of the ActivitySim platform will begin in FY23-24,  with scoping 
and design to begin in April 2023. Upon completion of the Oregon Household Survey in 
2024, estimation of the activity-based model will begin (FY24-25). Key efforts during 
2024-2025 will include the development of staff expertise and a common, statewide 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-94 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

estimation of ActivitySim that will be the basis for local deployment of the toolset. FY25-
26 will see the deployment of ActivitySim to local jurisdictions—including Metro—and 
will require further estimation and calibration work to customize for the Portland region. 
Travel Forecasting staff will coordinate closely with Metro planning to ensure that the 
activity-based model framework is analytically aligned with anticipated policy questions, 
and will be ready for deployment for the 2028 Regional Transportation Plan. 

8.4.4.2  Regional Freight Model 

Development of the freight model is complete and the model is integrated  with the trip-
based travel demand model. The freight model will be integrated with the ActivitySim  
activity-based model as that model is implemented at Metro. 

8.4.4.3  Housing and Transportation Expenditure Tool 

During the 2018 RTP, the Metro Research Center began development of the framework 
for a Housing and Transportation Expenditure tool to assess out-of-pocket expenditure 
for housing and transportation and to project the effects of future transportation 
investments on housing and transportation costs. Both current and forecast states of the 
regional land markets and transportation system will be represented in a final tool after 
further development, testing and refinement. The tool will help to respond to various 
questions pertaining to gentrification and displacement when assessing transportation 
investment scenarios. 

8.4.4.4  Economic Value Atlas Decision-Support Mapping Tool 

Development of the Economic Value Atlas (EVA) established tools and analysis that align 
planning, infrastructure, and economic development to build agreement on investments 
to strengthen our economy.  

This work: 

• Provides mapping and insight into our regional economic landscape; 

• Links investments to local and regional economic conditions and outcomes; and 

• Informs policy and investment – providing a foundation for decision-makers to 
understand the impacts of investment choices to support growing industries and 
create access to family-wage jobs and opportunities for all.  

The EVA provides a solid data foundation for key regional activities such as: 

• outlining a path to pursue policy, actions and investment that help support growing 
industries and family-wage jobs;; 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-95 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

• defining potential areas for partners to collaborate and develop shared investment 
strategies; 

• pinpointing areas of focus for regional investment to bridge local and regional 
economic development aspirations; and 

• providing a data picture of the regional economy to align investments that achieve the 
coordinated vision of Greater Portland 2020, the 2040 Growth Concept and the 
Regional Transportation Plan. 

This work supports regional transportation planning and investment decisions by: 

• Highlighting key intersects between transportation + economic conditions that can 
guide project prioritization criteria incorporated into the next 3-year RFFA cycle. 

• Building a granular understanding of relative economic strengths and challenges 
among communities in the region to inform local Transportation System Plans and 
area studies, regional investment areas and corridor refinement planning and 
planning studies, and advance more strategic transportation project prioritization and 
investment based on surrounding economic conditions. 

• Supporting multiple applications by ongoing regional programs in Metro’s Planning 
and Development Department. 

8.4.4.5  Displacement Monitoring Tool 

First Identified as a key priority for the RTP transportation equity evaluation in 2017, 
involuntary displacement continues to be of concern in the region.. Specifically, 
policymakers and marginalized communities desired to understand the potential 
displacement impacts to result in investment as well as what proactive mitigation 
strategies may be put into effect in advance to address the displacement risk. Through 
development of the 2018 RTP transportation equity system evaluation method, it was 
determined the RTP system analysis would not be able to look at displacement risk due to 
the limitations of the forecasting tool.  

Nonetheless, in an effort to honor the input and recognize the concern about 
displacement risk from public investment in the transportation system, the 2018 RTP 
recommended development of a streamlined displacement risk tool, which can help 
inform plans, project designs, and other components of transportation investment. Since 
2018, the Southwest Equitable Development Strategy (SWEDS) developed a displacement 
risk method that is informing development of a displacement risk monitoring tool in the 
future. 

https://www.greaterportlandinc.com/


DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-96 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

Metro’s Data Resource Center (DRC) is currently researching methods of monitoring 
displacement risk in the region, which will likely include some of the demographic, 
housing, and business data that Metro already collects or compiles. Metro’s displacement 
research is evolving alongside other analytical areas, including monitoring geographic 
changes in land use and demographics in the region. A displacement monitoring tool will 
help policy makers understand where displacement risk is heightened in the region, as 
well as understand what indicators are increasing the risk. This information will in turn 
help policy makers work with stakeholders and constituents to identify policies that can 
help mitigate displacement, especially in areas where public investment is occurring 

8.4.4.6  Crash Prediction Modeling Tool 

Better understanding and evaluation of how projects, programs and strategies impact 
transportation safety system wide are key elements to effectively planning for safety and 
achieving safe system programs such as Vision Zero. Metro staff will coordinate with 
federal partners and other MPOs to develop and pilot the use of crash prediction 
modeling tools to assess safety performance system wide.  

8.4.4.7  Social Vulnerability Explorer 

Metro’s Data Resource Center has developed a Social Vulnerability Explorer8, which 
provides an introductory point of access to regional indices and indicators related to 
potential social vulnerability in the five-county Portland metropolitan region, including 
Clackamas, Columbia, Multnomah, and Washington counties in Oregon and Clark County 
in Washington. The application enables exploratory data analysis and visualization, as 
well as comparisons of user-specified areas to regional averages. 

The online explorer was built as part of a larger Social Vulnerability Tools project9, which 
sought to identify which communities in the region experience barriers to emergency 
services and programs before, during, and after disasters. Besides helping to craft a 
common understanding of social vulnerability in the region, the Social Vulnerability Tools 
project also helped to create a set of social vulnerability data, including input indicators 
and output indices.  

The Social Vulnerability Explorer was specifically built for the purpose of allowing those 
that do not have access to or experience with mapping software to use an online internet 

 
8 https://gis.oregonmetro.gov/social-vulnerability-explorer/ 
9 https://rdpo.net/social-vulnerability-tools-project 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-97 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

browser to explore and visualize the geographic distribution of and relationship between 
indicators and indices in the Social Vulnerability Tools project. 

Potential use cases of the Social Vulnerability Explorer include: 

• Emergency management and human or health services professionals can understand 
the demographic composition of service territories or investment areas, as well as the 
various types of vulnerabilities that may be reflected in their respective 
constituencies. 

• GIS professionals can conduct exploratory visualization and analysis, specifically as it 
relates to the intersection of multiple indicators, which can be done more quickly and 
efficiently with the online tool than with traditional desktop-based mapping software. 

• Community-based organizations can quantify the demographic composition of their 
service areas – perhaps for grant writing.  

• Academics or researchers can compare demographics between neighborhoods and 
other areas of interest, such as transportation corridors, municipalities or the region. 

8.4.4.8  VisionEval (VE-RSPM) Climate Monitoring Tool 

The VisionEval framework is built on the “GreenSTEP family” of models developed by the 
Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) to assist in the development of plans to 
reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from light-duty vehicles in order to meet Oregon 
State statutory goals.  The RSPM (Regional Strategic Planning Model) was developed by 
ODOT as an offshoot of the GreenSTEP model to support the preparation of metropolitan 
area scenario plans. The name reflects a broadening of the policies, beyond state statutory 
requirements.  Metro and consulting staff are using and enhancing Metro’s VE-RSPM to 
monitor our progress toward our climate goals achieved by RTP projects and policies. 

8.4.5 Monitoring and Reporting Tools 

This section summarizes information systems and data resource coordination efforts that 
Metro is doing or will do to ensure that the region has the resources to fulfill its 
transportation performance-based planning, programming and reporting responsibilities.  

8.4.5.1  Monitoring Data and Information Systems 

Metro Research Center staff will continue to investigate new and emerging data sources 
and data collection methods (e.g., location-based services data, longitudinal or rolling 
surveys, mobile phone apps, personal GPS devices, etc.) to help ensure that Metro is well  
Research Center staff will also continue to collect and process National Performance 
Management Research Data Set (NPMRDS) data for federally-required performance 

http://www.oregon.gov/ODOT/Planning/Documents/RSPM-Quick-Summary.pdf


DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-98 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

monitoring purposes. Staff will also continue to explore and support the ODOT-provided 
auto travel speed and volume data available via the Regional Integrated Transportation 
Information System (RITIS) platform 

8.4.5.2  Congestion Management Process Data Collection and Monitoring 

This section summarizes the region’s approach to monitoring and reporting on the 
progress implementing the RTP through the regional Congestion Management Process 
(CMP).  

The great challenge for establishing and maintaining a monitoring program has been the 
availability of data. Historically, collecting and managing data has been expensive and 
difficult. With advancements in Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) in the region, 
more and better data is available today and will continue to grow with implementation of 
data collection projects identified in the Regional Transportation System Management 
and Operations (TSMO) plan.  

Starting in 2008, the region approved ongoing funding for implementation, including an 
annual allocation to fund Portal, the regional transportation data archived, housed and 
maintained by Portland State University. PSU, in partnership with ODOT, TriMet, Metro 
and other local agencies, provides data aggregation, maintenance and reporting on the 
region's roadways and transit systems. Metro will continue to work with ODOT and other 
regional partners to expand existing data collection and performance monitoring 
capabilities, in order to evaluate system performance for all modes of travel and support 
the region’s CMP.  

This work includes supporting a data management system to facilitate data collection, 
maintenance and reporting to support on-going RTP and MTIP monitoring. The 
performance monitoring will be reported biennially as part of the Regional Mobility 
Program, consistent with the region’s federally approved congestion management 
process.  

Table 8.6 lists where key elements of the region’s CMP are addressed in the RTP and 
Appendices to show how the region’s planning and investment activities implement the 
CMP.   

Table 8.6 Key Elements of the Region’s Congestion Management Process (CMP)  



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-99 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

Regional Congestion 
Management Process 

Associated RTP/MTIP Activities 

Develop congestion 
management 
objectives and policies 

RTP Goals and Objectives (Chapter 2), RTP Policies (Chapter 3) 

Define geographic area 
and network of 
interest 

RTP (Appendix L – Figures 3 and 4)  

Establish multimodal 
performance 
measures 

RTP Performance Measures and Targets (Chapter 2), RTP Federal 
Performance Measures and Targets (Appendix L) 

Collect data and 
monitor system 
performance  

RTP Existing Conditions (Chapter 4Mobility Corridor Atlas (2015) 

Analyze congestion 
problems and needs 

RTP Existing Conditions (Chapter 4),  RTC CMP Monitoring Report 
(2021), RTP Performance Evaluation (Chapter 7) 

Identify and evaluate 
effectiveness of 
strategies 

RTP (Chapter 6), RTP (Chapter 7), RTP (Appendix E - 
Transportation Equity Evaluation), RTP (Appendix F – 
Environmental Analysis and Potential Mitigation Strategies), RTP 
(Appendix J – Climate Smart Strategy Implementation and 
Monitoring), corridor refinement planning, area studies, local 
transportation system plans 

Implement selected 
strategies and manage 
transportation system 

MTIP, local jurisdictions, ODOT, TriMet, SMART, TransPort, 
Regional Transportation Functional Plan, RTP (Chapter 8) 

Monitor strategy 
effectiveness10 

Scheduled RTP updates, CMAQ Performance Plan , RTP 
(Appendix J – Climate Smart Strategy Implementation and 
Monitoring), RTC CMP Monitoring Report 

More information about the region’s Congestion Management Process is provided in 
Appendix L. 

8.4.5.3 Performance monitoring measures and targets 

Performance monitoring measures identified in Chapter 4, Appendix J and Appendix L are 
used to track changes in system performance and implementation progress over time and 
between scheduled updates to the RTP. Reporting these changes provides valuable 

 

10 USDOT, “Guidebook on the Congestion Management Process in Metropolitan Transportation Planning.” Page 
1-1 (April 2011). 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-100 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

information on trends and conditions using actual empirical or observed data to the 
extent possible in advance of RTP updates to assess how the transportation system is 
performing and identify possible policy or strategy adjustments that may be needed.  

Appendix J contains a complementary set of performance measures and performance 
monitoring targets specific to tracking implementation of the Climate Smart Strategy 
adopted by JPACT and the Metro Council in 2014 and report on progress. The Climate 
Smart Strategy performance measures and targets are used to monitor and assess 
whether key elements or actions that make up the strategy are being implemented, and 
whether the strategy is achieving expected outcomes. The Climate Smart Strategy 
performance monitoring targets are not policy targets, but instead reflect a combination 
of the planning assumptions used to evaluate the Climate Smart Strategy and outputs 
from the evaluation of the adopted strategy. 

Appendix L documents the region’s approach to addressing the federal transportation 
performance-based planning and congestion management requirements contained in the 
Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st Century Act (MAP-21) and the Fixing America’s 
Surface Transportation (FAST) Act. The multimodal performance measures and near-
term performance monitoring targets in Appendix L are used to monitor transportation 
system performance using empirical or observed data between scheduled updates.  

 



DRAFT – June 30, 2023 
  

 

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together  8-101 
2023 Regional Transportation Plan | June 30, 2023 

Work continues to establish a coordinated program for data collection and system 
performance monitoring between scheduled updates to the Regional Transportation Plan to 
inform planning and investment decisions.

 



 
Materials following this page were distributed at the meeting. 



Monthly fatal traffic crash report  for Clackamas, Multnomah and Washington counties*

Clark Jackob Soden, 62, driving, I-84,  Multnomah, 5/30
Larry Valdez, 22, a,nd Adrian Gama, 22, driving,  Morrison Bridge, Portland, Multnomah,6/4

Lorn A. Thompson, 47, walking, US 30 Northeast Portland Hwy, Portland, Multnomah, 6/6
Lorenzo Porter,58, driving, N Fremont St & N Williams Ave, Portland, Multnomah,6/6
Cordell Dylan Tate, 23, motorcycling, E Main St & NE 55th Ave, Hillsboro,  Washington, 6/14
Adrian Trujillo, 26, motorcycling, SE Stark St and SE 135th Ave,  Portland, Multnomah, 6/22
Unidentified, driving, NW Broadway & NE Cesar Chavez Blvd,  Portland, Multnomah, 6/23
Jennifer Leigh Parise, 40, driving,  NE Glisan St & 146th Ave,  Portland, Multnomah, 6/25
Unidentified,  driving,  SW Wilsonville Rd and SW Brown Rd, Wilsonville, Clackamas, 6/25
Unidentified,  driving,  Mt Hood Hwy, Sandy,Clackamas, 6/26
Unidentified,  driving,  SW Walnut & Pathfinder, Tigard, Washington, 6/29
Travis Philmlee, Jr., 26, walking, NE 33rd Drive and NE Elrod Road, Portland, Multnomah, 6/29

*ODOT initial fatal crash report  as of  
6/29/23 – all information is preliminary 
and subject to change



2024-2027 
MTIP –
Overview of 
Adoption Draft

TPAC
July 7, 2023



2

MTIP Basics, Purpose, and Function

MTIP – Three Components

• Regionally significant projects 
scheduled to receive funds

• Reflects process to select 
investments to advance 
regional goals

Effective MTIP• Compliance with federal regulations

• Outline of administrative procedures



3

2024-2027 MTIP Adoption Draft –
Overview



4

2024-2027 MTIP Overview – Investment 
Type

Investment Type $ Amount % Overall
Capital Investment $533 M 40%
System Management and Operations $110 M 8%
Planning $57 M 4%
Preservation and Maintenance $619 M 47%
TOTAL $1.3 B 100%

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Over half for maintenance and preservationCapital projects (X%) tend to be smaller local projects serving communitiesMajority (X%) federal and remaining local matching dollarsDoes not reflect all local investment in system



5

2024-2027 MTIP Overview – By Mode



6

2024-2027 MTIP – Project Highlights  

• Council Creek Regional Trail

• I-5: Marquam Bridge - Capitol Highway ITS

• I-405: I-5 to N Kerby Ave – Electric Vehicle Charging 
Infrastructure

• Beaverton Transit Center renovation



7

2024-2027 MTIP – What’s Next & Next 
Steps



8

Setting the Stage: 2024-2027 MTIP

After October 1st

• Amendments resume:
• Likely upcoming major projects amendments: 

Interstate Bridge, Burnside Bridge, Tualatin Valley 
Highway

• Access to funds programmed in 2024

• Track project delivery, obligations, etc. for reporting



9

Setting the Stage: 2027-2030 MTIP

• 2027-2030 STIP – Revenue 
Forecast and Funding 
Priorities (now)

• 2027-2030 MTIP Financial 
Forecast (Spring 2024)



10

Next Steps

July 2023

• Request TPAC recommendation to JPACT

• Request JPACT approval & Metro Council adoption

Post Adoption

• Submit for inclusion in the 2024-2027 STIP

• ODOT submits 2024-2027 STIP to federal partners

• Anticipated approval by October 1, 2023



11

TPAC Request

TPAC recommend JPACT approve and submit the 2024-
2027 MTIP for Metro Council adoption





2027-2030 STIP Development

July 2023

1



Requested Feedback #1

2

Given the policy direction in the Oregon Transportation Plan, the 
needs across the state’s transportation system, and funding 
limitations, what are the priorities for investment in the STIP?



Requested Feedback #2

3

If we are going to generate additional revenue for transportation 
investments, what are your thoughts?



4

What is the STIP?

Capital Program Funds
Federal (FHWA & FTA) & State Funds

Construction Projects On State & Local Roads
Public & Active Transportation Programs & Projects

What is NOT in the STIP
State-Funded
Multimodal 

Grant 
Programs: 
STIF/CO

Maintaining & 
Operating State 

Highways

State Highway 
Fund to Cities & 

Counties

Revenue & 
Administrative 

Functions



2024 –
2027 STIP 
Program 
Funding 

Categories

5

FIX-IT
Projects that preserve or fix the state highway system– bridges, 

pavement, culverts, etc.
SAFETY

Projects focused on reducing fatal and serious injury crashes on 
Oregon’s roads

ENHANCE HIGHWAY
Highway projects that expand or enhance the state highway system

PUBLIC AND ACTIVE TRANSPORTATION
Bicycle, pedestrian, public transportation and transportation 

options projects & programs
LOCAL GOVERNMENT PROGRAMS

Funding to cities, counties, and others for priority projects
ADA CURB RAMPS

Construction of curb ramps to make sidewalks accessible for people 
experiencing a disability

OTHER FUNCTIONS
Workforce development, planning, data collection and other 

programs using federal money



‘27-’30 STIP 
Timeline

• OTC discussions and public outreach in May through 
November

• OTC approves funding allocation in November
• Project scoping and selection in 2024-2025
• Public comment/OTC approval in 2026

6



2027-2030 
STIP Outreach
•

•

•
•



Oregon Transportation Plan
Funding Scenarios



Funding Priority
Policy Direction:

Utilize the following 
considerations when 
setting priorities and 
making decisions to 
balance how needs are 
addressed across all 
tiers, emphasizing the 
top needs on down

 



OTP Funding Scenarios – focus areas

Maintenance

Critical assets, 
key corridors, and 
lifeline routes

Safety

Fatalities and 
serious injuries

Multimodal

Critical 
connections in 
high-need 
locations

Timely Investments

Transportation 
electrification



Cost and Funding Challenges



The ‘27-’30 STIP Will Be Limited 
in Purchasing Power

• Rising costs
• HB 2017 named projects will be 

nearing completion
• Federal infrastructure bill expires in 

2026
• State Highway Fund revenues are flat
• Funds shifted from the STIP to cover 

ODOT’s operations and maintenance 
shortfall

• ADA commitment
12



FHWA National Highway Construction Cost Index

1

1.2

1.4

1.6

1.8

2

2.2

2.4

2.6

2.8



Oregon Federal Highway Formula Funding

 $-

 $100,000,000

 $200,000,000

 $300,000,000

 $400,000,000

 $500,000,000

 $600,000,000

 $700,000,000

 $800,000,000

 $900,000,000

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030

Highway Formula Special Formula
14

IIJA ‘27-’30 STIP



Oregon Motor Fuels Tax Forecast Comparison
In millions of nominal dollars

15



Total Gross State Highway Fund Forecast
In millions of nominal and inflation adjusted dollars; April 2023 forecast

16



State Highway Fund Cash Balance



ADA Curb Ramp Program

• ODOT has a 
responsibility to make 
the system accessible 
to people experiencing 
disabilities

• Peak of program costs 
will be in 2027-2030 
STIP

18



Required Funding by Category in the ‘24-’27 
Draft STIP and ‘27-’30 Base STIP

19

 $-

 $200,000,000

 $400,000,000

 $600,000,000

 $800,000,000

 $1,000,000,000

Fix-It PAT ADA Enhance Safety Local Other Unallocated

24-27 Draft 27-30 Base



Required Funding by Category in the ‘24-’27 
Draft STIP and ‘27-’30 Base STIP

20

 $-

 $200,000,000

 $400,000,000

 $600,000,000

 $800,000,000

 $1,000,000,000

Fix-It PAT ADA Enhance Safety Local Other Unallocated

24-27 Draft 27-30 Base

$300M



Example: IIJA allocation

21

Discretionary
Multi month process of 
scenarios and input
Funds went to:
• New programs (Great

Streets, Innovative Mobility) 
• Existing programs (ADA, 

Fixit, O&M, etc)
• Strategic investments 

(BIPOC workforce, match 
for grants)



Requested Feedback #1

22

Given the policy direction in the Oregon Transportation Plan, the 
needs across the state’s transportation system, and funding 
limitations, what are the priorities for investment in the STIP?



Requested Feedback #2

23

If we are going to generate additional revenue for transportation 
investments, what are your thoughts?



2023 Regional 
Transportation Plan 

Process Update
& Chapter 8

TPAC

July 7, 2023



2

Today’s purpose

2

Provide update on public 
comment period and next steps

Share process and timeline for 
updating Chapter 8

Seek feedback on Chapter 8 and 
topics for:

• TPAC discussion in Aug./Sept. 

• JPACT discussion in Sept.



Timeline for the 2023 RTP update



4

45-day comment period builds on 
engagement conducted to date

• Consultation with Tribes
• Consultation with federal, state, 

regional and resource agencies
• County-level coordinating 

committee briefings

• Online survey
• Online comment form
• Email, letters and phone
• Public hearing on 7/27/23
• Metro Council and regional 

advisory committee discussions



5

Public Review Draft RTP document 

Executive Summary

Chapter 1: Toward A Connected 
Region

Chapter 2: Our Shared Vision 
and Goals for Transportation 

Chapter 3: Transportation 
System Policies to Achieve Our 
Vision

Chapter 4: Snapshot of Our 
Growing and Changing Region

Chapter 5: Our Transportation 
Funding Outlook

Chapter 6: Regional Projects and 
Programs to Achieve Our Vision

Chapter 7: Measuring Outcomes

Chapter 8: Moving Forward 
Together

Appendices and supporting 
documents



6

Chapter 8 | Moving Forward Together

Implementation

Regional Programs

Region-wide Planning

Corridor Refinement Planning

Major Project Development 

Data and Tools Development



7

Updates made to Draft Chapter 8

• Minor edits to Introduction

• Updated descriptions of regionwide planning 
and regional programs, completed efforts 
removed and new efforts added

• Updated descriptions of corridor refinement 
planning

• Updated descriptions of major project 
development and new efforts added

• Updated descriptions of data and tool 
development and two new analysis tools added

7



Planning activity
Lead 

Agency(ies)
Proposed 

timing

Transit planning TriMet, SMART Annually

Equitable Development Strategies Metro Ongoing

Columbia Connects Metro 2023-24

Cascadia Corridor Ultra-High-Speed Ground 
Transportation Project Planning

WSDOT 2023-28

Workforce Diversification in Regional 
Transportation Infrastructure Projects

Metro 2024

Regional Mobility Policy Implementation Plan Metro, ODOT 2024-25

Connecting First and Last Mile: Accessing Mobility 
through Transit Study

Metro 2024-25

Regional Transportation Functional Plan Update Metro 2024-25

Emergency Transportation Routes Project Phase 2 Metro, RPDO 2024-26

Regional Freight Rail Study Metro, Port 2024-26

2040 Refresh Coordination Metro TBD

Funding Strategy for Regional Bridges Counties 2024-28

Section 8.2 | Planning and Programs

Region-wide planning (next 5 years)



9

Section 8.2 | Planning and Programs

Corridor refinement planning

Develop shared investment 
strategies to address unmet 
multimodal transportation needs 
within identified multimodal 
mobility corridors*

Link equity, economic, housing 
and other goals with multimodal 
management and capital solutions 

Recommend strategies and 
phasing to catalyze investment

Beaverton to Hillsboro

* As defined by the Transportation Planning Rule (OAR 660-012-0025)



10

Section 8.3 | Projects

Major project development

82nd Avenue 
Transit Project

TV Highway Transit and 
Development Project

Regional Mobility 
Pricing Project



11

Section 8.4 | Data and Tools

Measuring and tracking outcomes

Innovative data and tools to 
address existing and emerging 
planning and policy priorities:

• Data collection and 
coordination

• Analysis tools (maintenance 
and development)

• Monitoring and reporting 
tools



12

Process for updating Chapter 8

• Resolution 23-5343 directs staff to revise Chapter 8 in 
response to public comments and policy discussion

• Placeholder for corridor refinement narratives – to be 
updated based on systems analysis of RTP projects using 
updated mobility policy

• TPAC discussion this summer will identify policy issues for 
discussion with JPACT/MPAC/Council (in addition to pricing)

• Public comments submitted to Metro from agencies / 
jurisdictions, the public and community-based organizations

• MPAC, JPACT and Council discussions in September
12



13

Timeline for updating Chapter 8

July 7 TPAC Discussion

July 10 to Aug. 25 Public comment period, including public hearing

July 19 MTAC Discussion

August 4 TPAC Discussion (if needed)

September 1 TPAC Discussion (if needed)

September 12 (tentative) Metro Council Discussion

September 13 TPAC Workshop Discussion of Metro staff 
recommended actions in response to public 
comments requesting changes to Chapter 8; 
identify topics for JPACT discussion

September 21 JPACT Discussion

September 27 MPAC Discussion 13



14

Questions about RTP process 
or Chapter 8?

Feedback regarding future 
implementation?

Feedback on topics for further 
TPAC discussion in August and 
September (in addition to 
pricing-related 
implementation)?

14

Discussion



Learn more about the Regional
Transportation Plan at:

oregonmetro.gov/rtp

Kim Ellis, AICP
RTP Project Manager
kim.ellis@oregonmetro.gov

kim.ellis@oregonmetro.gov


1. Tigard to Wilsonville, including I-5 south (Mobility 
Corridor 3)

2. Portland Central City Loop, including I-405 loop (Mobility 
Corridor 4)

3. Clark County to I-5 via Gateway, Oregon City and Tualatin, 
including I-205 (Mobility Corridors 7, 8, and 10)

4. Beaverton to Forest Grove, including Tualatin Valley 
Highway (Mobility Corridors 14 and 15)

5. Hillsboro to Portland, including US 26 (Mobility Corridors 
13 and 14) 

6. Portland Central City to Lents and Gresham, including US 
26/Powell Boulevard (Mobility Corridors 19 and 20) 

Section 8.2 | Planning and Programs

Future refinement planning
subject to change pending regional mobility policy system analysis

16


	TPAC agenda July 7, 2023 with notice.pdf
	TPAC Work Program 2023 as of June 30, 2023
	TPAC July FFY 2023 Submitted Amendments - Covering June 2023
	RTP-Public comment factsheet_07292023
	1. 2024-2027 MTIP - Adoption Draft Cover Memo - TPAC - 6.29.23
	2. 2024-2027 MTIP Resolution 23-5335 - 6.28.23
	3. Exhibit A_Res23_ 5335 MTIP Adoption Draft 2024-2027
	4. Exhibit B_Res23_2335_ MTIP adoption draft appendices cover page 62923
	5. 24-27 MTIP Adoption Draft - Staff Report - 6.29.23
	27-30 MTIP Development - ODOT STIP Revenue Discussion - 6.30.23
	27-30 STIP 7July2023
	TPACmemo onRTPAdoption070723
	TPAC memo on RTP Chapter 8
	Draft RTP Chapter 8
	Materials following this page were distributed at the meeting
	Monthly fatal traffic crash report - slide
	Presentation: 2024-2027 MTIP - Overview of Adoption Draft
	Presentation: 2027-2030 STIP Development UPDATED
	Presentation: 2023 RTP, Process Update & Chapter 8



